
MEETING: PLANNING COMMITTEE

DATE: 29th March 2017

TIME: 6.30 pm

VENUE: Town Hall, Bootle

Member

Councillor

Substitute

Councillor
Cllr Daren Veidman (Chair)
Cllr Michael O'Brien (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Nigel Ashton
Cllr Denise Dutton
Cllr Richard Hands
Cllr John Kelly
Cllr Daniel Terence Lewis
Cllr Brenda O'Brien
Cllr Pat O'Hanlon
Cllr Haydn Preece
Cllr Diane Roscoe
Cllr Paula Spencer
Cllr Carla Thomas
Cllr Paul Tweed
Cllr Marianne Welsh

Cllr June Burns
Cllr Leslie Byrom C.B.E.
Cllr John Dodd
Cllr Simon Jamieson
Cllr Sue McGuire
Cllr Kevin Cluskey
Cllr John Sayers
Cllr Dave Robinson
Cllr Maria Bennett
Cllr Lynne Thompson
Cllr Steve McGinnity
Cllr Anne Thompson
Cllr Gordon Friel
Cllr Catie Page
Cllr Mike  Booth

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Ruth Appleby  
Telephone: 0151 934 2181 
Fax: 0151 934 2034
E-mail: ruth.appleby@sefton.gov.uk

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A

1.  Apologies for Absence

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested to give notice of any disclosable 
pecuniary interest, which is not already included in their 
Register of Members' Interests and the nature of that interest, 
relating to any item on the agenda in accordance with the 
Members Code of Conduct, before leaving the meeting room 
during the discussion on that particular item.
 

3.  Minutes of the meeting held on 8 March, 2017 (Pages 5 - 10)

4.  Applications for Planning Permission - Petitions (Pages 11 - 
14)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
 
A Application No. DC/2017/00125 - 3 Merrilocks Green, 

Blundellsands, L23 6XR  
(Pages 15 - 24)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

B Application No. DC/2016/02247 - 51 Brownmoor 
Lane, Crosby, L23 OTD  

(Pages 25 - 36)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

C Application No. DC/2016/02292 - 486 Hawthorne 
Road, Bootle, L20 9PR  

(Pages 37 - 46)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

D Application No. DC/2016/02344 - Elm Farm, Rothwells 
Lane, Thornton, L23 1TN  

(Pages 47 - 74)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

5.  Applications for Planning Permission - Approvals (Pages 75 - 
78)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
 
A Application No. DC/2016/02382 - Lockup Garages 

Opposite 259 and 261 Oriel Drive, Aintree  
(Pages 79 - 92)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

B Application No. DC/2016/02152 - Land Adjacent to 5 
Chapelhouse Walk, Formby, L37 8BD  

(Pages 93 - 
108)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

C Application No. DC/2016/01922 - Brooklands Farm, 
Brewery Lane, Melling, L31 1EZ  

(Pages 109 - 
132)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer



D Application No. DC/2016/01935 - Land Adjacent to 5 
and Opposite 10-34 George Drive and 19-22 Elizabeth 
Avenue, Birkdale  

(Pages 133 - 
150)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

6.  Applications for Planning Permission - Refusals (Pages 151 - 
154)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
 
A Application No. DC/2016/02463 - 16 Endbutt Lane, 

Crosby, L23 0TR  
(Pages 155 - 

162)
Report of the Chief Planning Officer

7.  Sites Visited by the Visiting Panel (Pages 163 - 
164)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer 
 

8.  Town and Country Planning Act 1990 - Appeals (Pages 165 - 
174)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
 



This page is intentionally left blank



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN”

60

PLANNING COMMITTEE

MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, SOUTHPORT
ON 8 MARCH 2017

PRESENT: Councillor Veidman (in the Chair)
Councillor Michael O'Brien (Vice-Chair)

Councillors Ashton, Dutton, Hands, John Kelly, 
Dan T. Lewis, Brenda O'Brien, O'Hanlon, Preece, 
Roscoe, Spencer, Thomas, Page and Booth

ALSO PRESENT: Councillors D. Barton and Sayers

116. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Tweed and Welsh.

117. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interest were received.

118. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 8 FEBRUARY 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 8 February 2017 be confirmed as 
a correct record.

119. APPLICATION NO. DC/2016/02438 - MARBLE PLACE, 
SOUTHPORT 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer that 
recommended that the above application for the erection of a 96 
bedroomed hotel and replacement retail unit on the ground floor after 
partial demolition and remodelling of the existing shopping centre be 
granted subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to 
in the report.

Prior to consideration of the application, the Committee received a petition 
from Councillor D. Barton on behalf of objectors against the proposed 
development and a response by the applicant’s agent, Mr Staddon.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 8TH MARCH, 2017

61

RESOLVED: 

That the recommendation be approved and the application be granted 
subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to in the 
report.

120. APPLICATION NO. DC/2016/02344 - ELM FARM, ROTHWELLS 
LANE, THORNTON 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer that 
recommended that the above application for the erection of eight dwellings 
on land to be severed from Elm Farm, Rothwells Lane and creation of new 
access from Holgate be granted subject to the conditions and for the 
reasons stated or referred to in the report and subject to referral to the 
National Planning Casework Unit.

It was indicated in the report that, as the Local Plan had not yet been 
adopted and the site was designated as Green Belt in the adopted Unitary 
Development Plan, it would be necessary to refer the planning application 
to the National Planning Casework Unit before planning permission could 
be granted. This afforded a statutory period of 21 days for the Secretary of 
State to decide whether or not to "call in" the application for determination 
at a Public Inquiry. 

Prior to consideration of the application, the Committee received a petition 
from Mr. Cooke on behalf of objectors against the proposed development 
and a response by the applicant’s agent, Miss. Dickson.

The Objectors referred to an independent traffic survey which they had 
commissioned and submitted in respect of the development. Members 
indicated that they had not had sight of this survey, felt that it was 
important that this should be considered and the views of the Council’s 
Highways officers on the survey be provided in detail to them.

RESOLVED: 

That consideration of the item be deferred to enable further reporting of 
the consideration of the independent traffic survey as now reported.

121. APPLICATION NO. DC/2016/01043 - PARKHAVEN TRUST 
(DWELLINGS) LIVERPOOL ROAD SOUTH, MAGHULL 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer that 
recommended that the above application for the construction of a 
residential development comprising 57 dwellings, new highway access 
from Green Lane and relocation of existing growing plots be granted 
subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to in the 
report and subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement.

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 8TH MARCH, 2017

62

Amendments to conditions were set out in the late representations 
document and a further document was circulated at the meeting setting 
out additional information and a further amendment to Clause (b) on page 
65 of the original report as follows:-

(b) The construction of a new nursing home or subject to agreement 
with the Council the construction of alternative new development by 
way of newbuild or conversion or combination thereof, to deliver 
additional specialist provision for the elderly to the value of at least 
£945,000 on land or property controlled by the Parkhaven Trust at 
Maghull.

It was recommended that this reflected the Council’s requirement to draw 
the terms of the Section 106 Agreement tightly given this represented an 
exceptional approach where half of the required 30% affordable housing 
would instead be made available off-site in the form of specialist provision 
for the elderly. This followed legal advice which had been received.

Prior to consideration of the application, the Committee received a petition 
from Mr. Ashburner on behalf of objectors against the proposed 
development and a response by the applicant’s agent, Mr. Sedgwick.

Councillor Sayers, as Ward Councillor, also spoke in objection to the 
proposed development.

The Head of Locality Services Commissioned indicated that in Condition 
No. 18 on page 73 of the report submitted, the visibility splay should refer 
to a height of 1 metre, not 0.6 meters.

RESOLVED: 

That the recommendation be approved and the application be granted 
subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to in the 
report and in Late Representations,  and subject to the completion of a 
Section 106 Agreement.

122. APPLICATION NO. DC/2016/01570 - PARKHAVEN TRUST 
(NURSING HOME), LIVERPOOL ROAD SOUTH, MAGHULL 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer that 
recommended that the above application for outline planning permission 
for the erection of a 45 bedroom nursing home after demolition of existing 
building be granted subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or 
referred to in the report.

RESOLVED: 

That the recommendation be approved and the application be granted 
subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to in the 
report and Late Representations.

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 8TH MARCH, 2017

63

123. APPLICATION NO. DC/2016/02034 - 45 ORMSKIRK ROAD, 
AINTREE 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer that 
recommended that the above application for outline planning permission 
with details of access and layout for the erection of A1 (Retail) or A2 
(Financial & Professional Services) or A3 (Restaurant & Cafes) units with 
associated parking following the demolition of existing buildings be granted 
subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to in the 
report.

RESOLVED: 

That the recommendation be approved and the application be granted 
subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to in the 
report.

124. APPLICATION NO. DC/2016/02394 - 101 LIVERPOOL ROAD, 
LYDIATE 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer that 
recommended that the above application for outline Planning permission 
with some matters reserved (appearance, landscaping and scale) for the 
demolition of an existing dormer bungalow and the erection of 12 no. flats 
with associated car parking be granted (subject to the conditions and) for 
the reasons stated or referred to in the report.

Arising from the discussion Members requested that the existing Boundary 
wall on Liverpool Road be retained. The Chief Planning Officer indicated 
that it would be possible to include this within an amendment to condition 
No.3.

RESOLVED: 

That the recommendation be approved and the application be granted 
subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to in the 
report and subject to an amendment to condition No.3 requiring the 
retention of the existing boundary wall on Liverpool Road.

125. APPLICATION NO. DC/2016/02306 - GLENN BUILDINGS AND 10 
MOOR LANE, CROSBY 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer that 
recommended that the above application for the refurbishment of the 
Glenn Buildings (south) including insertion of new shop fronts and 
alterations to the rear, with A1-A5 uses permitted at ground floor and D1, 
D2 or B1a uses permitted at first floor; demolition of DIY store at 10 Moor 
Lane and replacement with new A1-A5 retail units and all associated 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 8TH MARCH, 2017

64

works be granted subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or 
referred to in the report.

RESOLVED: 

That the recommendation be approved and the application be granted 
subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to in the 
report.

126. APPLICATION NO. DC/2016/02152 - LAND ADJACENT TO 5 
CHAPELHOUSE WALK, FORMBY 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer that 
recommended that the above application for the retention of a two storey 
dwellinghouse with accommodation in the roof space be granted subject to 
the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to in the report.

It was indicated in Late Representations that a number of emails and 
letters had been received from residents which questioned the accuracy 
and relevance of the officer report, and it was suggested that the 
application be deferred in order to check the accuracy of the information 
provided responds to all material planning considerations raised.

RESOLVED: 

That consideration of the item be deferred to the next meeting of the 
Committee to enable the Chief Planning Officer to check the accuracy of 
the officer report.

127. SITES VISITED BY THE VISITING PANEL 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer which 
advised that the undermentioned sites had been inspected by the Visiting 
Panel on 6 March 2017.

Application No. Site

DC/2016/02306 Glenn Buildings And 10 Moor Lane Crosby
DC/2016/02344 Elm Farm Rothwells Lane, Thornton
DC/2016/02152 Land Adjacent 5 Chapelhouse Walk, Formby
DC/2016/02438 Marble Place, Southport
DC/2016/02394 101 Liverpool Road, Lydiate
DC/2016/01570 Parkhaven Trust (Nursing Home) Liverpool 

Road South, Maghull
DC/2016/01043 Parkhaven Trust (Dwellings) Liverpool Road 

South, Maghull
DC/2016/02034 45 Ormskirk Road, Aintree

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 8TH MARCH, 2017

65

RESOLVED:

That the report on the sites inspected by the Visiting Panel be noted.

128. TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 - APPEALS 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer on the 
results of the undermentioned appeals and progress on appeals lodged 
with the Planning Inspectorate.

Appellant Proposal/Breach of Planning Control Decision

Mr Amar Modhvadia Application No. DC/2016/00200 - 
Balliol Lodge Nursing Home 58 - 60 
Balliol Road Bootle - appeal against 
the Council’s refusal to grant 
planning permission for the change 
of use from a nursing home to house 
in multiple occupation (HMO)

Allowed
03/02/2017

Mr Amar Modhvadia Application No. DC/2016/01310 - 
Balliol Lodge Nursing Home 58 - 60 
Balliol Road Bootle - appeal against 
the Council’s refusal to grant 
planning permission for the change 
of use from a nursing home to house 
in multiple occupation (HMO). 
(Alternative to DC/2016/00200 
refused
09.06.2016)

Dismissed
03/02/2017

RESOLVED:   

That the report be noted.

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



APPENDIX 4 

Committee: PLANNING

Date of Meeting: 29th March 2017

Title of Report: Petitioned Applications

Report of: Stuart Barnes
Chief Planning Officer

Contact Officer: Steve Matthews   Tel: 0345 140 0845 (Option 4)

This report contains Yes No

Confidential information 

Exempt information by virtue of paragraph(s) ……… of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972



Is the decision on this report DELEGATED? 

Purpose of Report

The items listed in are petitioned applications.

Recommendation

That the applications for planning permission, approval or consent set out in the 
following appendices are either APPROVED subject to any conditions specified in 
the list for the reasons stated therein or REFUSED for the reasons stated.

Corporate Objective Monitoring

ImpactCorporate Objective
Positive Neutral Negative

1 Regenerating the Borough through Partnership 
2 Raising the standard of Education & Lifelong Learning 
3 Promoting Safer and More Secure Communities 
4 Creating a Healthier, Cleaner & Greener Environment 

through policies for Sustainable Development 
5 Strengthening Local Democracy through Community 

Participation 
6 Promoting Social Inclusion, Equality of Access and 

Opportunity 
7 Improving the Quality of Council Services 
8 Children and Young People 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



APPENDIX 4 

Financial Implications

None

Departments consulted in the preparation of this Report       

See individual items

List of Background Papers relied upon in the preparation of 
this report

The Background Papers for each item are neighbour representations and history 
referred to.  Any additional background papers will be listed in the item. Background 
Papers and Standard Conditions referred to in the items in this Appendix are 
available for public inspection at the Planning Office, Magdalen House, Trinity Road, 
Bootle, up until midday of the Committee Meeting.

A copy of the standard conditions will be available for inspection at the Committee 
Meeting.

The Sefton Unitary Development Plan (adopted June 2006), the Supplementary 
Planning Guidance Notes and Documents, and the emerging Sefton Local Plan are 
material documents for the purpose of considering applications set out in this list

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



APPENDIX 4 

Petitions Index

A DC/2017/00125 3 Merrilocks Green
Blundellsands L23 6XR

Blundellsands 
Ward

B DC/2016/02247 51 Brownmoor Lane
Crosby L23 0TD Victoria Ward

C DC/2016/02292 486 Hawthorne Road
Bootle L20 9PR Derby Ward

D DC/2016/02344
Elm Farm

Rothwells Lane
Thornton L23 1TN

Manor Ward

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 29th March 2017

Subject: DC/2017/00125
3 Merrilocks Green Blundellsands L23 6XR
 

Proposal: Erection of a single storey extension to the rear, a first floor extension to 
the side and a new porch to the front after the demolition of existing porch 
and the conversion of the existing garage into a habitable space.

Applicant: Mr & Mrs Donovan Agent: Mr Darren Brittles
Morph Architecture

Ward: Blundellsands Ward

Summary
           
This application is for the erection of a single-storey extension to the rear, a first floor extension 
to the side and a new porch to the front.

The key issues relate to the impact of the proposal on the character and appearance of 
Conservation Area and on the street scene, the effect on the living conditions of the occupiers 
of the surrounding premises, and the reduction in parking within the site.

The report concludes that there would be no unacceptable harm in any of these areas and it is 
recommended that planning permission is granted subject to conditions.

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions 

Case Officer Mr Phil Negus

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Telephone 0345 140 0845 (option 4)

Application documents and plans are available at:
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=OK8EQ7NWFW300

Page 15

Agenda Item 4a

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


Site Location Plan

Page 16

Agenda Item 4a



The Site

A modern detached dwellinghouse within a cut de sac, Merrilocks Green, and lying within the 
Blundellsands Park Conservation Area. 

History

None

Consultations
The Conservation Officer has no objections in principle to the proposals as it is not considered 
to have a harmful impact on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.

The Highways Manager has no objections to the proposal as there are no highway safety 
implications.

Network Rail have commented regarding the railway line to the rear of the site and have 
requested that the applicant/developer liaise directly with them regarding their construction and 
this request will be added as an informative should Committee be minded to approve the 
application.

Neighbour Representations
Petition

A petition to speak against the proposal consisting of 29 names has been received and this 
has been endorsed by Councillor Dams.

The main concerns are:

The effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area, the 
effect on the living conditions of the occupiers of the surrounding premises and the effect on 
highway safety.

Conservation Area
Merrilocks Green is within the Blundellsands Park Conservation Area and the proposed 
development will impact on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area by closing 
the open space between properties.

Car-parking
The head of the cul-de-sac is already overpopulated with cars from the recent expansion of
No2 Merrilocks Green with vehicles parking on the pavement thus limiting pedestrian access - 
a potential danger, particularly for elderly residents. Ambulances, health visitors and district 
nurses find it difficult to gain access due to car parking difficulties.

Page 17

Agenda Item 4a



Living Conditions
There is a concern about loss of light and overshadowing to neighbouring properties.

Lease
Merrilocks Green has been built on leasehold land owned by Lord Blundell whereby the 
residents are duly bound to the covenants laid down by their leases.

Individual objections
Two individual letters of objection have been received from the occupiers of Nos 4 and 5
Merrilocks Green

The occupiers of these two properties have comments to make in relation to parking and 
pedestrian safety, the impact of the proposal on the Conservation Area and on the living 
conditions of neighbouring residents.

Car parking
Loss of parking within the site will increase pressure to park on the cul-de-sac and this will 
create problems for access by health professionals.  

Conservation Area
The first floor extension will fill in the gap between properties and is out of character in this 
area and will lead to a cramped form of development.

Living Conditions
There will be a loss of sunlight and overshadowing to part of the neighbour's garden.

Policy Context
The application site is situated in an area designated as residential on the Council's Adopted 
Unitary Development Plan.

The policies in the emerging Local Plan (June 2016) were subject to discussion at the recent 
Local Plan Examination and where appropriate have been given weight in coming to a 
recommendation on this application.

Those policies to which there was no objection or to which no modifications have been 
proposed may be regarded to carry significant weight. They will be referred to where 
appropriate in the assessment of this proposal.

Page 18

Agenda Item 4a



Assessment of the Proposal
     
The property is a large detached modern dwellinghouse situated in the corner of a cul-de-sac 
within the Blundellsands Park Conservation Area.

The proposal is for the erection of a single storey extension to the rear, a first floor extension to 
the side and a new porch to the front after the demolition of the existing porch and conversion 
of the existing garage into a habitable space.

The single storey extension to the rear will have a projection of 5.6m measuring 7.5m across x 
4.2m high with a dual pitched roof. The extension will be set off the boundary with No 4 
Merrilocks Green by 8.3m and off the boundary with No 68b Merrilocks Road by 8.9m.

The proposed first floor extension will be built directly above the existing garage.  This easures 
6.2m long and with a pitched roof will be 6.8m in height.

The proposed porch to the front will have a projection of 1.5m measuring 3m across at its 
maximum width and will be 3m high with a flat roof.

The issues relate to the impact that the proposal will have on the character and appearance of 
the Conservation Area and on the street scene, having particular regard to its design and 
choice of materials and on the living conditions of the occupiers of the surrounding premises. 
Local residents have expressed concerns regarding parking and the effect of the proposal on 
highway safety and this too is assessed.

Effect on the Conservation Area and design issues:

There is no objection in principle to the proposed development as the property is of a modern 
20th century design. The extension would not have a harmful effect on the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area.

An objection has been received to the first floor extension filling in the gap between properties 
and creating a cramped form of development.

Given the relationship between the properties around the head of the cul-de-sac, the various 
styles of buildings and the existence of a garage at ground floor level, it is considered that the 
first floor extension will not be out of character.

UDP Policy MD1 and the associated Supplementary Planning Document (House Extensions) 
states that the size and design of an extension fit in with the existing building.  The extensions 
proposed comply with both of these documents.

Living Conditions:

Numbers 4 and 5 Merrilocks Green have raised concerns regarding overshadowing. It is 
accepted that there will be a loss of sunlight to part of the garden of to No4 in the late 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4a



afternoon in the summer. However, as the application site lies to the north of no4 this will be for 
a limited part of the day to a small part of the garden.

It is considered that the extensions will not be overbearing in relation to neighbouring habitable 
rooms or have an oppressive effect on any of the adjoining properties. The proposed 
extensions are not out of proportion to the size of the plot and would leave adequate garden 
space once development is completed.

The proposed rear extension faces the railway line and will not affect neighbouring properties.

Car-Parking and Highway Safety
The proposal will lead to the loss of the existing garage and concerns have been raised that 
this, together with the extra living accommodation, will increase pressure to park on the 
highway. The narrow frontage to the application site at the angle to the cul-de-sac means there 
is no room for on street parking immediately outside the property.  

However, there will still be enough room within the site for off road parking and manoeuvring 
space for two vehicles, and the Highways Manager concludes that the proposals will not have 
a detrimental effect on highway safety.

Other Matters
The issue of the properties being built on leasehold land and the restrictive covenants is not a 
matter for planning consideration.

Conclusion
It is considered that the proposed extensions will not harm the character and appearance of 
the Conservation Area or significantly affect the living conditions of the occupiers of the 
neighbouring properties. The extensions will not lead to problems of highway safety.  

The proposals comply with both local and national policies and it is recommended that 
planning permission be granted subject to conditions.

Recommendation - Approve with Conditions 
Approve with Conditions 

Conditions 

This application has been recommended for approval subject to the following conditions 
and associated reasons:

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason:  To comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

Page 20

Agenda Item 4a



2) The development hereby granted shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
following details and plans :-

Location Plan, Existing and Proposed Site Plans, Existing Floor Plans, Existing 
Elevations, Proposed Floor Plans, Proposed Elevations and Proposed Elevations 
Drawings 14-465-001, 002A, 003, 004, 005c, 006a and 007a received on 23rd 
January, 2017.

   
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory development, to comply with UDP Policy MD1 and 
the associated SPD.

3) The external finishes of the development hereby permitted shall match those of the 
existing building in material, colour, style, bonding and texture. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in the interests of 
visual amenity and to comply with policy DQ1/MD1 of the Sefton Unitary 
Development Plan.

 

Informatives

1) Network Rail
The applicant/developer is to submit directly to Network Rail, a Risk Assessment and 
Method Statement (RAMS) for all works within 10m of the railway.

Review and agreement of the RAMS will be undertaken between Network rail and the 
applicant/developer. The applicant/developer should submit the RAMS directly to:

AssetProtectionLNWNorth@networkrail.co.uk

A Basic Asset Protection Agreement (BAPA) will need to be agreed between the 
developer and Network Rail.

The developer should liaise directly with Asset Protection to set up the BAPA at

AssetProtectionLNWNorth@networkrail.co.uk

Page 21

Agenda Item 4a



Page 22

Agenda Item 4a



Page 23

Agenda Item 4a



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting:  29th March 2017

Subject: DC/2016/02247
51 Brownmoor Lane, Crosby L23 0TD

Proposal: Erection of one pair of semi-detached two storey dwellinghouses to the 
rear with associated landscaping and new vehicular access to 
Brownmoor Lane. Alterations to the existing dwellinghouse including 
demolition of garage extension, conservatory and outrigger and erection 
of infill conservatory, side extension and raised decking area

Applicant: Mr David Brislen
W&S Sandbach

Agent: Mr Colin Binns
Craig Foster Architects

Ward: Victoria Ward

Summary
The application is for the erection of a pair of semi-detached two storey 
dwellinghouses on land to be annexed from the rear of 51 Brownmoor Lane with 
associated landscaping and a new vehicular access. Alterations are also proposed to 
the existing dwellinghouse.

The main issues to consider are design, living conditions of future residents, impacts 
on neighbours and matters relating to highways, access and ground conditions. It is 
concluded that the proposal satisfies local and national policy, that there will be no 
significant harm to neighbours and that the proposal is in keeping with the appearance 
and character of the wider area. Subject to conditions the application is recommended 
for approval.

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions

Case Officer Mr Steven Healey

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Telephone 0345 140 0845 (option 4)

Application documents and plans are available at:

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00

Page 25

Agenda Item 4b

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&amp;keyVal=OGQSKQNWMPM00


Site Location Plan

Page 26

Agenda Item 4b



The Site
The application site is a semi-detached dwellinghouse and its curtilage which consists 
of a north-west facing rear garden and large detached garage located at 51 
Brownmoor Lane, Crosby. The property is bound to the east by a public footpath and 
to the north and west by residential properties on Morningside, Cavalier Close and 
Brownmoor Lane itself.

History
The site was subject to a pre-application enquiry for the erection of two dwellings to 
the rear of the existing dwellinghouse and minor alterations to the latter. The 
conclusion was that the proposal is generally acceptable and likely to be 
recommended for approval (reference DC/2016/01866).

Consultations
Building Control
A separate Building Regulation application is required for this proposed scheme.

Contaminated Land
An assessment of the soil chemical data has not identified any significantly elevated 
contaminants of concern for a residential land use and no further works are required in 
respect of land contamination.

The soil chemical testing identified levels of Zinc in Trial Pits 1 2 that exceed the 
phytotoxic threshold for a soil of this type. Consideration should be given to any 
constraint this may have on the proposed landscaping scheme.

Environmental Health
No objection in principle. An informative relating to piling techniques should be attached 
to any approval notice.

Flooding and Drainage
No objection.

Highways Development Design
There are no objections to the proposals as there are no highway safety implications. 
The new access to the development will be 5.0m wide tapering down to 4.5m which 
is acceptable for this type of development, which will require a new vehicle crossing. 
There will be 2 parking spaces per property which is also acceptable. Plan number
16158(5)001(C) shows the new layout with pedestrian visibility splays of 2m x 1m which 
is also acceptable. The existing property will utilise the existing vehicle crossing.

Page 27

Agenda Item 4b



National Grid UK Plc
No comment received.

Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service
No objection.

Tree Officer
No comment received.

United Utilities
No comment received.

Neighbour Representations
Objections received from 4 Desmond Grove, 62 and 66 Morningside, 43, 49 and 64 
Brownmoor Lane on the following grounds:

 Proposed dwellings would be over dominant, harm outlook and reduce sunlight
 The level of privacy experienced by neighbours will be reduced as the 

windows and Juliette balconies will directly overlook adjacent gardens
 The proposed dwellings are not in keeping with the character of the area 

and the recently constructed dormer bungalows to the west
 General overdevelopment of the site
 Development setting precedence for back land development in area
 The proposal provides insufficient parking and will burden the existing 

roads and increase air pollution
 Highway and pedestrian safety would be at risk
 Security of proposed boundary treatments
 Disturbances during construction phase
 Devaluation of properties

A 25 signature petition objecting to the proposal was received by the Council on 
28th February 2017 and endorsed by Councillor Les Byrom on 2nd March 2017.

Policy Context
The application site is situated in an area designated as residential on the Council’s 
Adopted Unitary Development Plan and emerging Local Plan.

The policies in the emerging Local Plan (June 2016) were subject to discussion at the 
recent Local Plan Examination and where appropriate have been given weight in 
coming to a recommendation on this application.

Those policies to which there was no objection or to which no modifications have been 
proposed may be regarded to carry significant weight. They will be referred to where 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4b



appropriate in the assessment of this proposal.

Assessment of the Proposal

The proposal is for the erection of one pair of semi-detached dwellings to the rear of 
51 Brownmoor Lane, associated access and landscaping. The proposal also 
includes retention of alterations to the existing dwellinghouse which are considered 
within the following assessment though they do not in themselves require planning 
permission.

The proposed new dwellings will be largely rectangular in plan with a projecting gable 
to the front elevation. The external measurements are a footprint of 9.9m by 10.6m, 
while they will measure a maximum of 5m from ground level to the eaves and 7.8m to 
the ridge of the pitched roof. There are a number of openings proposed to each 
dwelling including large bi-folding doors to the rear at ground floor level and Juliette 
balconies at first floor level. The only side facing windows are to serve non-habitable 
rooms.

The new build dwellings will be accessed via a driveway which is to replace an existing 
garage extension to be demolished. Parking spaces for four cars is to be made 
available next to a 6m wide permeable surfaced turning area. The application form and 
submitted plans indicate that all foliage and trees are to be retained and existing 
boundary treatments made good. The new dwellings will be separated at the rear by a 
fence of 2m in height, as will the reduced garden of 51 Brownmoor Lane.

Alterations to the existing dwellinghouse include the demolition of an existing outrigger 
and conservatory and erection of a small infill conservatory to the rear, single storey 
side extension and raised decking area.

The main issues to consider are the principle of development, design and impact on 
street scene, impacts of residential amenity, access and highway safety, ground 
conditions amongst other matters.

Principle of Development

The application site is within a Primarily Residential Area subject to adopted UDP 
policy H10 and emerging Local Plan policy HC3 where development of new 
dwellings is considered acceptable in principle.

Design and Impact on Street Scene

While the area surrounding the application site consists predominantly of 1930s semi- 
detached dwellings of relatively uniform style, the dwellinghouse at 51 Brownmoor 
Lane and a number of neighbouring properties were constructed at the turn of the 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4b



20th century. This is obvious from the more ornate features of the buildings.

The proposed semi-detached dwellings are considered to be of a design which 
harmonises with housing from both eras. The external appearance is to mimic that of 
the host site with red brick at ground floor level and white render at first floor level. The 
use of materials is entirely in keeping with the surrounding area as is the general scale, 
size and massing of the development. Although nearby dormer bungalows have been 
referred to by objectors, these are considered to be an anomaly within the wider 
context of the application site.

The proposed dwellings will be partially visible from certain vantage points along 
Brownmoor Lane but they will not appear more dominant against the existing 
dwellinghouse, or out of place given they are set back 37m from the public 
highway.

The public footpath to the east of the application site is adopted highway. The 
existing boundary fence alongside the path is to be retained which will largely 
obscure the proposed development from view. The path is of an enclosed nature as 
it is bound by a number of residential properties; therefore it is not considered 
another dwellinghouse in proximity will result in any harm from a visual point of 
view, or by making the path seem more enclosed.

In addition to this, the arrangement and size of plots varies greatly within the 
surrounding area and there is nothing to suggest that a reduction in the curtilage of 51 
Brownmoor Lane will be to the detriment of the character of the area. Backland 
development has taken place directly to the west when the former Brownmoor 
Nurseries were re-developed to provide a pair of semi-detached properties to the 
frontage and three dormer bungalows to the rear.

The single storey side extension to the original dwellinghouse is partially built. It is of 
minimal visual impact and is partially obscured by the garage to be retained.

Livings Condition of Future Occupiers

Each of the proposed dwellings is to contain three bedrooms, four bathrooms and 
separate living and kitchen/dining rooms at ground floor level. Every habitable room 
window within the proposal is set 21m away from the equivalent windows of 
neighbouring properties. This meets the standards set out in Supplementary Planning 
Document New Housing March 2016. The dimensions and interface distances detailed 
on the submitted plans have been corroborated by the Council’s mapping system.

The submitted plans indicate that useable private garden space for the properties will 
be 60sqm and 65sqm which also meets the standards of Supplementary Planning 
Document ‘New Housing’. This would be increased further should existing hedgerows 
and foliage be pruned back.

Page 30

Agenda Item 4b



It is clear from the Planning Statement and plans themselves that consideration has 
been given to creating a flexible and sustainable development as these homes are 
designed to meet the Lifetime Homes standard, which means the dwellings will be 
accessible to people who may have physical restrictions. This is supported by the 
Council.

Impact on Living Conditions of Neighbouring Residents

Potential neighbour impacts are the principal reason for the majority of objections 
received. The submitted plans indicate that the proposed new build dwellings will meet 
the interface distances set out in SPD ‘New Housing’. This is a minimum of 21m 
between the windows of habitable rooms and 12m between the windows of non-
habitable rooms and blank walls.

It is not considered that there will be any unacceptable impact on the privacy of 
neighbouring residents. The Juliette balconies proposed to the rear will have no greater 
impact on privacy than traditional windows. The minimum standard separation 
distances have been complied with, therefore it is considered there will not be a poor 
or detrimental outlook for neighbouring residents and any overshadowing will be 
limited.

Some additional noise may be created to the rear of the existing dwellinghouse by 
virtue of more comings and goings and vehicular movements, however the principle of 
backland development is considered acceptable in this location and there are multiple 
nearby examples of recent and historic developments where gardens back onto roads 
and parking spaces. Similarly the presence of four vehicles is not likely to significantly 
increase air pollution.

The alterations to the existing dwellinghouse are minimal and have no greater impact 
on neighbours than the existing conservatory or outrigger to be demolished do.

Access and Highway Safety

The proposed new dwellings will be accessed by a dual pedestrian and vehicular 
access to Brownmoor Lane which will utilise an existing crossing. Appropriate visibility 
splays are to be incorporated to ensure safe access in and out of the site and for 
passing pedestrians and vehicles also. Overall the Council’s Highways Manager is 
satisfied that access arrangements are acceptable and there is no compelling evidence 
to suggest otherwise.

Trees and Landscaping

The landscaping scheme indicates that existing boundary treatments are to be ‘made 
good’ or replaced and existing trees and planting are to be retained and enhanced. A 
condition will ensure that this scheme is implemented and maintained for a 5-year 
period. Given the appearance and oppressive nature of the boundary treatment along 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4b



the public footpath, a like for like replacement is not considered appropriate. The 
applicant has been requested to consider a shallow brick wall with infill panels above 
which will provide a more durable boundary to the footpath.

Although policy DQ3 of the adopted UDP requires the provision of new trees for new 
residential developments, there is no such requirement within emerging Local Plan 
policy EQ9 which holds significant weight and takes precedence over the former. 
Despite this any tree lost as a result of development must be replaced on a 1:1 basis. 
The landscape plan and associated condition will ensure this is adhered to.

Ground Conditions

The application site is close to an electricity substation which was raised as a potential 
hazard through the pre application enquiry.  As a result the applicant commissioned 
trial hole ground investigations to determine whether Polychlorinated Biphenyls were 
present in the ground. Subsequently the Council’s Contaminated Land team have 
raised no objection as the investigation confirmed no significant or harmful levels of 
contaminants. National Grid has not provided any underground cable plans or 
confirmed their location in relation to the application site.
Other Matters

A site visit on 24th January 2017 revealed that a former air raid shelter is located within 
the application site. This is to be destroyed to provide the new vehicular access. The 
discovery has been passed on to Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service which 
has not objected to the proposal or sought to confirm the structure’s significance. 
However they have indicated that it will be added to the Historic Environment Record.

Having observed construction of the side extension to the existing dwellinghouse, it is 
considered that the development has commenced and the 3-year commencement 
period set out in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
does not apply given the circumstances.

In regards to noise and disturbance arising throughout the construction process, given 
the scale of development it is not considered reasonable to control this or the hours of 
construction through the planning system. The applicant is advised to follow ‘Best 
Practicable Means’ and any subsequent neighbour concerns should be brought to the 
attention of the Environmental Health Manager. Similarly the value of properties is not a 
material consideration which is taken into account in reaching a planning decision.

Conclusion

The proposal is considered to be of a good design and one which harmonises well with 
the surrounding street scene. No harm will be caused to neighbouring residents, the 
proposed access arrangements are acceptable and issues relating to ground 
conditions have been addressed. Overall the proposal meets national and local 
policies and guidance and is recommended for approval subject to conditions.

Page 32

Agenda Item 4b



Recommendation - Approve with Conditions
Approve with Conditions 

Conditions

This application has been recommended for approval subject to the following 
conditions and associated reasons:

1) The development hereby granted shall be carried out strictly in accordance with 
the following details and plans :- 16158(5)003(A) received by the Council on 
16th November 2016, 16158(5)002(B) received by the council on 12th January 
2017 and 16158(5)001(B), 16158(5)004(A) and 16158(5)002(C) received by the 
Council on 27th February 2017.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development.

2) Before construction of the new dwellings commences:-

a) Samples of the brick, render and roof tiles to be used in the external 
construction of the dwellings shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.

b) The materials approved under (a) above shall then be used in the 
construction of the development.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in the interests 
of visual amenity and to comply with policy DQ1 of the Unitary Development 
Plan and EQ2 of the emerging Local Plan.

3) a) A scheme of works for the proposed vehicular and pedestrian accesses shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority

b) No part of the development shall be brought into use until a means of vehicular 
and pedestrian access to the development has been constructed. These works 
shall be in accordance with the scheme approved under (a) above.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and 
DQ1 of the Unitary Development Plan and SD2 and EQ3 of the emerging Local 
Plan.

4) a) The hard and soft landscaping scheme hereby approved shall be carried out 
prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a 
timetable to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

b) Any trees or plants that within a period of five years after planting, are 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4b



removed, die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, 
seriously damaged or defective shall be replaced with others of a species, size 
and number as originally approved in the first available planting season unless 
the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to comply with policy DQ3 of the 
Unitary Development Plan and policy EQ9 of the emerging Local Plan.

Informatives

1) Property Numbers
The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of 
addresses. Contact the Highways Development Control Team on Tel: 0151 934 
4175 to apply for new property numbers.

2) Highway Works
The applicant is advised that all works to the adopted highway must be carried out 
by a Council approved contractor at the applicant's expense. Please contact the 
Highways Development Control Team on Tel: 0151 934 4175 for further 
information.

2) Piling
If the proposed development is to incorporate piling in the foundation detail, the 
developer is advised to consult with Sefton Council Pollution Control to obtain 
suitable guidance. This will reduce the chance of enforcement action which could 
occur if an unsuitable method of piling is chosen without appropriate consultation 
and which subsequently causes nuisance by way of noise and/or vibration.

Page 34

Agenda Item 4b



Page 35

Agenda Item 4b



Page 36

Agenda Item 4b



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 29th March 2017

Subject: DC/2016/02292
486 Hawthorne Road, Bootle L20 9PR   

Proposal: Use of land and buildings as a construction materials recycling plant

Applicant: Mr Phil Cresswell
Sefton MBC

Agent: Mr Allan Jones
Sefton MBC

Ward: Derby Ward

Summary
Temporary permission was granted in 2007 and in 2012 to use this site and buildings as a 
construction materials recycling plant. These permissions were granted temporarily 
because the site was identified as a Housing Opportunity Site in the Unitary Development 
Plan.

The site is now allocated as an employment site in the emerging Sefton Local Plan so the 
permanent use of the site for this purpose is accepted. Concerns have been raised about 
the impact of the use on the adjoining residents in relation to appearance, noise, dust and 
air quality, but these matters have been addressed satisfactorily.

The proposed use also satisfies the requirements of the Waste Local Plan and it is 
recommended that permission is granted with conditions.

 
Recommendation: Approve with Conditions 

Case Officer Mrs Carol Gallagher

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Telephone 0345 140 0845 (option 4)

Application documents and plans are available at:
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=OH1N84NW05S00

Page 37

Agenda Item 4c

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


Site Location Plan

Page 38

Agenda Item 4c



The Site
The application site comprises a Council owned area of land on the eastern side of 
Hawthorne Road. The site is surrounded by industrial/commercial uses with the nearest 
residential properties 56m to the east at Vaux Place/Vaux Crescent.

History
S/2006/1127:  Change of use to a construction materials recycling plant, including the 
demolition of some existing buildings. Approved 22nd January 2007.

S/2012/0067:   Variation of Conditions 2 (compliance with approved scheme) for changes 
to the site layout and boundary wall height, 3 (aggregate storage height) to increase the 
pre – processed material stack height to 5m, 4 (site operations) to extend Saturday 
operating hours to 08:00 to 13:00, 6 (delivery hours) to extend Saturday deliveries to 08:00 
to 13:00 and 10 (Permitted use period) to extend the permitted use period pursuant to 
Planning Approval S/2006/1127.  Approved 7th June 2012.

Consultations
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service

The proposal complies with Policies WM7, WM11 and WM12 of the Merseyside and 
Halton Joint Waste Local Plan and is acceptable.

Community Fire Protection Department, Highways Development Design, National 
Grid, Flooding and Drainage.

No objections 

Environmental Health & Air Quality

The Environmental Health Manager has reviewed the updated noise assessment dated 9th 
February 2017 and comments as follows.

The noise consultant has undertaken a BS4142 assessment and predicted rating levels at 
the boundary of the nearest residential premises. The results of this predictive exercise 
indicate that the noise from the operation of the site in a worst case scenario situation will 
rate as 7 dB(A) above the background noise level in the area . 

According to this predictive exercise this would indicate that the noise would have an 
adverse impact.

Page 39

Agenda Item 4c



However the noise consultant has undertaken actual noise measurements at the boundary 
of the residential premises which show the source noise from the site to be 51dB(A) and 
the background level to be between 49-50dB(A), showing the difference between the 
source noise from the site and the background noise level to be between 1-2 dB(A). This 
indicates that the actual noise impact much is less than predicted.

Additionally noise monitoring took place in front of the residents 2.5 m solid boundary wall 
and actual noise levels within residents’ gardens and living rooms would be reduced 
further. 

In reviewing the noise report and readings undertaken I would consider that the noise 
impact on nearby residents due to the operation of the process would be low as opposed 
to adverse.

Notwithstanding the above and to ensure that all reasonable measures are being 
implemented because of the additional barrier effect of the boundary wall to reduce noise 
from the operation of the site, the applicant has submitted proposals to upgrade the 
existing wall to the site with a double sided fence infilled with rock wool, which has been 
reviewed and is acceptable.

The upgraded barrier would provide additional sound reduction and ensure that noise from 
the operation of the site is at or around the back ground noise level.

It is recommended that implementation and maintenance of the upgraded wall is secured 
by condition.

Additional comment from Environmental Health Manager
Following a review of all historical complaints made to Environmental Health over the last 5 
years during the sites recent temporary permission I can confirm no complaints have been 
received regarding noise or dust from the site. Should noise complaints or dust complaints 
be received at any point in the future the Council has additional powers under the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999 to 
investigate and take appropriate formal action where complaints are substantiated.

Contaminated Land 

No objections subject to a condition for no intrusive ground works.

Neighbour Representations

A petition of 65 residents supported by Cllr Dave Robinson has been received objecting to 
the proposed use of the land as a construction materials recycling plant. There are no 
reasons on the petition but the organisers of the petition gave advanced notice and the 
grounds for the petition objecting to the use are: health, noise and disruption to the 

Page 40

Agenda Item 4c



neighbourhood, value of houses will go down, children and adults already suffer with 
asthma and breathing problems.

Two individual letters of objection from residents, who also signed the petition, on the 
grounds of noise, dust, it’s like living on an industrial estate, unsightly view from bedroom 
windows, air pollution, property values, already feels vibration in house from existing plant.

Policy Context
The application site is situated in an area designated as a Housing Opportunity Site on the 
Council’s Adopted Unitary Development Plan and as an Employment Area on the 
Emerging Local Plan.

The policies in the Emerging Local Plan (June 2016) were subject to discussion at the 
recent Local Plan Examination and where appropriate have been given weight in coming to 
a recommendation on this application.

Those policies to which there was no objection or to which no modifications have been 
proposed may be regarded to carry significant weight. They will be referred to where 
appropriate in the assessment of this proposal.

The policies in the Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste Local Plan have also been given 
weight in the assessment of this application.

Background 

The application site was a Housing Opportunity Site in the adopted Sefton Unitary 
Development Plan so only temporary consents were approved in 2007 and 2012. 

The day to day operation of the site is that aggregate construction materials, primarily 
generated through highway repair and improvement works in Sefton e.g. kerb stones, 
paving stones bricks, are brought to site and stockpiled. The crushing and screening plant 
is then used to process the materials, to produce a range of recycled aggregates for use 
as construction materials. 

The majority of the aggregate products are re-used within Sefton, mainly in highway works.

Assessment of the Proposal
The application site is an area of industrial land that has been operating as a recycling 
facility for the Council`s Highway Contractors since 2007. This application is to extend the 
planning approval to continue using the site as a recycling centre.

Page 41

Agenda Item 4c



The site has various buildings and open areas being used by a variety of businesses 
including a coach operator, vehicle repairs, haulage storage. There are some empty units 
with the open area to the west of the site used as the recycling centre.  

Planning Approval S/2006/1127 granted a temporary consent until January 2012 with the 
renewal application S/2012/0067 granting another temporary consent until February 2017.

At the time of the 2006 and 2012 applications the site was allocated as a Housing 
Opportunity Site in the Adopted Unitary Development Plan but in the Emerging Local Plan 
the site is allocated as an Employment Area so this application is being assessed as a full 
permanent Planning Approval.

The issues to consider are the principle of development, the impact on the neighbouring 
residential properties in terms of air quality, noise, dust and appearance, and the guidance 
in the Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste Local Plan in relation to recycling.

Principle of Development
 
The application site was located in a housing opportunity site in the adopted Sefton Unitary 
Development Plan and is in an Employment Area in the Emerging Local Plan, temporary 
consents were approved in 2007 and 2012 but it is now considered that the site is located 
in an appropriate Employment Area so the principle of development is established. The 
proposal complies with Sefton UDP Policies CS3, EDT18, EMW1 and Emerging Local 
Plan Policies SD2 and ED3 so the principle of a permanent permission for this use is 
acceptable.

Impact on nearby residential properties in relation to air quality, noise, dust and 
appearance

The nearest residential properties are 56m to the east of the site at Vaux Place and Vaux 
Crescent. A petition signed by 65 residents objects to the use of the site on the grounds of 
health, noise and disruption to the neighbourhood, value of houses will go down, children 
and adults already suffer with asthma and breathing problems.

The Manager of the Air Quality team has made no objections so the continued use of the 
site as a construction recycling centre is acceptable from this point of view and complies 
with Sefton UDP Policies EP1 and EP2 and Emerging Local Plan Policy EQ5. 

Planning Approval S/2012/0067 granted consent for various mounds to be between 2m 
and 5m in height and to screen the mounds additional fencing was added to a brick wall 
which brought the overall height of the wall/fencing to 6m to help screen the stockpiled 
materials. A sprinkler system was introduced to help with dust from the stockpiles.

There have been no complaints over the ten years the site has been operating as a 
recycling centre in relation to noise or dust.  However, due to the number of signatories on 
the petition and concerns from the residents the applicant has provided an updated noise 

Page 42

Agenda Item 4c



report. A revised plan has been submitted to upgrade the wall and fencing to the site.  The 
Environmental Health Manager believes this upgraded barrier would provide additional 
sound reduction and ensure that noise from the operation of the site is at or around the 
background noise level.

This is considered to be acceptable and complies with Sefton UDP Policies CS3 and EP6 
and Emerging Local Plan Policies SD2 and EQ4.

Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste Local Plan

Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service has assessed the application against the 
Policies within the Joint Waste Local Plan and advised that the proposal complies with 
Policies WM7, WM11 and WM12 of the Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste Local Plan.

Conclusions

This site is identified as an employment site in the emerging Local Plan so the principle of 
this recycling plant is acceptable.  The scheme includes reinforced wall and fencing along 
the boundary with residential properties which will both screen the use from these 
properties and reduce the impact of noise to around the background noise level.  

It is not considered that there are outstanding problems relating to either dust or air quality 
as a result of this use.  The continued use of this site and buildings for a construction 
materials recycling plant also satisfies the policies in the Waste Local Plan.

It is therefore recommended that permission be granted subject to conditions. 

Recommendation - Approve with Conditions 
Approve with Conditions 

Conditions 

This application has been recommended for approval subject to the following conditions 
and associated reasons:

 1) Within three months of the date of this permission Plan No HMRI/486/PCC2016/Sec 
01 C shall be implemented on site and maintained in accordance with the details 
shown on the plan.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of adjoining properties and to 
comply with Policy CS3 of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

 2) No crushing operations shall be carried out on the site outside the hours of Monday - 
Friday 10:00 - 16:00, Saturday 08:00 - 13:00 and at no time on a Sunday or Public 
Holiday.

Page 43

Agenda Item 4c



Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of adjoining properties and to 
comply with Policy CS3 of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

 3) No general site operations shall be carried out on the site outside the hours of 
Monday - Friday 08:00 - 18:00 Saturday 08:00 - 13:00 and at no time on Sundays or 
Public Holidays.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of adjoining properties and to 
comply with Policies CS 3 of the Seton Unitary Development Plan.

 4) No deliveries shall be taken or dispatched from the site outside the hours of Monday - 
Friday 08:00 - 18:00 Saturday 08:00 - 13:00 and at no time on Sundays or Public 
Holidays.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of adjoining properties and to 
comply with Policies CS3 of the Seton Unitary Development Plan

 5) Construction materials and aggregate shall not be stacked or deposited over the 
respective heights referred to on Plan No HMR/486/PCC2016/Lay 01 D. and shall not 
be stored or deposited outside those  areas identified at any time.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in the interests of 
visual amenity and to comply with Policy CS3 of the Sefton Unitary Development 
Plan.

 6) No intrusive ground works shall be undertaken at any time unless details of such 
works are submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors in accordance with Policy EP3 of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

 7) The development hereby granted shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
following details and plans:- Site Plan Ref No ISH/K/486/PCC2016/loc 01 A, Dwg No 
HMR/486/PCC2016/lay 01 D, HMRI/486/PCC2016/Sec 01 B, 
HMRI/486/PCC2016/Sec 01C and Environmental Operational Plan, Air Quality and 
Dust Assessment and Revised Environmental Noise Report Ref No 9155E Rev 1.

   
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory development.

Page 44

Agenda Item 4c



Page 45

Agenda Item 4c



Page 46

Agenda Item 4c



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 29th March 2017

Subject: DC/2016/02344
Elm Farm Rothwells Lane, Thornton L23 1TN
 

Proposal: Erection of eight dwellings on land to be severed from Elm Farm, 
Rothwells Lane and creation of new access from Holgate

Applicant: Miss Katie Dickson
Forth Homes

Agent:

Ward: Manor Ward

Summary
           
This is a full application for the erection of 8 dwellings on land accessed from Holgate in 
Thornton.

The main issues to consider include the principle of the development, visual impacts, 
effects on living conditions and on highway safety as well as landscaping, ecological and 
archaeological considerations.

The item was deferred at 8 March 2017 Planning Committee to enable consideration of the 
objectors’ independent traffic survey.

It is concluded that, whilst the development constitutes inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt, there are very special circumstances that outweigh the harm to the Green Belt 
and the view is taken that these are sufficient to recommend granting planning permission 
subject to conditions.

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions subject to referral 
to the National Planning Casework Unit

Case Officer Mrs Diane Humphreys

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Telephone 0345 140 0845 (option 4)

Application documents and plans are available at:
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=OHJSXCNWMWE00

Page 47

Agenda Item 4d

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


Site Location Plan

Page 48

Agenda Item 4d



Deferred Item

This application was deferred at the Planning Committee meeting on 8 March 2017 to 
enable consideration of the traffic survey submitted with local residents’ objections.

1. Issues Raised by Residents’ Group Transport Consultant

The Holgate and Rothwells Lane Residents’ Group appointed a transport consultant 
to examine the highways aspects of the proposed development. This sets out a 
number of issues as follows:

 Visibility at the Green Lane/Holgate Junction
All of the vehicular traffic generated by the development would pass through the 
Green Lane/Holgate/Water Street junction giving rise to a safety concern because 
the level of achievable junction visibility from Holgate along Green Lane appears to 
be below the recommended design standards particularly in the critical leading 
direction to the west. The proposal will therefore result in the intensification of a sub-
standard junction leading to highway safety concerns.

 The Width of Holgate
The effective width of Holgate is insufficient to allow two-way vehicular movement 
by virtue of on-street parking that occurs on the western side of the road.

 The Amenity of Local Residents
The development will have an adverse impact on the residential amenity of 23 
Holgate by additional traffic movements and headlights shining through the ground 
floor habitable room window.

 Lack of Footway Infrastructure Provision
The proposal does not include pedestrian links between the site and the existing 
footway on Holgate.

 Minimum Accessibility Standard Assessment (MASA)
The Transport Statement should include a MASA due to concerns about the 
accessibility of the site by non-car modes.

 Trip Rates
The TRICS-based trip rates used in the Transport Statement do not reflect the likely 
increased traffic generated by the ‘executive’ style properties compared to smaller 
units and the edge of town centre comparison is also inappropriate.

Page 49

Agenda Item 4d



 Refuse Collection/Servicing
The proposed layout does not allow for a refuse vehicle to enter and exit the site in 
forward gear and the Transport Statement indicates that refuse vehicles will stop on 
Holgate and collect waste from a refuse store located near the entrance gate. 
However, the man-carry distance for residents to wheel their waste bins to the 
refuse store appreciably exceeds (up to 50 metres) the 30 metre recommended 
threshold set out in the Manual for Streets.

A refuse vehicle collecting refuse on Holgate from the 8 new dwellings would block 
traffic for an appreciable length of time leading to inconvenience for other road 
users.

The scheme should include a larger turning head so that vehicles larger than a 7.5t 
box van do not have to reverse onto or from Holgate, which is undesirable in 
highway safety terms.

 Visibility at the Proposed Holgate/Site Access Junction
The right hand visibility splay from the proposed site access is incorrect as the 
speed limit is 60 mph not 30 mph at this point. 

If the speed limit changes at the proposed site access then the sign will need to be 
relocated and the speed limit Traffic Regulation Order will need to be amended.

2. Applicant’s Response

The applicant’s transport consultant has provided an addendum technical report in 
relation to highway safety which responds to the objectors’ highway safety 
comments, as follows:

 Holgate
Holgate is a single carriageway road of varying width. This is around 5m at its 
southern end and 4.2m in the vicinity of the site. Holgate is not allocated as a 
bridleway.

Prior to the construction of the Thornton to Switch Island link road traffic could 
travel along Holgate and Back Lane to Lunt Road and the level of traffic travelling 
along Holgate, whilst modest, would likely have been greater than with the 
proposed development.

Holgate is now a cul-de-sac with a turning head created to allow the manoeuvring 
of vehicles including refuse vehicles.

 Visibility at the Green Lane/Holgate Junction
The Green Lane/Holgate/Water Street crossroads is a long established junction 
and accident statistics reveal only one recorded accident for the 10 year period 
2007-2016 and this was slight in nature.

Page 50

Agenda Item 4d



The submitted Transport Statement (TS) provides an indication of likely traffic 
levels generated by the development, namely four two-way trips during weekday 
am peak period and four two-way trips during the weekday pm peak. 

The accident statistics confirm the junction does not have a poor safety record and 
there is no reason to suggest the situation would be worsened due to the low 
levels of increased traffic.

 The Width of Holgate
On-street parking on Holgate is no different to many other streets where drivers 
wait for vehicles to pass before proceeding along the route. However, Holgate is a 
cul-de-sac which accommodates very little traffic and the proposal will result in 
imperceptible increases in traffic.

 The Amenity of Local Residents
Prior to the construction of the Thornton to Switch Island link road Holgate was a 
through route and traffic would likely have been greater than that currently 
experienced including that generated by the proposal.

With regards to the impact on 23 Holgate, information contained within the TS 
indicates that during the busiest hour in the evening/night time period the 
development would only experience two departures and this level of traffic is 
considered imperceptible.

 Lack of Footway Infrastructure Provision
There is an existing footway along the north-western side of Holgate to Green 
Lane and the proposals include the provision of a pedestrian crossing (including 
dropped crossing and tactile paving) from the site access to assist the crossing of 
Holgate.

The existing footway is interrupted by an access road to the south of 17 Holgate 
and into Holgate Park. These access points are very lightly trafficked.

Accident statistics indicate no accidents occurred along Holgate during the last 10 
year period.

The TS indicates that around 3 pedestrian movements would occur in the peak 
hour in association with the proposed development.

Notwithstanding the limited pedestrian demand as a result of the development, it is 
considered that the existing and proposed infrastructure will provide a safe and 
convenient means of access for pedestrians.

Page 51

Agenda Item 4d



 Minimum Accessibility Standard Assessment (MASA)
Sefton’s ‘Ensuring Choice of Travel’ Supplementary Planning Document identifies 
a minimum threshold of 10 dwellings to trigger the need for a MASA. As this 
development is for 8 dwellings there is no requirement for a MASA.

 Trip Rates
We believe that the trip rates used in the TS are appropriate. However a further 
interrogation has been undertaken that excludes the edge of town centre site. The 
peak hour development trips derived are similar to the levels of traffic derived in 
the TS which is not surprising given the modest scale of the development.

 Refuse Collection/Servicing
The distance to the bin store from the furthest properties is considered acceptable 
and the Manual for Streets provides guidelines not standards.

On-street refuse collection is standard practice and currently occurs along Holgate. 
Waste collection for 8 dwellings will take a modes length of time and occur once a 
week. As Holgate is a cul-de-sac serving only one property beyond the 
development site there will be virtually no passing traffic.

 Visibility at the Proposed Holgate/Site Access Junction
The visibility available at the site access is appropriate even in the event vehicles 
approach from the east at 60 mph.

3. Review by Highways Development Design Team

The applicant’s response to the residents’ group’s highway safety submission will be 
reviewed by the Highways Development Design Team and a response given in the 
Late Representations report.

Page 52

Agenda Item 4d



The Site
          
The application site measures 0.37 hectares in area and comprises an open field located 
off Holgate in Thornton.

The land is bordered to the south-west by the bowling green belonging to the Nags Head 
Public House, to the north-east by further open fields and to the south-east (rear) by The 
Elms and 5 Rothwells Lane. Holgate lies to the north-west of the site with two pairs of 
semi-detached dwellings situated on the opposite side of Holgate.
 
History
       
None

Consultations
Local Plans
Unitary Development Plan
The site is within the Green Belt in the Sefton Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 2006. It is 
considered that policy GBC2 has been superseded by the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and the emerging Local Plan.

National Planning Policy Framework
The proposal is inappropriate development when assessed against paragraph 89 
(construction of new buildings in the Green Belt) of the NPPF.

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF clarifies when decision-makers can give weight to an 
emerging local plan.

Local Plans
In accordance with paragraph 216 of the NPPF the relevant policies in the emerging Local 
Plan should be given substantial weight.

The emerging Local Plan places the site within a 'primarily residential area' (PRA). 
Residential development is acceptable in principle under policy HC3 which carries 
substantial weight in accordance with paragraph 216 of the NPPF. This is due to the 
advanced stage of preparation of the Local Plan and the lack of objections to the inclusion 
of this area in the PRA.

Very Special Circumstances
Given that the site is, in principle, suitable for housing development in the emerging Local 
Plan and that substantial weight can be attached to the Local Plan it is considered that 
these factors constitute "very special circumstances" to justify inappropriate development 
in the Green Belt.

Page 53

Agenda Item 4d



Conclusion
There is no policy objection to the proposals.

Natural England
No objection

Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service
The applicant has submitted an ecological survey report which meets BS 42020:2013. 
With the exception of the conclusions regarding the hedgerow the report is acceptable. 

The hedgerow surrounding the site meets the amended criteria and is a Priority habitat. 
Priority Habitat is a material consideration and UDP policy NC3 applies. The development 
will have a direct effect on the habitat as two lengths of the hedgerow are to be removed. 
The applicant has submitted an amended landscape plan which includes 
recommendations to ensure the development includes mitigation for the loss of the 
hedgerow. 

It is considered that the amended landscape plan provides sufficient mitigation to ensure 
that the loss of the proposed sections of hedgerow will not cause a net loss of biodiversity 
on the site.

As identified in the report, Hedgehog likely uses the hedgerow for foraging. Hedgehog is a 
Priority species and UDP policy NC2 applies. Section 6 recommends a number of 
Reasonable Avoidance Measures (RAMs) to ensure the local Hedgehog population will not 
be harmed by the proposals. The RAMs are proportionate and acceptable.

The report states that the tree to be removed to facilitate development (T2) did not contain 
any features that could provide habitat for roosting bats. The Council does not need to 
consider the proposals against the three tests (Habitats Regulations) or consult Natural 
England. 

The site is likely used by foraging bats which are protected and UDP policy NC2 applies. 
Section 6.1 of the report recommends RAMs to ensure foraging bats are not harmed by 
the proposals. The RAMs are acceptable. 

The applicant, their advisers and contractors should be made aware that if any European 
protected species are found, then as a legal requirement, work must cease and advice 
must be sought from a licensed specialist.

The application site is close to land known to provide foraging habitat for qualifying 
features of designated European sites and UDP policy NC1 applies.

I have reviewed the proposal submitted by the applicant and considered the possibility of 
likely significant effects under the Habitats Regulations using the source-pathway-receptor 
model. I advise there is no pathway that could give rise to likely significant effects on the 
European sites and the proposals do not warrant a detailed Habitats Regulations 
Assessment report.

Page 54

Agenda Item 4d



As the proposed development falls within the qualifying category 'All planning applications 
outside or extending outside existing settlements/urban areas affecting greenspace, 
farmland, semi-natural habitats or landscape features such as trees, hedges streams, rural 
buildings/structures' Natural England must be consulted on the planning application prior to 
determination. 

Built features or vegetation on site may provide nesting opportunities for breeding birds, 
which are protected and UDP policy NC2 applies. No tree felling, scrub clearance, 
hedgerow removal, vegetation management, ground clearance or building work is to take 
place during the period 1 March to 31 August inclusive. If it is necessary to undertake 
works during the bird breeding season then all buildings, trees, scrub and hedgerows are 
to be checked first by an appropriately experienced ecologist to ensure no breeding birds 
are present. If present, details of how they will be protected would be required. 

Waste Local Plan
The proposal involves excavation and construction activities and policy WM8 of the Joint 
Merseyside and Halton Waste Local Plan (WLP) applies. This policy requires the 
minimisation of waste production and implementation of measures to achieve efficient use 
of resources, including designing out waste. In accordance with policy WM8, evidence 
through a waste audit or a similar mechanism (e.g. site waste management plan) 
demonstrating how this will be achieved must be submitted.  

Sufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate compliance with policy WM9 of 
the Waste Local Plan.

Archaeology
The proposed site lies in an area considered to have the potential to contain 
archaeological deposits associated with settlement of the medieval period. 

An archaeological evaluation of the site has been undertaken in order to determine the full 
nature, extent and significance of any surviving archaeological remains.

It encountered evidence for relict field boundaries in 5 out of the 6 trenches excavated. 
None of them contained any dating evidence, but two are thought to be those depicted on 
the 1845 Tithe. The height of the water table across the site proved to be a constraint on 
the level of excavation possible but, in my opinion, this did not hinder a reasonable 
interpretation of the features encountered. It would therefore appear that the proposed 
development site has never seen intensive settlement, but rather that it lay beyond the limit 
of the village of Thornton, and has probably always been agricultural land.

The works undertaken have adequately demonstrated that the site has no archaeological 
interest, and no further archaeological works are required as part of the current planning 
application.

Page 55

Agenda Item 4d



Lancashire Wildlife Trust
The site lies within the designated North Merseyside and West Lancashire Red Squirrel 
Stronghold. The planting of coniferous or small seeded broad-leaf species should be 
considered as these favour the native red squirrel.

Tree Officer
The site is an open grassed field bounded to the Holgate frontage by a hedgerow and 
limited number of trees. To the west and south are trees which border the site but are on 
adjacent land. The trees are not protected under the provisions of a Preservation Order 
and do not lie in a Conservation Area.

No objections to the proposal which seeks to retain existing trees and hedgerows where 
possible. Concerns raised in respect of potential damage to trees and hedgerow by the 
proposed footpath and overshadowing by trees particularly to plots 02 and 08.

Highways Development Design
There are no objections to the proposal in principle as there are no highway safety 
implications.

Gated access road is acceptable given the number of houses proposed.

Achieving the required visibility splay will necessitate the cutting back of existing 
hedgerows and trees.
 
A Transport Statement has been submitted to support the application and it is accepted 
that the traffic generation as a result of this proposed development will not have any 
material impact on the local highway network.

Pedestrian access to the development will be achieved by introducing a 2m wide footway 
on the south west side of the new access going into the site via the gated pedestrian 
access. The other end of this footway leaving the site will continue into the east side of 
Holgate in a south westerly direction for a short distance and then a pedestrian crossing 
facility will be provided at an appropriate location to link with the footway on the west side 
of Holgate. 

It is proposed that each dwelling will have two car parking spaces and garage parking 
which is acceptable given the location of the site. 

There is a turning facility at the eastern end of the proposed new access road to enable 
delivery and servicing vehicles to manoeuvre. The applicant has provided tracking 
drawings to show that delivery and servicing vehicles can safely manoeuvre within the site 
using this facility.

Conditions and informatives should be added to any approval notice (see recommendation 
below).

Page 56

Agenda Item 4d



Environmental Health
No objection in principle.

I accept the findings of the Noise Assessment dated November 2016 in relation to night-
time noise levels. The early evening noise levels raise potential concerns in relation to 
daytime noise levels from traffic, which would be expected to be higher than the early 
evening levels. It is possible the external amenity areas will require screening from traffic 
noise to achieve the desirable levels suggested in BS 8233:2014.
 
The external amenity spaces can be protected from road traffic noise with a suitable 
acoustic barrier (typically a minimum of 2 metres in height). The aim would be to reduce 
the noise levels to below 50 dB LAeq,T, but failing that, at least to levels below 55 dB 
LAeq,T, which are as close to 50 dB LAeq,T as possible. (This could be by Planning 
Condition, unless the applicant would prefer to attempt to demonstrate that current levels 
are already below 50 dB LAeq,T during the daytime).

Contaminated Land Team
Recommend standard contaminated land conditions and informative are included on any 
planning approval.

Flooding and Drainage
Recommend a condition to secure a sustainable drainage system.

United Utilities
No objections subject to conditions regarding foul and surface water.

Fire and Rescue Service
No objections.

Neighbour Representations
A petition to speak at 29 March Planning Committee has been received and is endorsed by 
Councillor McGinnity. This objects to the proposal on the following grounds

 Area should retain its semi-rural heritage
 Vehicular access to Holgate will increase dramatically
 Significant impact on wildlife
 Increased traffic movement
 Pedestrian safety
 Reduced vehicular access

Further written objections have been received from residents in Holgate, Rothwells Lane, 
Lydiate Lane, Edgemoor Drive, Lunt Road and Deerbarn Drive, on behalf of the Holgate 
and Rothwells Lane Residents Group and from Thornton Parish Council. The grounds of 
objection are summarised below:

Page 57

Agenda Item 4d



Character of the Area
 loss of heritage 
 executive style houses in a gated community is out of character with the area
 out of character with semi-rural setting
 proposal is contrary to Green Belt policy and exceptional circumstances do not 

appear to exist

Highway Safety
 Holgate unsuitable for extra traffic including construction traffic, emergency vehicles 

and refuse vehicles
 loss of on-street parking opposite new access
 no need for additional footway
 footway provision inadequate
 Transport Statement inadequate
 inadequate width of Holgate
 junction visibility at Green Lane is below recommended design standards

Environment
 impact on wildlife
 loss of grade l agricultural land
 field is used for grazing
 land is not 'vacant' or 'wasted' but has been grazed and cultivated for hay until last 

year
 impact on trees
 area already damaged by Brooms Cross Road

Amenity
 loss of views
 increased noise and pollution
 damaging to health
 Holgate well used by walkers, cyclists, dog walkers and horse riders
 headlights shining into houses opposite
 damage to close knit community

Infrastructure
 lack of infrastructure
 inadequate drainage

Other Issues
 planning permission refused in 1999
 believe there are further plans to develop Elm Farm
 precedence

Page 58

Agenda Item 4d



Policy Context
The application site is situated in an area designated as Green Belt on the Council’s 
Adopted Unitary Development Plan.

The policies in the emerging Local Plan (June 2016) were subject to discussion at the 
recent Local Plan Examination and where appropriate have been given weight in coming to 
a recommendation on this application.

Those policies to which there was no objection or to which no modifications have been 
proposed may be regarded to carry significant weight. They will be referred to where 
appropriate in the assessment of this proposal.

Assessment of the Proposal
     
The main issues to consider include the principle of the development, visual impacts, 
effects on living conditions and on highway safety as well as landscaping, ecological and 
archaeological considerations.

Principle
The site lies within Green Belt in the adopted Sefton Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 
2006. 

UDP policy GBC2 is considered out-of-date and has been superseded by the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). When assessed against NPPF paragraph 89 (the 
construction of new buildings in the Green Belt) this proposal is "inappropriate 
development".

However, in accordance with paragraph 216 of the NPPF, the relevant policies in the 
emerging Local Plan should be given substantial weight.

The site lies within a 'primarily residential area' (PRA) in the emerging Local Plan 2016 and 
residential development is acceptable in principle within such areas under policy HC3 
which carries substantial weight. This is due to the advanced stage of preparation of the 
Local Plan and the lack of objections to the inclusion of this area in the PRA.

Paragraph 87 of the NPPF states that "inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful 
to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances." Given 
that the site is suitable, in principle, for housing development in the emerging Local Plan 
and that substantial weight can be attached to its policies, it is considered that these 
factors constitute "very special circumstances" to justify inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt.

Page 59

Agenda Item 4d



In addition to the above, it is acknowledged that Sefton cannot demonstrate a five year 
housing supply. The most recently assessed figure is a 3.1 year supply as set out in the 
Council’s “5 Year Supply Statement 2015 Update” (December 2015). This is a relevant 
factor which should also be taken into consideration in assessing this proposal.

As the Local Plan is not yet adopted and the site is designated as Green Belt in the 
adopted Unitary Development Plan, it would be necessary to refer the planning application 
to the National Planning Casework Unit before planning permission could be granted. This 
affords a statutory period of 21 days for the Secretary of State to decide whether or not to 
"call in" the application for determination at a Public Inquiry. 

Visual Impact
Holgate and Rothwells Lane contain a mixture of single storey and two storey detached 
and semi-detached properties of a variety of age and style. It is not considered that the 
proposed detached two storey dwellings will be out of character with the surrounding area 
and a refusal could not be justified on this basis. 

The proposed dwellings incorporate a mix of hipped and pitched roofs with projecting bays 
and chimneys.

The majority of the Holgate street frontage will comprise the existing hedgerow at a height 
of 2 metres with a 2 metre high brick wall connecting the hedge with a set of gates set 
back into the site. The houses are set back a minimum distance of 4 metres behind the 
hedge.

The visual impact of the proposed scheme, including its appearance from Holgate, is 
considered acceptable.

Living Conditions
The living conditions of existing and future occupiers both need to be assessed.

Existing Residents
The nearest residential properties are located on the opposite side of Holgate at numbers 
17 to 23 (odds) and at the rear of the site at 5 and The Elms, Rothwells Lane. The 
separation distances between the proposed dwellings and existing properties are such that 
the proposal will not cause significant harm to the living conditions of existing residents 
through overlooking or overshadowing.

Future Occupiers
The proposed dwellings have a satisfactory relationship with each other and separation 
distances comply with the guidelines set out in Sefton's 'New Housing' Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD). In addition, garden sizes exceed the SPD standard of 60 
square metres for dwellings of this size. 

Page 60

Agenda Item 4d



Environmental Health point out that early evening traffic noise levels raise potential 
concerns and that it would be desirable to protect external amenity spaces by the provision 
of a 2 metre high acoustic barrier. However, it is considered that the provision of 2 metre 
high solid boundary fencing would not be acceptable from a visual amenity point of view 
and that this measure would not be justified. 

For the above reasons, it is considered that the living conditions of existing and future 
residents will not be significantly harmed.

Highway Safety
Highways Development Design have raised no objections on highway safety grounds and 
are satisfied that the traffic generated by the development will not have a material impact 
on the local highway network. In addition, the proposed access and parking arrangements 
are considered acceptable. The applicant has provided tracking drawings to demonstrate 
that delivery and servicing vehicles can manoeuvre within the site using the proposed 
turning facility.

A new footway will be provided to facilitate safe pedestrian access between the site and 
the existing footway on the opposite side of Holgate. This will require a new pedestrian 
crossing facility in the form of dropped kerbs with tactile paving on each side of Holgate.

Conditions are recommended to secure suitable access and parking provision, visibility 
splays and off-site highways improvement works. These are set out in full in the 
recommendation below.

For the above reasons, the proposal is considered acceptable on grounds of highway 
safety.

Landscaping
The proposal involves the loss of a section of frontage hedge to provide access into the 
site as well as the loss of the hedgerow across the rear. However, the majority of the 
existing hedgerows are to be retained and amended plans show a shorter section of new 
footway along the site frontage in order to minimise its impact on the existing hedge. The 
amended plan also confirms that all existing perimeter trees are to be retained. The 
proposed landscaping scheme shows that 25 new trees will be planted on the site.

The landscaping proposals for the site are considered acceptable and in accordance with 
emerging Local Plan policy EQ9 which carries significant weight.

Ecology
The application site is close to land known to provide foraging habitat for qualifying 
features of named European sites of ecological importance. Merseyside Environmental 
Advisory Service (MEAS) advise that there is no “pathway” that could give rise to likely 
significant effects on the European sites and that the proposals do not warrant a detailed 
Habitats Regulations Assessment report.

Page 61

Agenda Item 4d



Conditions are recommended to protect bats, breeding birds and hedgehogs and these are 
set out in full in the recommendation below.

The applicant has submitted an ecological survey report. Merseyside Environmental 
Advisory Service (MEAS) advise that this is generally acceptable.

MEAS also advise that the hedge surrounding the site is a Priority habitat and that the 
development will have a direct effect on the habitat as two lengths of the hedgerow are to 
be removed. However, an amended landscape plan provides sufficient mitigation to ensure 
that the loss of hedgerow does not result in a net loss of biodiversity on the site.

The ecological report found that the tree proposed for removal did not contain any features 
to support roosting bats therefore MEAS advise that the Council does not need to consider 
the proposals against the three tests (Habitats Regulations).

Archaeology
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS) advise that the site lies within an area 
considered to have the potential to contain archaeological deposits associated with 
settlement of the medieval period. The applicant has provided further information in 
respect of archaeology and MEAS have confirmed that this is acceptable and that it has 
been adequately demonstrated that the site has no archaeological interest.

Other Issues
The United Utilities and Flooding and Drainage Team recommend a condition to secure a 
sustainable drainage system for the site and the Contaminated Land Team recommend 
standard contaminated land conditions. These are set out in the recommendation below.

Some of the issues raised by local residents, such as loss of views, damage to the 
community and the current use of the land, are not material planning considerations which 
can affect the outcome of this application.

Conclusion
For the above reasons, it is concluded that the proposed development is acceptable in 
principle due to the advanced stage of the Local Plan, the failure of Sefton to provide a 5 
year supply of housing land and in the absence of other material considerations which 
would prevent the grant of planning permission. In addition, the proposal will not have a 
significant detrimental impact on the appearance and character of the area, on residents' 
living conditions and on highway safety. Issues relating to landscaping, ecology and 
archaeology have also been addressed.

As the development site lies within Green Belt in the adopted Unitary Development Plan, 
and the emerging Local Plan has not yet been adopted, the application must be referred to 
the National Planning Casework Unit before planning permission can be issued.
      

Page 62

Agenda Item 4d



Recommendation - Approve with Conditions subject to referral 
to the National Planning Casework Unit
Approve with Conditions 

Conditions 

This application has been recommended for approval subject to the following conditions 
and associated reasons:

 1)  The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason:  To comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

 2)  The development hereby granted shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
following details and plans:-

Drawing numbers 16-176-SP01, SP02, SP03 rev E, SP04 rev B, SS02, EL01 rev A, 
EL02, EL03, EL04, EL05, EL06, EL07, EL08, EL09, PL01 and PL02.
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Ref: 16-020

   
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory development.

 3)  Before any construction commences:- 

a) Samples of the facing and roofing materials to be used in the external construction 
of this development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

b) The materials approved under (a) above shall then be used in the construction of 
the development.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in the interests of 
visual amenity and to comply with policy DQ1 of the Sefton Unitary Development 
Plan.

 4)  a) Before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto site, a 1 metre 
high fence or other barrier as agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, shall 
be erected around the outer limit of the crown spread of all trees, hedges or 
woodlands shown to be retained on the approved plan.  

b) The barrier/fencing approved under (a) above shall be maintained in a satisfactory 
manner until the development is completed. During the period of construction, no 

Page 63

Agenda Item 4d



material shall be stored, fires started or trenches dug within these enclosed areas 
without the prior consent in writing of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent damage to the trees/ hedges in the interests of visual amenity 
and to comply with policy DQ3 of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

 5)  No tree which is to be retained shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, or have 
surgery undertaken, without the written approval of the Local Planning Authority, 
within 1 year from the completion of the development.  Any such trees removed or 
dying shall be replaced with trees of a size and species to be agreed in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority in the next available planting season.

Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity and in order to comply with policy DQ3 of 
the Sefton Unitary Development Plan. 

 6)  a) The hard and soft landscaping scheme hereby approved shall be carried out prior 
to the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a timetable to 
be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

b) Any trees or plants that within a period of five years after planting, are removed, 
die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or 
defective shall be replaced with others of a species, size and number as originally 
approved in the first available planting season unless the Local Planning Authority 
gives its written consent to any variation.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to comply with policy DQ3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

 7)  a) A scheme of works for the proposed vehicular and/or pedestrian access shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

b) No part of the development shall be brought into use until a means of vehicular 
and/or pedestrian access to the site/development has been constructed. These works 
shall be in accordance with the scheme approved under (a) above.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and DQ1 
of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

 8)  No part of the development shall be brought into use until visibility splays of 2.4 
metres by 43 metres at the proposed junction with Holgate have been provided clear 
of obstruction to visibility at or above a height of 1.0 metres above the carriageway 
level of Holgate. Once created, these visibility splays shall be maintained clear of any 
obstruction and retained for their intended purpose at all times.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and DQ1 
of the in the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

Page 64

Agenda Item 4d



 9)  a) Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
development shall not be commenced until a detailed scheme for the following 
highway improvement works together with a programme for the completion of the 
works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 The introduction of Give way markings and two centre lines markings at the 
junction of the site access with Holgate.

 The introduction of a 2m wide footway on Holgate south of the new access going 
into the site via the gated pedestrian access. The other end of this footway will 
continue into the east side of Holgate in a southerly direction for a short distance 
and then a pedestrian crossing facility provided at an appropriate location to link 
with the footway on the west side of Holgate. This facility would involve dropped 
kerbs and tactile paving on each side of Holgate.

 The relocation of an existing telegraph pole and road sign to enable the 
introduction of the proposed access

b)  No part of the development shall be brought into use until the required highway 
improvement works have been constructed in accordance with the details approved 
under (a) above.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3, DQ1 and 
AD2 of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan. 

10)  No part of the development shall be brought into use until areas for vehicle parking, 
turning and manoeuvring have been laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and 
drained in accordance with the approved plan and these areas shall be retained 
thereafter for that specific use.

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and DQ1 
in the Sefton Unitary Development Plan 2006

11)  Prior to commencement of development the approved scope of works for the 
investigation and assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a 
written report of the findings must be produced. The report should include an 
appraisal of remedial options and identification of the most appropriate remediation 
option(s) for each relevant pollutant linkage. The report is subject to the written 
approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policies CS3 & EP3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

12)  Prior to commencement of development a detailed remediation strategy to bring the 
site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks and 

Page 65

Agenda Item 4d



the relevant pollutant linkages identified in the approved investigation and risk 
assessment, must be prepared and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority.

a) The strategy must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works, site management procedures 
and roles and responsibilities. The strategy must ensure that the site will not qualify 
as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 on 
completion of the development and commencement of its use.

b) In the event that the proposed remediation scheme involves the provision of a 
ground cover system a plan indicating the existing and proposed external ground 
levels on the application site shall be submitted for approval to the Local Planning 
Authority.

c) The development shall proceed in accordance with the external ground levels 
approved under (b) unless the Local Planning Authority gives its prior written approval 
to any variation.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policies CS3 & EP3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

13)  a) The approved remediation strategy must be carried out in accordance with its 
terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required to carry 
out remediation.

b) Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation 
strategy, a verification report that demonstrates compliance with the agreed 
remediation objectives and criteria must be produced, and is subject to the approval 
in writing of the Local Planning Authority, prior to commencement of use of the 
development.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policies CS3 & EP3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

14)  a) In the event that previously unidentified contamination is found at any time when 
carrying out the approved development immediate contact must be made with the 
Local Planning Authority and works must cease in that area. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation 

Page 66

Agenda Item 4d



scheme must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. 

b) Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation 
strategy, verification of the works must be included in the verification report required 
by Condition 13.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policies CS3 & EP3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

15)  (a) Prior to commencement of the development, full details of a scheme for a 
sustainable drainage system to serve the site, and method of implementation 
including arrangements to secure funding and maintenance for the lifetime of the 
development through an appropriate legally binding agreement shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

(b) The drainage scheme shall be fully implemented and thereafter maintained in 
accordance with the details approved under (a) above. 

Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage facilities are provided to serve the site in 
accordance with policy EQ8 of the emerging Local Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework, Paragraph 103.

Informatives

Addresses
 1)  The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of 

addresses. Contact the Highways Development Control Team on Tel: 0151 934 4175 
to apply for a new street name/property number.

Highway Works
 2) The applicant is advised that all works to the adopted highway must be carried out by 

a Council approved contractor at the applicant's expense.  Please contact the 
Highways Section on 0151 934 4175 for further information.

Contaminated Land
 3)  Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than 

that required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not 
commence until conditions 11 to 14 above have been complied with. If unexpected 
contamination is found after development has begun, development must be halted on 

Page 67

Agenda Item 4d



that part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified 
by the Local Planning Authority in writing, until condition 14 has been complied with in 
relation to that contamination.  Contaminated land planning conditions must be 
implemented and completed in the order shown on the decision notice above.

Sustainable Drainage
4) Details of a scheme for a sustainable drainage system should include:

a) Information about the lifetime of the development and design of the sustainable 
drainage system design, including storm periods and intensity (1 in 30 & 1 in 100 
year +30% allowance for climate change), discharge rates and volumes (both pre 
and post development), methods employed to delay and control surface water 
discharged from the site, and appropriate measures taken to prevent flooding and 
pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface waters, including 
watercourses;

b) Demonstrate that the surface water run-off would not exceed the pre-
development greenfield runoff rate for an existing greenfield site or show how 
surface water run-off would be reduced by at least 30% on previously developed 
sites;

c) Include details of a site investigation and test results to confirm infiltrations rates;
d) Include details of how any flood water, including depths, will be safely managed 

in exceedance routes;
e) Secure arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 

undertaker or, management and maintenance by a Residents Management 
Company through an appropriate legal agreement;

f) Secure arrangements, through an appropriate legal agreement for funding on-
going maintenance of all elements of the sustainable drainage system including:
i mechanical components;
ii. on-going inspections relating to performance and asset condition 

assessments and;
iii. operation costs for regular maintenance, remedial works and irregular 

maintenance caused by less sustainable limited life assets or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the surface water drainage scheme 
throughout its lifetime.

g) Secure means of access for maintenance and easements, where applicable.
h) Include a timetable for implementing the scheme

Site waste
5) A site waste management plan provides a mechanism for managing and monitoring 

construction, demolition and excavation waste. This is a requirement of WLP policy 
WM8, and may also deliver cost savings and efficiencies for the applicant. The 
following information should be included within the waste audit or similar mechanism:

 Details of persons responsible;
 Process for update;
 Forecast waste types (European Waste Codes recommended) and waste 

arisings (tonnages);
 Facilities/carriers and proposed waste management option(s) chosen; 

Page 68

Agenda Item 4d



 Actual waste arisings (tonnages), facilities/carriers and waste management 
option(s) chosen;

 Waste prevention, reduction and recycling actions; and
 Process to ensure contractors/staff are aware of requirements (e.g. toolbox talks).

Guidance and templates are provided at: 
http://www.meas.org.uk/media/5014/SWMP-Audit_Checklist_Final.pdf,  
http://www.wrap.org.uk/ and https://www.smartwaste.co.uk/

Breeding Birds
 6) Built features or vegetation on site may provide nesting opportunities for breeding 

birds, which are protected. No tree felling, scrub clearance, hedgerow removal, 
vegetation management, ground clearance or building work is to take place during 
the period 1 March to 31 August inclusive. If it is necessary to undertake works during 
the bird breeding season then all buildings, trees, scrub and hedgerows are to be 
checked first by an appropriately experienced ecologist to ensure no breeding birds 
are present. 

Bats
 7) Bats may be present in your building.  Bats are protected species.  If you discover 

bats you must cease work immediately.

Hedgehogs and Bats
 8) The applicant is advised to follow the recommendations set out in chapter 6.0 of the 

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal in respect of hedgehogs and bats.

Page 69

Agenda Item 4d

http://www.meas.org.uk/media/5014/SWMP-Audit_Checklist_Final.pdf
http://www.wrap.org.uk/
https://www.smartwaste.co.uk/


Page 70

Agenda Item 4d



Page 71

Agenda Item 4d



Page 72

Agenda Item 4d



Page 73

Agenda Item 4d



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 5

Committee: PLANNING

Date of Meeting: 29th March 2017

Title of Report: Planning Approvals

Report of: Stuart Barnes
Chief Planning Officer

Contact Officer: Steve Matthews   Tel: 0345 140 0845 (Option 4)

This report contains Yes No

Confidential information 

Exempt information by virtue of paragraph(s) ……… of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972



Is the decision on this report DELEGATED? 

Purpose of Report

The items listed in this Appendix are recommended for approval.

Recommendation

That the applications for planning permission, approval or consent set out in the 
following appendices be APPROVED subject to any conditions specified in the list for 
the reasons stated therein.  

Corporate Objective Monitoring

ImpactCorporate Objective
Positive Neutral Negative

1 Regenerating the Borough through Partnership 
2 Raising the standard of Education & Lifelong Learning 
3 Promoting Safer and More Secure Communities 
4 Creating a Healthier, Cleaner & Greener Environment 

through policies for Sustainable Development 
5 Strengthening Local Democracy through Community 

Participation 
6 Promoting Social Inclusion, Equality of Access and 

Opportunity 
7 Improving the Quality of Council Services 
8 Children and Young People 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5



APPENDIX 5

Financial Implications

None

Departments consulted in the preparation of this Report       

See individual items

List of Background Papers relied upon in the preparation of 
this report

The Background Papers for each item are neighbour representations and history 
referred to.  Any additional background papers will be listed in the item. Background 
Papers and Standard Conditions referred to in the items in this Appendix are 
available for public inspection at the Planning Office, Magdalen House, Trinity Road, 
Bootle, up until midday of the Committee Meeting.

A copy of the standard conditions will be available for inspection at the Committee 
Meeting.

The Sefton Unitary Development Plan (adopted June 2006), the Supplementary 
Planning Guidance Notes and Documents, and the emerging Sefton Local Plan are 
material documents for the purpose of considering applications set out in this list.

Page 76

Agenda Item 5



APPENDIX 5

Approvals Index

A DC/2016/02382 Lock Up Garages Opposite 259 And 261
Oriel Drive, Aintree Molyneux Ward

B DC/2016/02152
Land Adjacent

5 Chapelhouse Walk
Formby L37 8BD

Ravenmeols Ward

C DC/2016/01922
Brooklands Farm

Brewery Lane, Melling
L31 1EZ

Molyneux Ward

D DC/2016/01935
Land Adjacent To 5 And Opposite 10-34

George Drive And 19-22 Elizabeth Avenue
Birkdale

Ainsdale Ward

Page 77

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 29th March 2017

Subject: DC/2016/02382
Lock Up Garages Opposite 259 And 261 Oriel Drive, Aintree   

Proposal: Erection of four dwellinghouses after demolition of the existing garages 
with associated parking and landscaping

Applicant: Ms Joanna Allen
One Vision Housing

Agent: Mr David Smith
John McCall Architects

Ward: Molyneux Ward

Summary
           
This is a full application for the erection of four houses following demolition of the existing 
garage block.

The main issues to consider are the principle of the development, its visual impact and its 
effects on living conditions and highway safety. Matters concerning ecology, contaminated 
land and flood risk are also relevant.

It is concluded that the proposal satisfies all relevant policies and the recommendation is 
for planning permission to be granted subject to conditions.

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions 

Case Officer Mrs Diane Humphreys

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Telephone 0345 140 0845 (option 4)

Application documents and plans are available at:
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=OHXDVJNWN0000

Page 79

Agenda Item 5a

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


Site Location Plan

Page 80

Agenda Item 5a



The Site
          
The application site is located on the south side of Oriel Drive to the west of number 164. It 
contains a row of communal garages with a forecourt constructed of tarmac and two 
vehicular accesses onto Oriel Drive. There are small areas of grass to each side and a 
number of perimeter trees.

The site lies within a residential area comprising a variety of dwelling types. These include 
dormer bungalows on the opposite side of Oriel Drive, single storey bungalows in a court 
directly to the east and two storey houses to the rear of the site in Martland Avenue.
 

History
       
None

Consultations 

Highways Development Design
Proposed provision for parking, vehicular and pedestrian access is acceptable.

Conditions are recommended to secure the access and parking provision, the re-
construction of the footway across the site frontage and a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan.

Environmental Health
No objections subject to piling condition.

Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS)
Ecology
The applicant has submitted a bat survey report which found no evidence of roosting bats 
inside or outside the garage buildings and roosting features to be limited. The bat survey 
concludes that no further bat surveys of the garages are required which MEAS agree with.

The proposals indicate that trees will be removed from the site and it is advised that further 
information on the bat roost potential of affected trees is required before the application 
can be determined.

Breeding birds should be protected by condition and a landscaping scheme using locally 
native species should be secured.

Page 81

Agenda Item 5a



Waste
In accordance with policy WM8 of the Joint Merseyside and Halton Waste Local Plan a 
waste audit should be provided by condition to demonstrate the minimisation of waste 
production and the efficient use of resources.

Land Contamination
Recommend conditions relating to contaminated land. Analysis for asbestos should be 
included within the scope of the Phase II Site Investigation.

Contaminated Land Team
The submitted preliminary risk assessment has identified potential contaminants including 
those associated with the use of the site as garages and potential asbestos containing 
materials within the garages.

Recommend that the standard contaminated land conditions and informative are attached 
to any planning approval.

Flooding and Drainage Team
Satisfied with the information contained within the applicant's site specific flood risk 
assessment in respect of the risk from surface water flooding.

Building Control
No comments

Fire and Rescue Service
No objection

 
Neighbour Representations
        
This application has been 'called-in' by Councillor Murphy to be determined by Planning 
Committee.

Written objections have been received from 1 Martland Avenue and 164 Oriel Drive. The 
grounds of objection are summarised as follows:

 the applicant has told local residents that the site would be developed for small 
bungalows for rent

 residents were not informed or consulted on the current proposal
 the proposed houses for sale are not suitable for the site
 houses are too big, too tall and too far forward
 out of character with the streetscene
 overlooking/loss of privacy

   

Page 82

Agenda Item 5a



Policy Context
The application site is situated in an area designated as residential on the Council’s 
Adopted Unitary Development Plan.

The policies in the emerging Local Plan (June 2016) were subject to discussion at the 
recent Local Plan Examination and where appropriate have been given weight in coming to 
a recommendation on this application.

Those policies to which there was no objection or to which no modifications have been 
proposed may be regarded to carry significant weight. They will be referred to where 
appropriate in the assessment of this proposal.

Assessment of the Proposal
The main issues to consider are the principle of the development, its visual impact and its 
effects on living conditions and highway safety. Matters concerning ecology, contaminated 
land and flood risk are also relevant.

Principle

The site lies within a primarily residential area and the principle of residential development 
is therefore acceptable under adopted Unitary Development Plan policy H10 and emerging 
Local Plan policy HC3.

Visual Impact

The proposed semi-detached houses are to be constructed in brick with tiled roofs. They 
will have pitched roofs with gables fronting the street and will be set approximately 2 
metres further forward onto Oriel Drive than the bungalow to the east. The proposed 
ridgelines will be similar to those of the existing houses to the south and west.

Whilst the proposed dwellings have a different design and are set further forward than 
existing properties, it is not considered that the new buildings will be out of character with 
the area which comprises a mixture of dwelling styles and sizes. Also, their positioning will 
not have a detrimental impact in the streetscene due to the distance to the bungalow to the 
east and the existence of grassed areas with trees either side of the properties.

Living Conditions

The living conditions for existing surrounding residents as well as future occupants of the 
dwellings both need to be considered.

Existing Residents

Page 83

Agenda Item 5a



The nearest existing dwelling to the east side of the development is a bungalow at 164 
Oriel Drive. This has a detached garage adjacent its western boundary and the distance 
between the side elevation of the nearest proposed dwelling on Plot 4 and the side 
elevation of the nearest part of the bungalow is at least 12 metres. This is an acceptable 
relationship given that there are no windows in the side elevations of the proposed houses.

There is a distance of 13 metres from the rear elevation of the proposed dwelling on Plot 1 
to the nearest part of the dwelling at 1 Martland Avenue at first floor level. This relationship 
is acceptable and in accordance with the 12 metre guidance set out in the “New Housing” 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) in respect of the distance between a window of 
a habitable room and windows of non-habitable rooms.

It is not considered that the proposal raises significant issues in respect of overlooking and 
overshadowing and the impacts on existing residents are therefore considered acceptable.  

Future Occupiers
The proposal achieves the garden sizes recommended in the “New Housing” SPD which 
are 60 square metres for houses with 3 or more bedrooms.

Highway Safety

The proposals include two off-street car parking spaces per dwelling and the Highways 
Manager raises no objections on highway safety grounds subject to conditions being 
attached to any approval. These will secure the parking spaces and proposed accesses as 
well as the re-construction of the footway where required and the provision of a 
Construction Traffic Management Plan.

Ecology

Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS) agree with the findings of the 
submitted bat report. They advise that further information is required in respect of the bat 
roost potential of trees to be removed. However, the applicant has since confirmed that no 
trees will be removed as part of the proposal, therefore this information is no longer 
required.

The submitted drawings show that all of the existing trees, which are to the perimeter of 
the site, will be retained and that new planting will be provided within the plots. This can be 
secured by condition in accordance with emerging Local Plan policy EQ9 which carries 
significant weight. The condition can secure locally native species as recommended by 
MEAS.

The protection of breeding birds can be covered by an informative.

Contaminated Land

Page 84

Agenda Item 5a



The Contaminated Land Team and MEAS both recommend the use of contaminated land 
conditions due to the potential for land contamination on the site given that it has been in 
use as a garage block.

Flood Risk

The applicant had been requested to provide additional information due to the risk from 
surface water flooding. The Flooding and Drainage team are satisfied with the information 
provided which proposes mitigation measures such as raising the finished floor levels of 
the houses and the provision of flood doors/gates within the buildings' design.

Conclusion

The proposal is acceptable in principle and in terms of its visual impact and its effects on 
the living conditions of existing and future residents and on highway safety. Matters 
relating to ecology, contaminated land and flood risk have been addressed and/or can be 
covered by condition as recommended below.
      
Recommendation - Approve with Conditions 
Approve with Conditions 

Conditions 

This application has been recommended for approval subject to the following conditions 
and associated reasons:

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason:  To comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

2) The development hereby granted shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
following details and plans:-

Drawing Numbers L01, L02, L03B, L04, L06 and L07.
Flood Risk Letter referenced JLS/RN/216-039 dated 3 March 2017.

   
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory development.

Page 85

Agenda Item 5a



3) Before any construction commences:- 

a) Samples of the facing and roofing materials to be used in the external construction 
of this development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

b) The materials approved under (a) above shall then be used in the construction of 
the development.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in the interests of 
visual amenity and to comply with policy DQ1 of the Sefton Unitary Development 
Plan.

4) a) Before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto site, a 1 metre 
high fence or other barrier as agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, shall 
be erected around the outer limit of the crown spread of all trees, hedges or 
woodlands shown to be retained on the approved plan.  

b) The barrier/fencing approved under (a) above shall be maintained in a satisfactory 
manner until the development is completed. During the period of construction, no 
material shall be stored, fires started or trenches dug within these enclosed areas 
without the prior consent in writing of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent damage to the trees/ hedges in the interests of visual amenity 
and to comply with policy DQ3 of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

5) No tree which is to be retained shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, or have 
surgery undertaken, without the written approval of the Local Planning Authority, 
within 1 year from the completion of the development.  Any such trees removed or 
dying shall be replaced with trees of a size and species to be agreed in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority in the next available planting season.

Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity and in order to comply with policy DQ3 of 
the Sefton Unitary Development Plan. 

6) Before any construction commences, a landscaping scheme covering the land 
subject of this application shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, including:

i) Existing and proposed levels or contours
ii) Proposed and existing services above and below ground
iii) Details of boundary treatments and hard surfaces
iv) The location, size and species of all trees to be planted which shall comprise 

locally native species
v) The location, size, species and density of all shrub and ground cover planting
vi) A schedule of implementation.

Page 86

Agenda Item 5a



Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to comply with policy DQ3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

7) a) The approved hard and soft landscaping scheme shall be carried out prior to the 
occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a timetable to be 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

b) Any trees or plants that within a period of five years after planting, are removed, 
die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or 
defective shall be replaced with others of a species, size and number as originally 
approved in the first available planting season unless the Local Planning Authority 
gives its written consent to any variation.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to comply with policy DQ3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

8) a) A scheme of works for the closure and reinstatement of the existing vehicular 
and/or pedestrian access on to Oriel Drive shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority

 
b) No part of the development shall be brought into use until the existing vehicular 
and/or pedestrian access on to Oriel Drive has been permanently closed off and the 
footway reinstated. These works shall be in accordance with the scheme approved 
under (a) above

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and AD2 
in the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

9) a) A scheme of works for the proposed vehicular and/or pedestrian access shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

b) No part of the development shall be brought into use until a means of vehicular 
and/or pedestrian access to the site/development has been constructed. These works 
shall be in accordance with the scheme approved under (a) above.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and DQ1 
of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

10) a) Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
development shall not be commenced until a detailed scheme of highway 
improvement works for the provision of the reconstruction of the footway on the south 
side of Oriel Drive across the entire frontage of the site, the introduction of footway 
crossings for the proposed four private driveways and the relocation of an existing 
street lighting column if required together with a programme for the completion of the 
works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 87

Agenda Item 5a



b)  No part of the development shall be brought into use until the required highway 
improvement works have been constructed in accordance with the details approved 
under (a) above.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3, DQ1 and 
AD2 of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan. 

11)  No part of the development shall be brought into use until areas for vehicle parking, 
turning and manoeuvring have been laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and 
drained in accordance with the approved plan and these areas shall be retained 
thereafter for that specific use.

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and DQ1 
in the Sefton Unitary Development Plan 2006

12)  Prior to the commencement of any works on site a Construction Method Statement 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period and shall 
provide details for construction traffic management and wheel washing facilities.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and AD2 
in the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

13)  a) Prior to the commencement of development a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan, including a site waste management plan, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

b) The provisions of the Construction Environmental Management Plan approved 
under (a) above shall be implemented in full during the period of construction and 
shall not be varied unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In order to minimise environmental impacts during the construction phase 
and to accord with policy CS3 in the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

14)  Prior to commencement of development a preliminary investigation must be 
prepared in accordance with best practice and current guidance. The report must 
include:

 - Desk study
 - Site reconnaissance
 - Data assessment and reporting
 - Formulation of initial conceptual model
 - Preliminary risk assessment

Page 88

Agenda Item 5a



If the Preliminary Risk Assessment identifies there are potentially unacceptable risks 
a detailed scope of works for an intrusive investigation, including details of the risk 
assessment methodologies, must be prepared by a competent person (as defined in 
the DCLG National Planning Policy Framework, March 2012). The contents of the 
scheme and scope of works are subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority.

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policies CS3 & EP3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

15)  Prior to commencement of development the approved scope of works for the 
investigation and assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a 
written report of the findings must be produced. The report should include an 
appraisal of remedial options and identification of the most appropriate remediation 
option(s) for each relevant pollutant linkage. The report is subject to the written 
approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policies CS3 & EP3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

16)  Prior to commencement of development a detailed remediation strategy to bring the 
site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks and 
the relevant pollutant linkages identified in the approved investigation and risk 
assessment, must be prepared and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority.

a) The strategy must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works, site management procedures 
and roles and responsibilities. The strategy must ensure that the site will not qualify 
as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 on 
completion of the development and commencement of its use.

b) In the event that the proposed remediation scheme involves the provision of a 
ground cover system a plan indicating the existing and proposed external ground 

Page 89

Agenda Item 5a



levels on the application site shall be submitted for approval to the Local Planning 
Authority.

c) The development shall proceed in accordance with the external ground levels 
approved under (b) unless the Local Planning Authority gives its prior written approval 
to any variation.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policies CS3 & EP3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

17)  a) The approved remediation strategy must be carried out in accordance with its 
terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required to carry 
out remediation.

b) Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation 
strategy, a verification report that demonstrates compliance with the agreed 
remediation objectives and criteria must be produced, and is subject to the approval 
in writing of the Local Planning Authority, prior to commencement of use of the 
development.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policies CS3 & EP3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

18)  a) In the event that previously unidentified contamination is found at any time when 
carrying out the approved development immediate contact must be made with the 
Local Planning Authority and works must cease in that area. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation 
scheme must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. 

b) Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation 
strategy, verification of the works must be included in the verification report required 
by Condition 17.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 

Page 90

Agenda Item 5a



neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policies CS3 & EP3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

Informatives

Breeding Birds
 1) Built features or vegetation on site may provide nesting opportunities for breeding 

birds, which are protected. No tree felling, scrub clearance, hedgerow removal, 
vegetation management, ground clearance or building work is to take place during 
the period 1 March to 31 August inclusive. If it is necessary to undertake works during 
the bird breeding season then all buildings, trees, scrub and hedgerows are to be 
checked first by an appropriately experienced ecologist to ensure no breeding birds 
are present.

Addresses
 2) The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of 

addresses. Contact the Highways Development Control Team on Tel: 0151 934 4175 
to apply for a new street name/property number.

Works to Highway
 3) The applicant is advised that all works to the adopted highway must be carried out by 

a Council approved contractor at the applicant's expense.  Please contact the 
Highways Section on 0151 934 4175 for further information.

Piling
 4) The applicant is advised to consult with Sefton Council Pollution Control Team if the 

development is to incorporate piling in the foundation detail.

Contaminated Land
 5) Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than 

that required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not 
commence until conditions 14 to 18 above have been complied with. If unexpected 
contamination is found after development has begun, development must be halted on 
that part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified 
by the Local Planning Authority in writing, until condition 18 has been complied with in 
relation to that contamination.  Contaminated land planning conditions must be 
implemented and completed in the order shown on the decision notice above.

Page 91

Agenda Item 5a



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 29th March 2017

Subject: DC/2016/02152
Land Adjacent 5 Chapelhouse Walk, Formby L37 8BD
 

Proposal: Retention of a two storey dwellinghouse with accommodation in the roof 
space

Applicant: Mrs R Martin Agent:

Ward: Ravenmeols Ward

Summary
This application was due to be considered by members of the Planning Committee on the 
8th March 2017.  However, following the receipt of late representations querying the 
accuracy of the officer report, it was resolved that consideration of the report be deferred to 
review the points raised.  Since the committee meeting, the report has been reviewed and 
amended to offer clarification on various points which may have been considered 
inaccurate or misunderstood.  Reference to Clearfield Road in the neighbourhood 
representation has been removed as this address was incorrectly inputted by an objector 
and relayed within the report, but should have referred to Flaxfield Road.  In addition, 
representations received and presented as ‘late representations’ to the previous meeting in 
relation to the scheme, have been incorporated into the context of the report for 
completeness.

The Chief Planning Officer is satisfied that members can now make an informed decision 
based on the information contained within this report, that obtained from viewing the 
development first hand at the site visit and any representation made on the night of the 
planning committee meeting.       

The key issues for consideration are the principle of the development, the impact on 
residential and visual amenity, and the impact on highway safety.  Impacts on drainage 
and existing trees are also subject to consideration.

The dwelling is located within a primarily residential area where residential development is 
considered acceptable in principle.  The development does not result in significant harm to 
the living conditions of neighbours and is acceptable in design terms.   The development 
does not raise any highway safety concerns and is acceptable in all other matters.  It is 
considered that the development complies with the aims and objectives of the 
Development Plan and all other material considerations and is recommended for approval.

Page 93

Agenda Item 5b



Recommendation:  

Case Officer Mr Kevin Baker

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Telephone 0345 140 0845 (option 4)

Application documents and plans available at:
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=OFZ17DNW01A00

Page 94

Agenda Item 5b

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


Site Location Plan

Page 95

Agenda Item 5b



The Site

The application site relates to a plot of land located south of no.5 Chaplehouse Walk.  The 
site has an irregular shape, created through the severing of land from no.7 Flaxfield Road 
and No.5 Chapelhouse Walk.  The site is now occupied by an incomplete two storey 
dwelling located relatively central to the site and two outbuildings located in the far east 
corner of the site (land previously within the rear garden of no.7 Flaxfield Road).  The site 
is relatively flat, however, there is a gentle downward sloping gradient from north to south 
and west to east.

The site is surrounded on all sides by a variety of two storey semi detached residential 
properties.  Properties on Flaxfield Road and Altcar Road are positioned on a lower ground 
level to the application site than those properties on Chapelhouse Walk.  There is a distinct 
difference in land levels between the application site and the rear gardens of no’s 25 and 
27 Altcar Road, this change in level is less obvious with properties on Flaxfield Road due 
to the gentle slope which graduates from the application site and continues down the rear 
gardens of the neighbouring properties.
 
A mature tree is located adjacent to the eastern boundary of the application site within the 
rear garden of no.9 Flaxfield Road.  

The site is secured on all sides by timber fencing set between concrete posts, the height of 
which varies around the site.

Access to the site is taken from Chapelhouse Walk between no.5 and 6.   

History
Planning permission was granted on the site in January 2016 (application ref: 
DC/2015/02006) for the erection of a detached two storey dwellinghouse with 
accommodation in the roofspace.  

Following the granting of planning permission development commenced on site.  In 
addition, two applications were submitted to discharge various planning conditions 
attached to the consent (application ref: DC/2016/00205 and DC/2016/00210). 

Page 96

Agenda Item 5b



Following a number of complaints regarding the commencement of the development and 
the lack of compliance with the original consent, extensive investigations were carried out 
by the Local Planning Authority including an independent survey of the site.  The 
investigations concluded that the development had not been constructed in accordance 
with the approved plans (under planning ref: DC/2015/02006) and as such was in breach 
of planning condition.  The breaches identified included the incorrect positioning of the 
building (most noticeably the positioning of the building further south towards properties on 
Altcar Road), variations in the door and window locations, replacement of a chimney with a 
stainless steel flue, alterations to the roof pitch (in relation to the eaves height), removal of 
roof lights in the single storey outrigger and the lack of installation of solar panels.  In 
addition, it was witnessed that land levels across the site had risen and an outbuilding 
erected to the east of the site.  A smaller second outbuilding was witnessed on the site, but 
this had been constructed prior to the severance of the land with no.7 Flaxfield Road and 
as such was permitted development.

Having informed the applicant of the breaches, a fresh application which seeks to 
regularise the current development has been submitted, now the subject of consideration.  
It must be noted that originally the application only included the dwellinghouse house, 
however, the application has since been amended to include the larger outbuilding which 
does not benefit from planning permission.  This application, therefore, seeks to retain the 
dwellinghouse as built, and the larger outbuilding and should be assessed as such.  
Although the applicant has identified the smaller outbuilding on the site plan, this is not 
subject to assessment for the reasons stated above.    

Consultations
Community Fire Protection Department
Consider that the premises would not present an unacceptable hazard to neighbouring 
premises and make observations relating to access for fire appliances and water supplies 
for fire fighting purposes. 

Environmental Health
No objections.
 
Highway Safety
No objections.

Neighbour Representations
Neighbouring residents were initially consulted on the application on 5th December 2016.   
A further consultation was carried out on 24th February 2017 following receipt of further 
information relating to the retention of an existing outbuilding.

Page 97

Agenda Item 5b



Representations have been received following both consultations and includes residents 
from Flaxfield Road, Altcar Road and Chapelhouse Walk.  The representations object to 
the proposal on the following grounds:
Residential amenity – Impact on light into the garden; direct overlooking as a result of 
scale of the building and elevated position; loss of view and privacy; introduction of decking 
would cause further overlooking; overbearing property; overwhelming; raising of existing 
boundary fences and impact on amenity; outbuilding is too high and close to the boundary; 
a condition should be required to ensure no further increase in land levels; the side door 
overlooks neighbouring gardens and should not be glazed; new fence should extend along 
all boundaries shared with the plot due to overlooking.   

Visual amenity and local character - Dwelling house is realistically a 3 storey house, the 
ridge height is approximately 2m higher than any other house in the surrounding area; 
House is overbearing and out of character from the properties in the vicinity; commercial 
looking eyesore is far higher than surrounding domestic houses; property is over twice the 
size of any nearby properties; the largest development has been built to maximise any 
monetary gain; scheme should be amended to reduce the overbearing nature of the 
property and soften the impact on the amenity; building is commercial or even military in 
appearance, has large areas of featureless brickwork and small out-of-scale upper 
windows further emphasised by a steep roof and stainless steel flue; ugly building 
dominates the landscape, bears no characteristics with surrounding properties and is a blot 
of the landscape.  

Flooding - high water table, risk of local flooding; application has not incorporated a SUD 
scheme as initially required under the previous consent; land has been raised raising 
significant concerns regarding flooding onto neighbouring properties; drainage was laid 
above ground with land raised to cover this which is a ridiculous solution to an engineering 
problem.  

Trees and Landscaping – property was supposed to be built further away from the 
existing tree; plans have been misrepresented to show the location of the tree; house has 
caused further harm on horse chestnut tree at the bottom of the neighbouring garden, this 
tree has been butchered to accommodate the house position; neighbours will not be held 
accountable if the roots of the tree are damaged and the tree dies; If the applicant had 
provided accurate information, the development would not have fitted on the site and 
maintained a 5m distance as stated on the original plan; original scheme was approved 
with a requirement to have landscaping; excavations for the foundations were carried out 
by machine without any regard for root protection measures, this action has most likely 
damaged the tree; do not want to see the loss of existing trees which provide some 
protection; structural integrity of the house due to proximity to the tree.

Other matters – Application was put in previously with the intention to build something 
completely different to what was planned; plans were not followed to deliberately mislead 
the planning department and those neighbouring the proposed development; applicant has 
total disregard for the amenity of neighbours and local policies;  applicant’s decision to go 
ahead and continue building is unfair on anyone else in the borough who works within 

Page 98

Agenda Item 5b



planning policy and best practice; large outbuilding erected in the garden without consent 
with little being done about it, appears to have been ignored; increase in land levels was 
not included on the application; dangerous retaining wall has been installed; people are 
prepared to flout the rules; scheme will set a precedent; raising of land raises risk of 
damage to boundary fences; original scheme was approved with a requirement to have 
sustainable drainage system, solar panels and landscaping, none of which are now being 
proposed; dispute the validity of the ownership certificate; impact on value of property; 
drawings are inaccurate; original scheme included the development of an eco-friendly 
butterfly farm which now appears to have been removed; lack of enforcement action by the 
Council; plans are not to scale; lies and deceit of the applicants; boundary 
misrepresentation which has been used to justify the incorrect location of the building; no 
right to increase the existing boundary fence which does not belong to the applicant; 
raising the boundary fence with additional concrete plinths and trellis would be a cheap, 
weak and shoddy amateur solution; new fence would result in existing fence becoming a 
retaining wall; land levels carried out by the Council did not tie into any ordnance survey 
reference points and are therefore useless as a means to determine predevelopment 
ground levels, LIDAR survey shows significant raising of levels has taken place. 

Policy Context
The application site is situated in an area designated as residential on the Council’s 
Adopted Unitary Development Plan.

The policies in the emerging Local Plan (June 2016) were subject to discussion at the 
recent Local Plan Examination and where appropriate have been given weight in coming to 
a recommendation on this application.

Those policies to which there was no objection or to which no modifications have been 
proposed may be regarded to carry significant weight. They will be referred to where 
appropriate in the assessment of this proposal.

Assessment of the Proposal
The key issues for consideration are the principle of the development, the impact on 
residential and visual amenity, and the impact on highway safety.  Impacts on drainage 
and an existing tree are also subject to consideration.

Principle

The development is located within a primarily residential area where residential 
development is considered acceptable in principle under policy H10 of the Unitary 
Development and policy HC3 of the emerging local plan, which carries significant weight.  

Furthermore, the principle of a residential development on the site has already been 
established through the granting of planning permission DC/2015/02006.

Page 99

Agenda Item 5b



The principle of the development is considered acceptable, subject to all other matters 
being acceptable.

Impact on Residential Amenity 

A number of objections have been raised from neighbouring residents with regards to the 
impact of the development onto their living conditions, this includes loss of light, impact on 
views and overlooking.  

Policy DQ1 of the Unitary Development Plan seeks, amongst other things, to protect the 
amenity of those within and adjacent to a site.  This is mirrored in policy EQ2 of the 
emerging Local Plan and which carries significant weight.

Overshadowing

It is recognised that the dwelling is surrounded by residential properties on all boundaries 
and having regard to the two storey nature of the dwelling has the potential to create a 
degree of overshadowing.  

The dwelling projects further beyond the rear elevation of no.6 Chapelhouse Walk than the 
original approval, but is set away from the side elevation of this property.  The dwelling is 
located to the east of no.6 and whilst there would be some loss of early to mid-morning 
light the development would not unduly intrude on light throughout the remainder of the 
day.  Similarly, properties on Flaxfield Road (mainly no.5 to 9) would be affected by some 
loss of mid to late afternoon sunlight, being located east of the development.  However, 
they would not be unduly affected by loss of morning to early afternoon sun.  Furthermore, 
properties on Flaxfield Road have extensive gardens, most in excess of 30m and as such 
any loss of light would be restricted to the rear portion of the gardens.  Properties on Altcar 
Road are located south of the dwelling, and whilst the house has been positioned closer to 
properties on Altcar Road, this does  not create any greater effect in relation to 
overshadowing.

It is acknowledged that the re-positioning and re-design of the building differs from that 
originally approved.  However,  it is considered that the degree of overshadowing would 
not be unacceptable and would not be materially greater than that which would have 
occurred from the original approval.

The outbuilding is of a scale and location that does not present any overshadowing 
concerns.

Page 100

Agenda Item 5b



Impact on Views/Outlook

It is well established in planning law that the loss of a view is not a material consideration, 
however, the impact on a resident’s outlook is.

It is acknowledged that the two storey dwelling is highly visible from a number of 
surrounding properties.  In relation to properties on Flaxfield Road, the side gable of the 
dwelling is located in excess of 35m from the rear elevations of these properties.  This is 
considerably greater than the 12m recommended by the Councils Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) for New Housing, and greater than the distance between of other 
properties in the surrounding area.  Whilst the dwelling is located close to the shared 
boundary with properties on Flaxfield Road, their extensive garden lengths restrict the 
impact the dwelling has on the living conditions of these neighbouring properties.  This was 
a consideration of the original approval, where it was concluded that the dwelling would not 
impact significantly on the outlook of the residents on Flaxfield Road.  The re-siting of the 
building does not materially change this view. 

In relation to the properties on Altcar Road, the impact of the dwelling on the outlook of 
these properties is greater than that on the Flaxfield Road properties. That said, the 
interface distance to the single storey outrigger from the rear windows of the nearest 
property is in excess of 27m, and a further 4m to the two storey gable.  Again, this is in 
excess of the recommended 21m as set out in the New Housing SPD, a matter that was 
considered in the assessment of the original permission and which remains the case even 
as a result of the re-positioning of the building.  It is noted that there is a variation in land 
levels, which was not particularly evident when assessing the original permission.  
However, the level differences are apparent on site when viewing the development as 
constructed.  Even with the variation in land levels, the interface distances are still in 
excess of the standards recommended within the New Housing SPDIt is 
thereforeconsidered that the dwelling, in its current position, does not cause significant 
harm to the outlook of the residents on Altcar Road.  

The outbuilding is relatively small in scale and characteristic of the surrounding area.  It 
does not cause significant harm to the outlook of neighbouring properties.

Overlooking

The dwelling has a number of windows in the front and rear elevations at ground and first 
floor, with the addition of two small dormer windows in the roof space to the front elevation.  
Two windows and a single door are located at ground floor with a first floor window in the 
western elevation, whilst a patio door is located in the eastern elevation of the single storey 
element of the dwelling.  At the time of visiting the site a number of windows and doors had 
yet to be installed, albeit the openings existed.

Page 101

Agenda Item 5b



The windows to the front present no overlooking concerns.  They are distanced 
approximately 11m from the shared boundary with no.5 Chapelhouse Walk(an increase 
from the original permission) and face the side gable of this property.  Although there are 
windows in the neighbours side gable, they are obscure.  

Similarly, there are no overlooking concerns from the ground floor windows and door to the 
western elevation when having regard to the boundary treatment and vegetation along the 
boundary with no.6 Chapel House Walk.  The first floor window to the western elevation, 
will serve a bathroom and subject to this window being obscurely glazed and top hung, 
would not look into the neighbouring property or garden.  A planning condition can secure 
this.  

The door in the eastern elevation would look directly into the portion of garden that has 
been severed from no.7 Flaxfield Road, distanced some 11m away from the boundary with 
no.7 Flaxfield Road and 35m from rear windows.  This is similar to that considered under 
the original permission.  It is acknowledged that due to the changes in levels, the 
positioning of the side door is marginally higher than that originally approved.  In this 
instance, it is accepted there is potential for some overlooking into the rear gardens of no’s 
5 and 9 Flaxfield Road.  However any overlooking from the door would be at an angle and 
partially obstructed by existing outbuildings and vegetation within the application site and 
the rear gardens of the neighbouring properties.  

The dwelling is closer to properties on Altcar Road and windows to the rear elevation 
would look directly towards the rear of no.27 Altcar Road.  As constructed, the upper floor 
windows are distanced in excess of 14m and 30m from the rear boundary and rear 
windows of the neighbouring property, respectively.  The ground floor windows are 
distanced between 10.5m and 11.5m from the rear boundary and a minimum of 27m from 
the rear windows of the neighbouring property.  It is acknowledged that the rear windows 
are in an elevated position due to the variation in land levels, which is different from that 
assessed in the original permission.  Nevertheless, it is considered that there is sufficient 
distance between the dwelling and the neighbouring boundary as to not cause an 
unreasonable level of overlooking into the rear garden.  Furthermore, it is recognised that 
an extensive portion of the rear garden is screened from both ground and first floor by the 
neighbour’s outbuilding.

Page 102

Agenda Item 5b



There are differences in land levels between the application site and the rear garden area 
of no.27 Altcar.  Whilst the level differences vary between the application site and 
properties on Flaxfield Road, this is less obvious as the ground gradually falls into the rear 
gardens of these properties.  There are differing views between the applicant and the 
neighbours in relation to the raising of land around the building and the extent to which the 
land has been raised.  The original permission did not propose any raising of land, but 
having investigated the matter it is evident is that there has been some raising of land, 
particularly to the rear of the site adjacent to no.27 Altcar Road.  Observations from the 
neighbouring property and from within the site show that overlooking does occur into the 
neighbouring garden of no.27 Altcar and into the neighbouring garden of no.5 Flaxfield 
Road.  This would to some extent be further exacerbated through final landscaping, laying 
of paving stones and decking, etc, which would increase the levels further.  To overcome 
this, the applicant has agreed to install a 2m fence from within the site, adjacent to the 
boundary with the two affected neighbours, these being No’s 27 Altcar and No.5 Flaxfield 
Road.  This would be an acceptable approach and whilst the new fence would extend 
above the existing boundary fences, would not raise any further concerns having regard to 
the garden lengths and presence of similar boundary treatments (in design terms) in the 
area.  Residents have suggested that any new fencing within the site should be located on 
all boundaries, however, this is not considered reasonable as the harm from overlooking is 
not the same along all boundaries.  A condition is recommended to ensure the specific 
details are agreed with the local planning authority. 

The outbuilding, once completed, would incorporate patio doors in the south facing 
elevation.  This would look directly towards the existing boundary fence of no.5 Flaxfield 
and would not present any overlooking concerns.

Impact on Visual Amenity – Design and Appearance

The dwelling is similar in scale and design to that proposed under the previous approval.  
In this instance, the building is a detached property, incorporating a dual pitch roof with two 
small dormer windows located to the front slope, and a single story outrigger to the rear.  
There are a number of changes to the design of the dwelling as identified above in the 
planning history. 

Unitary Development Plan policy CS3 states that development would not be permitted if it 
would cause significant harm to amenity or the character or appearance of the surrounding 
area and Unitary Development Plan policy DQ1 states that development will not be 
permitted unless the proposal responds positively to the character and form of its 
surroundings.  Emerging Local Plan policy EQ2 (which carries significant weight) states 
that development will only be permitted where the proposal responds positively to the 
character, local distinctiveness and form of its surroundings.  

Page 103

Agenda Item 5b



Paragraph 60 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that planning decisions 
should not attempt to impose architectural styles or particular tastes and they should not 
stifle innovation, originality or initiative through unsubstantiated requirements to conform to 
certain development forms or styles but it is proper to seek to promote or reinforce local 
distinctiveness.

The detached design of the dwelling differs from the semi-detached houses immediately 
adjacent to the application site.  The difference is further expressed by the introduction of 
small dormer windows to the front and an increase in ridge height, particularly with 
properties on Chapelhouse Walk.  However, a mix of house types, designs and scales do 
exist in the wider area (including detached properties), as do dormer windows, whilst the 
building is constructed of traditional materials found elsewhere in the surrounding locality.

The dwelling is noticeable from Chapelhouse Walk, however, it does not particularly 
contribute to the overall street scene due to its back land position.  Views of the building 
can be obtained through the gaps between existing properties on Flaxfield Road and 
Altcar, but these are limited and do not contribute significantly to the overall street scene.  
Consequently, the visual impact of the house type and scale is to a great extent localised 
to views from the immediate neighbouring properties, the impact of which has been 
addressed above.  

It is accepted that the dwelling differs from neighbouring properties, but it is considered 
that it does not detract from the character and distinctiveness of the wider area and is 
therefore acceptable.  

Outbuildings of various design and scale are evident in the local area, including in the rear 
gardens of a number of neighbouring properties and as such are acceptable in design 
terms. 

Impact on Highway Safety

Once complete the development would provide off road parking provision for a minimum of 
1 car, although it is more likely to be two cars.  Access would be taken from Chapelhouse 
Walk via the existing access that originally served no.5.  

There were no objections to the original proposal on highway safety grounds, and this 
remains the case.  Furthermore, the site is close to good public transport links.  

The development does not presents any highway safety concerns and is therefore 
compliant with policy AD2 of the Unitary Development Plan and EQ3 of the emerging Local 
Plan, which carries significant weight.

Impact of Drainage

A number of objections have been raised relating to the drainage of the site and potential 
risk to flooding.

Page 104

Agenda Item 5b



The NPPF (para.103) seeks to prevent the increase in flood risk and only accept 
developments in areas at risk of flooding where the relevant tests (sequential and 
exception) have been addressed.  This is reflected in policy EP8 of the UDP and EQ8 of 
the emerging local plan.

The application site is not recognised as being at risk of flooding.  It is accepted that the 
development could increase the amount of surface water run-off in and around the site and 
as such appropriate drainage is required.  This was recognised in the original permission 
which attached a condition seeking details of surface water drainage.  

In this instance, surface water has been directed to a combined sewer, as approved by 
United Utilities.  This is not the preferred option, however, it is understood from the 
Councils Building Control Manager that due to a high water table in the area the use of a 
soak away is not practicable, whilst there is no watercourse or surface water sewer to 
connect into.  

In this regard, it is considered the method of drainage is acceptable and would not give rise 
to flooding concerns.  As the works have been completed, there is no need to attach a 
condition.
 
Impact on an Existing Tree and Landscaping

Objections have been received regarding the proximity of the development to an existing 
tree located within the rear garden of no.9 Flaxfield Road, but adjacent to the boundary 
with the application site.  The positioning/identification of the tree on the plans has also 
disputed, with residents maintaining the view that the tree has never been correctly plotted 
on the plans and that previous reference to the tree being located 5m away from the 
dwelling has been misleading.

The proximity of the tree to the dwelling is apparent when viewed on site.  The tree does 
not lie within a designated Conservation Area, whilst  the Planning Department’s Tree 
Officer does not consider the tree to be worthy of protecting by a Tree Preservation Order, 
having regard to its intrinsic value and general health and condition (it was witnessed by 
the Tree Officer prior to the development commencing that the tree exhibited indicators 
relating to infection by Phytophthora Bleeding Canker and at some point has had some 
previous limb removal,  but it is unknown as to when and by whom).

It is recognised that the development is within what would be defined as the root protection 
area (RPA) of the tree.  It is however feasible to construct within the RPA of a tree 
providing suitable duty of care is exercised.  It is understood that a a Building Control 
Officer inspected the foundation trenches  and advised that no tree roots were present or 
observed within the foundation trench adjacent to the tree. Therefore it is reasonable to 
conclude that the foundation construction has not caused harm or damage to the tree’s 
rooting area immediately within the building plot.  Any grievance against an action by the 
applicant during the construction process is therefore a civil matter. 

Page 105

Agenda Item 5b



Under the Unitary Development Plan, Policy DQ3 requires the planting of three trees per 
residential unit.  This was reflected in the original permission, which proposed the planting 
of a number of trees in the rear garden area of the development.  However, since the 
granting of the original permission, the emerging Local Plan has advanced, and the weight 
to be attached to the equivalent policy, in this instance policy EQ9, has significantly 
increased.   In essence, the requirements of policy EQ9 have superseded those required 
under UDP policy DQ3.  Consequently, there would no longer be a requirement to plant 
three new trees.

The application does include a mix of hard and soft landscaping consisting of a mix of 
grass, gravel, concrete flagstones and timber decking, which have yet to be implemented 
on site.  In addition, a number of young trees have already been planted along the 
boundary shared with no.5 Flaxfield Road.  Concern has been raised regarding the use of 
existing flagstones (which have been positioned on their side) adjacent to the boundary 
with no.6 Chapelhouse Walk to form a retaining wall.  However, it is understood that the 
flagstones would be removed and used as part of the hard landscaping.  Overall, the 
landscaping scheme is considered to be acceptable.  

Other Matters

As recognised above, the development has been the subject of an extensive enforcement 
investigation.  Whilst it is recognised that the development has not been built in 
accordance with the previous approved plans, the current application has been submitted 
to seek to regularise the development that has been built.  This is a common approach that 
an applicant/developer will seek to take in response to enforcement investigations, and 
breaches of planning legislation.  Although the applicant has chosen to continue to work on 
the property, all unauthorised works have been done at the applicant’s risk.

It is acknowledged there are differing views regarding the land ownership and legal 
boundaries.  The applicant has provided a number of documents, including land registry 
plans, to support the application and the relevant ownership certificate has been signed.  
Any further dispute regarding land ownership and legal boundaries is a civil matter, dealt 
with under separate legislation, and therefore not a material consideration.  

It has also been suggested that the boundaries have been misrepresented on the drawings 
in order to justify the development.  In this instance, it is accepted that the drawings on the 
previous application failed to provide a true reflection of the boundaries as erected on site.   
Nevertheless, the location of the boundary treatment does not affect the understanding of 
the impacts of the development and whether it can be constructed on the site.  It has been 
proven that the development is in breach of the original planning permission and the 
current application seeks to regularise the development as built.  An assessment, 
therefore, has to be made as to whether the development as built is acceptable or not. 

The need for a development of this scale and the impact on property/land values are not 
material considerations.

Page 106

Agenda Item 5b



The applicant, during the course of the application, had suggested the raising of existing 
boundary fences but has since removed reference to the raising of the existing boundary 
fences.  The raising of the existing boundary fence therefore does not form part of this 
planning application.

Conclusions

This application has been submitted following an extensive enforcement investigation into 
the erection of a single dwelling, associated outbuilding and the raising of land levels, and 
seeks to retain the development as built.  Despite the difference in opinions on a number of 
factors between the applicant and neighbours, this does not prevent a decision being 
made as to the acceptability of the development as built, having regard to all material 
considerations.

In this instance, the dwelling is located within a primarily residential area where residential 
development is acceptable in principle and which was already established by the original 
permission.  It is recognised that the development does cause some harm to the living 
conditions of neighbouring properties but this harm is not significant and can be made 
acceptable via planning conditions.  The development does differ in design and scale from 
other neighbouring properties, however, it is considered acceptable in this instance and not 
too dissimilar to the original permission.   The development is acceptable on highway 
safety grounds and is acceptable in all other respects.  Consequently it is recommended 
that on balance planning permission be approved.

Recommendation – Approve with Conditions  

Conditions 

This application has been recommended for approval subject to the following conditions 
and associated reasons:

1) The development hereby granted shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
following details and plans :-  Proposed Block Plan received 13.02.17; Proposed 
Front, Right Side, Left Side and Rear Elevations received 01.11.16; Proposed 
Ground, First and Loftspace Floor Plans Received 13.02.17; Additional Information 
Sheet received 07.03.17.   

Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory development.

2) The first floor window in the west facing elevation shall not be glazed otherwise than 
with obscured glass and top hung; and thereafter be permanently retained as such.

Reason:  To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of adjoining properties. 

Page 107

Agenda Item 5b



3) Within 1 months of the date of this permission, details of a new boundary fence to be 
located within the application site and along the rear boundary of no's 25 and 27 
Altcar, and the rear boundary of no. 5 Flaxfield Road shall be submitted to the local 
planning authority.  The agreed fence shall be erected in accordance with the agreed 
details and to the satisfaction of the local planning authority, prior to occupation of the 
development.  

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of adjoining properties.

4) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any subsequent Order or statutory provision revoking 
or re-enacting the provisions of that Order), no garages, outbuildings, windows, 
dormer windows or other extensions to a dwelling shall be erected unless expressly 
authorised.

Reason: In order to protect residential amenities of nearby occupants.

Informative

1) The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of 
addresses. Contact the Highways Development Control Team on Tel: 0151 934 4175 
to apply for a new street name/property number.

Page 108

Agenda Item 5b



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 29th March 2017

Subject: DC/2016/01922
Brooklands Farm Brewery Lane, Melling L31 1EZ
 

Proposal: Erection of 11 detached two storey dwellinghouses after demolition of 
existing buildings

Applicant: Mr Grayson
PMGP Ltd

Agent: Mr David Bailey
NJSR Chartered Architects 
LLP

Ward: Molyneux Ward

Summary
This application seeks consent for the erection of eleven detached two-storey dwellings 
following the demolition of existing non-agricultural buildings within designated Green Belt 
accessed off Brewery Lane, Melling.  The main issues to consider are the principle of 
development, the impact on the Green Belt, the impact on the character of the area, the 
impact on a non-designated heritage asset and the impact on highway safety and amenity.  
It is considered that the proposal complies with local and national policy and should be 
granted consent with conditions.           

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions 

Case Officer Mr Neil Mackie

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Telephone 0345 140 0845 (option 4)

Application documents and plans available at:
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=OE7W9FNWM0400

Page 109

Agenda Item 5c

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


Site Location Plan

Page 110

Agenda Item 5c



The Site
          
A site comprising a mixture of former agricultural buildings with long-standing lawful non-
agricultural uses.  The site is fully hard surfaced with centralised buildings and provides 
two vehicle accesses onto Brewery Lane, Melling within designated Green Belt.

To the rear of the site lies open farmland, with open farmland leading to the M57 motorway 
to the front.  Adjoining the site is an agricultural worker's dwelling (with a suburban 
character arising from the front boundary wall treatment) and to the south along Brewery 
Lane, leading into Spencer's Lane, is a number of residential properties.
 
History
       
Extensive history to the site relating to longstanding agricultural and non-agricultural uses.  
Of most relevance is a recently issued consent for the continuation of use of buildings for 
DIY livery and riding school and as a base for a grounds’ maintenance business 
(DC/2016/01279).  The granting of this consent results in the entirety of the site subject to 
this application being considered as previously developed land as defined within the 
National Planning Policy Framework.
    
Consultations
Highways Development Design
No objections in principle, subject to various conditions including the provision of a new 
footway across the site frontage.    

United Utilities - External Planning Liaison
No objection subject to conditions being attached to any approval in respect of the disposal 
of surface and foul water. 

Flooding and Drainage
No objection subject to the submission of a drainage scheme.

Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service
Make a number of comments regarding loss of hedgerow habitat, nesting birds, 
construction management, archaeology and waste.  However, consider that such matters 
can be dealt with by way of planning condition. 

Following receipt of further information relating to bats, Meas have advised that reasonable 
avoidance measures be applied during the demolition of the buildings.   

Environmental Health
No objection to the proposal.

Page 111

Agenda Item 5c



Flooding and Drainage
Recommend drainage conditions.

Building Control
No apparent contravention of building regulations. 

Merseyside Police Architectural Liaison Officer
No objection. 

Community Fire Protection Department
No objection. 

Neighbour Representations
        
Objections from 'Town Meadow Cottage' Brewery Lane, Numbers 11, 15, 19, 49 and 52 
Brewery Lane, Number 26 Rock Lane, Numbers 152, 156, 158,  162, 172, 178, 184, 186 
and 190 Spencers Lane (all Melling) and Number 21 Sandown Park Road, Number 6 
Lancing Drive (both Aintree Village).

Melling Parish Council has also objected to the proposal.

Points of objection raised by respondents are:

Principle of Development

Opposition to further development within the Green Belt with objectors stating that "rural 
Melling" has already borne the brunt of new housing projects within the emerging Local 
Plan and that this will result in further erosion of the Green Belt. Concern that this will set a 
precedent for development to the surrounding fields and that this development is 
inappropriate against Green Belt policies.

Concern as to the loss of prime agricultural resources through this development.

Objectors have also stated that "this is the only open land available to the residents of 
Aintree within walking distance" and have raised concerns that the "public rights of way 
across these fields will be lost"..

Opposed to the development as the properties will not be affordable to most people.

The development will result in pressures to replace the equestrian development/uses 
elsewhere within the open countryside.

Page 112

Agenda Item 5c



Flooding and Drainage

Statements made that Brewery Lane and farmland around the proposed development and 
neighbours have lain underwater at times due to saturation of the ground.  Highlighted the 
extent of hardstanding at present contributing to standing water but concern that the extent 
of development proposed would not necessarily improve these matters.  The introduction 
of a pumping station on Spencers Lane has helped but stated this only barely copes at 
present.

Stated that this development is on a flood plain, but it is shown as being in Flood Zone 1 
on Environment Agency mapping where flooding from rivers and the sea is very unlikely (a 
less than 0.1 per cent chance of flooding occurring each year).

Ecology

The proposal will have a detrimental impact upon an established bat colony within the area

Access and Accessibility

Brewery Lane is narrow, twisty and has poor visibility with vehicles often travelling at high 
speed and the existing access to the site is largely obscured and difficult to exit, with 
workmen often holding up traffic to allow vehicles to enter/leave the site to the detriment of 
commuter traffic. Examples of recent vehicle accidents cited by objectors. This proposal 
will escalate traffic and access problems.

Proposal is reliant upon private cars for transport.  Public footpaths must not be negatively 
affected and existing access to neighbouring fields and properties must be retained.

Character of the Area

The design and density of the buildings are inappropriate for this Green Belt Location and 
are out of character with the immediate area, having the appearance of a mini-housing 
estate.

Living Conditions

During construction the removal of rubbish and supply of materials would pass in front of 
neighbouring properties, using public highways, causing noise nuisance and creation of 
excessive dust.

Non-Designated Heritage Asset

Historic buildings within the site should be retained and accommodated within an 'attractive 
housing scheme with further single storey dwellings also in terrace form and traditionally 
detailed'.

Page 113

Agenda Item 5c



Services and Utilities

Lack of utilities within the area to support this development.  Infrastructure struggling to 
cope at present, which would be worsened by further development citing pressures on 
schools and medical facilities.
   
Policy Context
The application site is situated in an area designated as Green Belt on the Council’s 
Adopted Unitary Development Plan.

The policies in the emerging Local Plan (June 2016) were subject to discussion at the 
recent Local Plan Examination and where appropriate have been given weight in coming to 
a recommendation on this application.

Those policies to which there was no objection or to which no modifications have been 
proposed may be regarded to carry significant weight. They will be referred to where 
appropriate in the assessment of this proposal.

Assessment of the Proposal
    
The main issues to consider in respect of this proposal are the principle of development 
including whether the development represents appropriate development in the Green Belt, 
the impact on the character of the area and the impact on highway safety and amenity.  
Consideration as to the loss of an employment site within the Borough will also be 
considered.

Principle of Development

When assessed against Unitary Development Plan policy GBC2 this proposal would not be 
considered acceptable in principle. This policy does not allow the development of 
previously developed sites within the Green Belt outside of those sites included within 
policies GBC3, GBC4 & GBC5 (which included The Powerhouse site in Formby and 
Ashworth Hospital in Maghull for example).

However, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), introduced in March 2012, 
does allow for the redevelopment of previously developed sites outside of defined sites 
within any Unitary Development Plan or emerging Local Plan, as set out within paragraph 
89.

It states that "a local planning authority should regard the construction of new buildings as 
inappropriate in Green Belt”. Exceptions to this include:

Page 114

Agenda Item 5c



“Limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 
sites (brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary 
buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green 
Belt and the purpose of including land within it than the existing development"

This updates criterion 1(d) of policy GBC2 by allowing the limited infilling or the partial or 
complete redevelopment of previously developed sites, and not just limiting this to major 
sites identified within a Local Plan. Policy MN7 (section 2) of the emerging Local Plan 
notes that the construction of new buildings is generally regarded as inappropriate 
development in Green Belt, subject to the exceptions set out in national policy.

The exception quoted above is applicable and relevant to this application.

Annex 2 of the NPPF defines "previously developed land" as "land which is or was 
occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the developed land (although 
it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any 
associated fixed surface infrastructure”. This excludes, amongst other things, land that is 
or has been occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings.

It is evident from the history to this site and the lawful uses that have been granted that it 
constitutes previously developed land within the Green Belt and therefore the proposal 
would not represent inappropriate development if it would not have a greater impact on the 
Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than the existing development.

Of the twelve core planning principles set out within paragraph 17 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework that underpin both plan-making and decision-taking, the third principle 
states that planning should "proactively drive and support sustainable economic 
development to deliver the homes … that the country needs" and the eighth principle 
states that planning should "encourage the effective use of land by reusing land that has 
been previously developed (brownfield land), provided that it is not of high environmental 
value."  It is considered that subject to matters relating to the Green Belt that the principle 
of redevelopment of this brownfield site for housing is supported within the NPPF.

Finally, in respect of requirements of paragraph 55 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework which states that "local planning authorities should avoid new isolated homes 
in the countryside".  By virtue of the adjacent residential development, along with 
residential and commercial development to Brewery Lane, Rock Lane and Tithebarn Lane, 
it is not considered that this is an isolated location and therefore paragraph 55 is not 
relevant to this proposal.

Page 115

Agenda Item 5c



Impact on Green Belt

Openness of the Green Belt
An essential characteristic of green Belts is their openness (NPPF, para 79). “The 
fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their 
permanence."

Openness is often considered to mean the absence of buildings or development and it is 
quite clear that this site does not contribute positively to the openness given the extent of 
buildings and hardstanding throughout the site.  

From figures provided by the applicant it is evident that the overall volume of development 
to this site will decrease if the indicative layout was to be implemented. The area of built 
form and hardstanding will also reduce given the introduction of grassed garden areas and 
other areas of soft landscaping.  

Residential use to this site will give rise to taller development than the existing buildings 
and so may be more visible from Brewery Lane but the distance between buildings will be 
an improvement over the continual expanse of built form to this site, helped by steeper roof 
pitches to the proposed properties providing gaps between properties, thereby providing a 
greater degree of openness.

In considering the indicative layout and heights of the proposed dwellings, the position 
away from boundaries and the spacing between properties is considered to represent an 
improvement to the openness of the Green Belt.

Purposes of the Green Belt

The National Planning Policy Framework, in paragraph 80, sets out the five purposes 
served by the Green Belt which are:

- to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
- to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
- to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
- to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
- to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 

urban land.

The third and fifth purposes are relevant to this proposal.

Page 116

Agenda Item 5c



In respect of safeguarding the countryside from encroachment, this site has housed 
permanent development for a considerable period of time in agricultural and subsequent 
lawful non-agricultural uses and has not contributed to the wider open agricultural lands to 
the north and north east.  This proposal will not give rise to a form or extent of 
development not seen within the immediate or wider areas - given the presence of 
residential properties along Brewery Lane, Rock Lane and Tithebarn Lane within the 
vicinity.  It is considered that this site will not result in encroachment into the countryside 
particularly as the amended proposal reduces the extent of development.

With regards to the fifth purpose, the reuse of a vacant brownfield site to provide for eleven 
dwellings accords with this as the Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year 
housing land supply and this application would make a positive contribution to urban 
regeneration in this respect.

It is therefore evident that the proposal which is the subject of this application does not 
contravene the purposes served by Green Belt as set out within Paragraph 80 of the 
NPPF.

Conclusions in respect of impact on the Green Belt

This proposal satisfies para 89 of the NPPF in that it comprises redevelopment of 
brownfield land.  It also meets para 79 as it is considered that the development will 
increase the openness of the Green Belt.  Finally, it is consistent with para 80 in that it 
does not have a greater impact on the purposes of including land within the Green Belt 
than existing development.

In light of this, it is concluded that this proposal would be appropriate development within 
the Green Belt, and is consistent with Policy MN7 of the emerging Local Plan and the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Loss of Employment Land

In respect of the site providing local employment opportunities, Unitary Development Plan 
policy EDT18 states that "proposals for non-employment uses which involve the loss of 
land and/or buildings which are either currently used for or were last used for industrial 
business, office or other employment uses will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that the proposal.

a) would not result in the loss of employment of buildings of a type for which there 
are insufficient alternatives available locally; or

b) would fully compensate for the permanent loss of the site for employment 
generating uses; or

c) would replace an employment use that is seriously detrimental to local amenity 
and the local environment."

Page 117

Agenda Item 5c



The protection of all employment land regardless of the designation of the land has not 
been carried forward into the emerging Local Plan.  The most applicable emerging Local 
Plan policy in this instance would be policy ED3 'Existing Employment Areas', which seeks 
to retain employment uses (those falling within the office and light industrial, general 
industrial and storage and distribution classes) within designated employment areas.  
There is therefore an inherent conflict between the aims and objectives of UDP policy 
EDT18 and emerging Local Plan policy ED3.  This emerging policy has been subject to 
examination and found no objections from the Inspector and is therefore considered to be 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework.  Given the significant weight 
to be attached to this policy it is considered that this application must be assessed against 
policy ED3 rather than EDT18.

Given that this proposal is not within an existing employment area (Local Plan designation) 
or a primarily industrial area (Unitary Development Plan designation) the loss of 
employment land does not have to be justified.

Character of the Area

The provision of development fronting the highway is evident to surrounding highways, 
particularly seen at Brewery Lane towards the junction with Spencers Lane.  Development 
projecting to the rear of sites is evident to this location and neighbouring areas, albeit often 
limited to large scale commercial and agricultural uses.  While residential development 
behind frontage properties is not readily evident to the immediate area, dwellings set back 
from the highway are characteristic of the immediate environs, most notably to the 
adjoining property to the south.

The repositioning and/or planting of a new hedgerow to the front of the site will ensure that 
this aspect of local distinctiveness is retained and enhanced.  As originally submitted the 
proposal sought the full removal of the hedgerow to the frontage, which would have had a 
significant detrimental impact upon the character of the area.  The accesses and access 
road will result in gaps to hedgerow but this is seen to neighbouring properties and to the 
existing site as it is and the breaks in the hedgerow will not be an alien or negative feature.

The scale of development to the front of the site echoes that seen elsewhere along 
Brewery Lane, while the scale of the properties behind the frontage echo the grander 
proportions of neighbouring properties, particularly individually sited properties such as that 
to the south.

The materials to be used to the properties draw from those seen to Brewery Lane and 
surrounding highways and in this regard the proposal is acceptable.

Concerns have been raised as to the suburban appearance of this development but the 
scale and appearance of the dwellings are appropriate to this location.

Page 118

Agenda Item 5c



Overall, it is considered the design of the scheme would be compliant with policy DQ1 of 
the Unitary Development Plan, EQ2 of the emerging local plan and the NPPF, in particular 
section 7.

Living Conditions

Policy H10 of the Unitary Development Plan permits residential development outside of 
Primarily Residential Areas provided, amongst other things, the development would result 
in an acceptable residential environment.  This is mirrored in policy HC3 of the emerging 
local plan.  

Policy DQ1 of the Unitary Development Plan seeks to protect the amenity of those within 
and adjacent to site, a principle brought forward in policy EQ2 of the emerging local plan.

One of the core principles of the NPPF is to seek a good standard of amenity for all 
existing and future occupants of land and buildings.

Future occupiers

Sufficient outlook is provided to all habitable rooms for each of the properties and the 
garden sizes exceed the minimum size of 60m2 as set out in Supplementary Planning 
Document 'New Housing'.  The separation of the frontage properties, positioned to the 
southwest, from those set within the site will ensure that rear gardens are not 
overshadowed to an unreasonable degree.

Abutting the site to the northwest is a building and land used for equestrian purposes 
where the riding school was not permitted to open outside of 09:00 - 23:00 as per planning 
approval 94/0756/S and limited to the use as a riding school and livery facility only and not 
to be used for the staging of gymkhanas, horse shows or other events to which the general 
public would be admitted (Condition 6 of that approval).  

The building abutting the site is, as per planning approval DC/2015/00579, to be used as 
an indoor horse riding school and stables, while a ménage will abut the rear of properties 
along the northeast boundary.  The use of the building, the ménage and the use of fields 
beyond this building will generate noise by operational activities comprising the movement 
of vehicles, noise from horses and noise from customers and staff.  This will be apparent to 
any future occupier and is a use that is common to countryside areas, often contributing to 
the character of these areas.  If the noise generated from the site proves to be causing 
harm then this is best addressed as statutory nuisance that may require the operators of 
the equestrian use to adopt ‘best practicable means’ to overcome such harm.

Neighbouring properties

The proposed development would ensure sufficient interface distances are met with 
neighbouring properties as to not physically impact on the living conditions of neighbouring 
residents. 

Page 119

Agenda Item 5c



Furthermore, the development would see the removal of some of the noisier commercial 
activities which exist on the site.  Consequently, it is considered there would be a general 
improvement in the environment to the benefit of existing residents.

Overall, it is considered that the level of amenity for existing and future residents would be 
acceptable.

Access and Accessibility

Unitary Development Plan policy AD2 requires that all developments provide for a realistic 
choice of means of travel through, in part, the provision of safe cycle and walking facilities 
within the site and/or the improvement of routes or facilities which serve the site. It also 
requires the provision of safe and adequate access and circulation within the site and in its 
connections to the public highway. UDP policy DQ1 requires development to ensure safe 
and easy movement into, out of and within the site for everyone, including those with 
limited mobility.  Such requirements are carried through into emerging Local Plan policies 
EQ2 and EQ3.

Paragraph 17 of the National Planning Policy Framework sets out twelve core planning 
principles to underpin decision-taking and in regards to matters of access and accessibility 
point 11 is of direct relevance as it states that planning should actively manage patterns of 
growth to make the fullest possible use of public transport, walking and cycling, and focus 
significant development in locations which are or can be made sustainable".

Access

Amended plans have been submitted to address concerns that the Council's highway 
engineers had with regards to the safe access into and out of the site and the properties 
fronting Brewery Lane.  The provision of two vehicle accesses off Brewery Lane along with 
the central access road as shown on submitted drawing 201 Rev 1 'Site Plan' is now 
considered to be acceptable, aided by the setting back off hedgerows behind the line of the 
visibility splay.  It is considered that the proposal is acceptable in this regard.

Accessibility

The application site is located in a rural setting and it is accepted there would be a greater 
dependency on private motor vehicles.  That said, the nearest bus stop is approximately a 
10 minute walk away from the application site on Spencer’s Lane, which provides local bus 
services to nearby train stations, including Old Road and Aintree, as well as direct routes 
to the Liverpool City Centre.   

The site is well served by public footpaths and whilst there are no designated cycle paths 
in the immediate area, the site is close to the Leeds and Liverpool Canal.

Page 120

Agenda Item 5c



It is acknowledged that the definitive Public Right of Way, known as Melling Footpath no.8, 
runs along the south east perimeter of the development site.  The existing width of the 
footpath is in places in excess of 8m and in order to accommodate the proposed 
development it will be necessary to reduce the width to approximately 5m.  Whilst the 
Highways Manager has no objections to this, an extinguishment order would be required to 
enable the reduction in width of the footpath, this can be relayed to the applicant by way of 
an informative. 

Non-designated Heritage Asset – Barns and Stable

Paragraph 135 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that "the effect of an 
application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into 
account in determining the application.  In weighing applications that affect directly or 
indirectly non designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having 
regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset."

A point of objection made against this proposal is the effect it will have on a non-
designated heritage asset namely a barn and stables to the site, with an objector making 
reference to the presence of a building on historic Ordnance Survey mapping.

The Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service has stated:

"The brick-built barn at Brooklands Farm is a non-designated heritage asset, recorded on 
the Merseyside HER, MME 14127, thought to date to the late 18th or mid-19th century (it is 
shown on the 1st Edition Ordnance Survey 1:10560 of 1850).

The period 1750-1880 has been recognised as the most important period of farm building 
development in England (Historic Farmsteads: Preliminary Character Statement - North 
West region, English Heritage 2006, p. 6), and the Council for British Archaeology's 'An 
Archaeological Research Framework for North West England: Volume 2, Research 
Agenda and Strategy' (Brennand, 2007) has indicated that farm buildings are "an important 
historical research resource" (p. 140), that "there is an urgent need for all local authorities 
to ensure that farm buildings undergoing adaptation are at least considered for recording" 
so that "a regional database of farm buildings can be derived and variations across the 
region examined." 

With regards to historic mapping, it is clear that the extent and arrangement of buildings to 
this location - including those cited within the objection - has varied over the years as they 
are extended, partly demolished or otherwise modified.  On site the alterations are more 
apparent and while containing some good details, such details are seen within the 
immediate and wider area with buildings in more prominent locations than these buildings, 
which are screened to a significant degree from public vantage points.  The screening of 
the buildings from wider public view limits its contribution to the character of the area, 
perhaps lessening its importance and resulting significance but it may also be said that that 
this has also reduced the awareness of the public of this building and of its architectural or 
historic character and value.

Page 121

Agenda Item 5c



This application has not provided any justification for the loss of this building, but it is 
apparent that it could not be supported or reused within the layout as proposed.  Providing 
such a layout would not be sufficient to support the loss of this building but a prior 
notification application for the demolition of the building could be submitted at any time and 
subject to detailed considerations relating to the method of demolition and any proposed 
restoration of the site the Council could consider that either prior approval was not required 
or that prior approval was required and granted, permitting the demolition of this building.

In view of the above, MEAS have recommended that a programme of archaeological 
building recording is undertaken for the buildings, and that this is secured by a condition 
attached to any approval.

Notwithstanding the above, the loss of the non-designated heritage asset will be given 
weight within the balance of any decision made.

Ecology

The Council’s ecological consultants, Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service, have 
had regard to the information provided, including the addition of further ecological 
information.  In this regard they have raised no objection to the proposal, but recommend 
that various planning conditions be attached to any permission.  This includes the need to 
ensure reasonable avoidance measures are introduced in the demolition of the buildings to 
ensure the protection of bats; a requirement for the installation of bird boxes, replacement 
planting be introduced; and protection over the removal of trees.  The latter point is 
covered under separate legislation, but the other recommended conditions are considered 
reasonable.

Public Greenspace and Development

Emerging Local Plan policy EQ9 states that "appropriate high quality new public open 
space of at least 40 square metres per new-build home must be provided for the following 
developments:

-  proposals for 150 or more new-build homes
- proposals for 11-149 new-build homes on sites which are more than 2 kilometres 

from a main park or Countryside Recreation Area

This new public open space must be provided within the site unless it can be demonstrated 
that enhancement of off-site open space is more appropriate, in terms of:

- the type and density of housing development and site size, or
- proximity to existing main, neighbourhood and community parks, or
- other site-specific factors"

Page 122

Agenda Item 5c



It is evident that this site is more than 2 kilometres from a main park or Countryside 
Recreation Area and as such is required to provide for new public open space on site, 
unless demonstrated otherwise.  The applicant has not demonstrated whether the 
provision of open space on site would be deliverable or not but it is apparent from the 
proposed site layout that the provision of an area of 440m2 on site would have a material 
impact upon the total number of properties that could be provided.  The provision of open 
space would likely reduce the number of properties proposed to a figure below the 11 
threshold and consequently the provision of open space would not be required.

So as to address this policy requirement in a way that is of direct relevance and benefit to 
future occupiers of the properties, as well as being of wider public benefit, it is considered 
reasonable and appropriate to seek a commuted sum of  £22,275 (£2,025 per dwelling) for 
enhancing access from the site to the Melling No. 8 footpath, which links to the canal 
towpath, improving the Melling No. 8 footpath that runs adjacent to the site and providing 
signage from the site and at appropriate points along the footpath to indicate the direction 
of the canal.  This commuted sum will be secured by a legal agreement.

The applicant has agreed to the provision of the commuted sum and has requested that 
the legal agreement be secured by a condition attached to any approval.

Conclusions

It is acknowledged that the proposal does not comply with the Unitary Development Plan 
with regards to green belt policy.  However, it fully complies with all other aims and 
objectives of the Unitary Development Plan, in addition to those set out in the emerging 
Local Plan and all other material considerations including the National Planning Policy 
Framework with regards to the principle of residential development in this Green Belt 
location, the impact on the Green Belt, the impact on the character of the area, the living 
conditions of future occupiers and neighbouring properties, matters of access and 
accessibility, ecology and the provision of open space.

The proposal will result in the total loss of a non-designated heritage asset i.e. the barn 
and stables. However, the provision of 11 houses would make a modest contribution to the 
housing supply within the Borough and the removal of commercial operations will take 
away the harm which has been caused to the living conditions of neighbouring residential 
properties. Overall it is considered that these benefits outweigh the harm of losing the barn 
and stables. 

It is therefore recommended that the proposal be approved subject to conditions.
      

Page 123

Agenda Item 5c



Recommendation - Approve with Conditions 
Conditions    

This application has been recommended for approval subject to the following conditions 
and associated reasons:

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason:  To comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

2) The development permitted by this planning permission shall not be started by the 
undertaking of a material operation as defined in Section 56(4) (a-e) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 until a Planning Obligation under Section 106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 has been made and lodged with the Local Planning 
Authority and the Local Planning Authority has given its approval in writing.  The 
planning obligation will provide that a commuted sum payment as required by 
emerging Local Plan policy EQ9 will be paid to the Local Planning Authority for 
enhancing access from the site to the Melling No. 8 footpath, which links to the canal 
towpath, improving the Melling No. 8 footpath that runs adjacent to the site and 
providing signage from the site and at appropriate points along the footpath to 
indicate the direction of the canal.

Reason:  To ensure that the development provides appropriate open space 
enhancements and complies with Policy EQ9 of the emerging Local Plan.

3) Prior to commencement of development other than the demolition of existing 
buildings a preliminary investigation must be prepared in accordance with best 
practice and current guidance. The report must include:

 - Desk study
 - Site reconnaissance
 - Data assessment and reporting
 - Formulation of initial conceptual model
 - Preliminary risk assessment

If the Preliminary Risk Assessment identifies there are potentially unacceptable risks 
a detailed scope of works for an intrusive investigation, including details of the risk 
assessment methodologies, must be prepared by a competent person (as defined in 
the DCLG National Planning Policy Framework, March 2012). The contents of the 
scheme and scope of works are subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority.

Page 124

Agenda Item 5c



This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policies CS3 & EP3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

4) Prior to commencement of development other than the demolition of existing 
buildings the approved scope of works for the investigation and assessment must be 
undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be 
produced. The report should include an appraisal of remedial options and 
identification of the most appropriate remediation option(s) for each relevant pollutant 
linkage. The report is subject to the written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policies CS3 & EP3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

5) Prior to commencement of development other than the demolition of existing 
buildings a detailed remediation strategy to bring the site to a condition suitable for 
the intended use by removing unacceptable risks and the relevant pollutant linkages 
identified in the approved investigation and risk assessment, must be prepared and is 
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.

a) The strategy must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works, site management procedures 
and roles and responsibilities. The strategy must ensure that the site will not qualify 
as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 on 
completion of the development and commencement of its use.

b) In the event that the proposed remediation scheme involves the provision of a 
ground cover system a plan indicating the existing and proposed external ground 
levels on the application site shall be submitted for approval to the Local Planning 
Authority.

c) The development shall proceed in accordance with the external ground levels 
approved under (b) unless the Local Planning Authority gives its prior written approval 
to any variation.

Page 125

Agenda Item 5c



Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policies CS3 & EP3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

6) a) The approved remediation strategy must be carried out in accordance with its 
terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required to carry 
out remediation and other than the demolition of existing buildings.

b) Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation 
strategy, a verification report that demonstrates compliance with the agreed 
remediation objectives and criteria must be produced, and is subject to the approval 
in writing of the Local Planning Authority, prior to the first occupation of any of the 
dwellings hereby approved.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policies CS3 & EP3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

7) a) In the event that previously unidentified contamination is found at any time when 
carrying out the approved development immediate contact must be made with the 
Local Planning Authority and works must cease in that area. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation 
scheme must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. 

b) Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation 
strategy, verification of the works must be included in the verification report required 
by Condition 6

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policies CS3 & EP3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

8) Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 

Reason: To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution.

Page 126

Agenda Item 5c



9) Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water drainage scheme, 
based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice 
Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory 
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any 
subsequent replacement national standards and unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public 
sewerage system either directly or indirectly. 

 
The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason:  To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution.  This condition is imposed in light of policies 
within the NPPF and NPPG.  

10)  Prior to occupation of the development a sustainable drainage management and 
maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to the local 
planning authority and agreed in writing.  The sustainable drainage management and 
maintenance plan shall include as a minimum: 

a. Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory undertaker, 
or, management and maintenance by a resident's management company; and

b. Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of the 
sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface water 
drainage scheme throughout its lifetime. 

The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved plan.

Reason: To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the sustainable 
drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and pollution during the 
lifetime of the development.

11)  Before the development other than demolition of existing buildings is commenced, a 
landscaping scheme covering the land subject of this application shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, including:

i) Existing and proposed levels or contours
ii) Proposed and existing services above and below ground
iii) Details of boundary treatments and hard surfaces
iv) The location, size and species of all trees to be planted
v) The location, size, species and density of all shrub and ground cover planting
vi) A schedule of implementation.

Page 127

Agenda Item 5c



Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to comply with policies CS3, DQ1 and 
DQ3 of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

12)  a) The hard and soft landscaping scheme hereby approved shall be carried out prior 
to the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a timetable to 
be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

b) Any trees or plants that within a period of five years after planting, are removed, 
die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or 
defective shall be replaced with others of a species, size and number as originally 
approved in the first available planting season unless the Local Planning Authority 
gives its written consent to any variation.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to comply with policy DQ3 of the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

13)  a) Before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto site, a 1 metre 
high fence or other barrier as agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, shall 
be erected around the outer limit of the crown spread of all trees, hedges or 
woodlands shown to be retained on the approved plan.  

b) The barrier/fencing approved under (a) above shall be maintained in a satisfactory 
manner until the development is completed. During the period of construction, no 
material shall be stored, fires started or trenches dug within these enclosed areas 
without the prior consent in writing of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent damage to the trees/ hedges in the interests of visual amenity 
and to comply with policy DQ3 of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

14)  No part of the development shall be brought into use until the existing vehicular 
accesses on to Brewery Lane have been permanently closed off and the footway 
reinstated (outside of the extent of any new vehicular access).

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and AD2 
in the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

15)  No part of the development shall be brought into use until means of vehicular access 
to the development has been constructed.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and DQ1 
of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

16)  (a) Before any development commences other than the demolition of existing 
buildings, a detailed landscaping schemes shall be submitted for approval to the 
Local Planning Authority showing the siting, species, size, timetable for 

Page 128

Agenda Item 5c



implementation and maintenance of a new hedge to replace the existing hedge that 
will be lost to provide the visibility splay for the new access.

(b) The hedge shall be implemented according to the agreed landscaping scheme 
and either prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings or to a timetable for 
implementation, whichever is the earlier, and shall be retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and in order to comply with policy DQ1.

17)  No part of the development shall be brought into use until areas for vehicle parking, 
turning and manoeuvring have been laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and 
drained in accordance with the approved plan and these areas shall be retained 
thereafter for that specific use.

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and DQ1 
in the Sefton Unitary Development Plan 2006

18)  No part of the development shall be brought into use until visibility splays of 2 metres 
by 120 metres at the proposed junction with Brewery Lane have been provided clear 
of obstruction to visibility at or above a height of 1 metres above the carriageway level 
of Brewery Lane. Once created, these visibility splays shall be maintained clear of 
any obstruction and retained for their intended purpose at all times.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and DQ1 
of the in the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

19)  No part of the development shall be brought into use until visibility splays of 2.0 
metres x 2.0 metres measured down each side of the access and the back edge of 
the footway have been provided clear of obstruction to visibility at or above a height 
of 1 metres above the footway level of Brewery Lane.  

Once created, these visibility splays shall be maintained clear of any obstruction and 
retained for their intended purpose at all times.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and DQ1 
of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

20)  A detailed scheme of highway improvement works for the provision of the following 
works together with a programme for the completion of the works has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

- Closing off of the existing redundant accesses
- the reinstatement/reconstruction of the footway on the north-east side of Brewery 

Lane across the entire frontage of the site together with the provision of a new 

Page 129

Agenda Item 5c



footway crossings to the three houses with direct vehicular access off Brewery 
Lane

- the formation of a junction with the new access road incorporating flush kerbs and 
tactile paving either side of the junction with Brewery Lane

No part of the development shall be brought into use until the required highway 
improvement works have been constructed in accordance with the approved details 
approved.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3, DQ1 and 
AD2 of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan. 

21)  The development hereby granted shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
following details and plans :-

200 Rev.1; 201 Rev.1; 202. Rev1; 203 Rev.2; 204 Rev.1; 205 Rev.1; 207 Rev.2; 210 
Rev.1; 211; 212; 15_5837_10_03 Rev.1.       

Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory development.

22)  No development shall take place within the area indicated until the applicant has 
secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological building recording in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the 
applicant and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The work shall be 
carried out strictly in accordance with the approved scheme

Reason: The application site contains a non-designated heritage asset and the local 
authority wish to ensure that the building is recorded in line with guidance set out in 
paragraph 141, Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework and Managing 
Significance in Decision Taking in the Historic Environment, Historic Environment 
Good Practice Advice in Planning: 2 (Historic England, 2015).

23)  The demolition of the existing building shall be carried out in accordance with the 
reasonable avoidance measures (RAMs) as set out in paragraph 4.4 of the Ecological 
Assessment report (V.A. Sherrington, December 2015).

Reason: To safeguard conservation of species/ habitats and to comply with policy 
NC2 in the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

24)  Prior to occupation, details of bird nesting boxes (number, type, location on an 
appropriately scaled plan along with a timetable for implementation), shall be 
submitted and approved by the local planning authority.  The boxes shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Page 130

Agenda Item 5c



Reason: Reason: To safeguard conservation of species/ habitats and to comply with 
policy NC2 in the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

25) Prior to occupation, the first floor windows on the side elevation of house type 4 
(identified on drawing number 210 Rev.1 as side elevation 1 and annotated as being 
obscure glazed windows) shall be fitted with obscure glazing and top hung, and shall 
be retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In the interest of residential amenity.

   
Informatives

 1) Contamination  
Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than 
that required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not 
commence until Conditions 3 to 7 above have been complied with. If unexpected 
contamination is found after development has begun, development must be halted on 
that part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified 
by the Local Planning Authority in writing, until Condition 7 has been complied with in 
relation to that contamination.  Contaminated land planning conditions must be 
implemented and completed in the order shown on the decision notice above.

 2)  Addresses
The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of 
addresses. Contact the Highways Development Control Team on Tel: 0151 934 4175 
to apply for new property numbers.

 3)  Highway works
The applicant is advised that all works to the adopted highway must be carried out by 
a Council approved contractor at the applicant's expense.  Please contact the 
Highways Section on 0151 934 4175 for further information.

 4) Public right of way
 The applicant is advised of the requirement for a "stopping up order" for the partial 

width of the public right of way. For further information please contact the Highways 
Development Control team on 0151 934 4175.

 5)  Bats
The applicant, its advisers and contractors should be made aware that if any bats are 
found, then as a legal requirement, work must cease and advice must be sought from 
a licensed specialist.

 6) Bird breeding boxes
The applicant is advised that house sparrow terrace type boxes should be included 
amongst the bird breeding boxes that are proposed for erection upon the site.

Page 131

Agenda Item 5c



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 29th March 2017

Subject: Land at George Drive/ Elizabeth Avenue, Southport
 

Proposal: Erection of 10 dwellings and eight self-contained apartments with 
associated car parking and landscaping.

Applicant: Ms Louise Davies
The Sovini Group

Agent: Mr David Smith
John McCall Architects

Summary
This is a full application to construct 18 dwellings (originally 21 dwellings).   

The main issues to consider include the principle of the development, the loss of trees and 
effect on wildlife, the effect on the living conditions of both existing and future residents, the 
design and appearance of the dwellings, the need for new homes, and highways matters.

It is concluded that the loss of trees will be a significant loss both in terms of the landscape 
terms and to the enjoyment of those living nearby but the proposal satisfies all other policies 
and will provide much needed housing.  The arguments are very finely balanced, but it is 
recommended that the fact that a housing scheme is set to go ahead with committed funding 
tips the balance in favour of granting permission.  
          
Recommendation: Approve with Conditions 

Case Officer Steve Matthews

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Telephone 0345 140 0845 (option 4)

Application documents and plans available at:
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=OE9O62NWM0T00

Page 133

Agenda Item 5d

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


Site Location Plan

Page 134

Agenda Item 5d



The Site
The 0.56 hectare application site is a strip of land along the Sefton/ West Lancashire 
boundary, adjacent to George Drive and Elizabeth Avenue.

The eastern boundary of the site is also the borough boundary and is marked by Sandy Brook. 

The southern part of the site comprises a dense stand of mainly self-seeded trees. 

     
History
       
None
    

Consultations
The scheme has been revised in the light of comments from consultees.

A revised scheme was publicised on 13th March and the closing date for comments is 24th 
March. Any further comments will be included in a ‘Late representations’ report. 

Canal & River Trust – no objections. 
 
Fire and Rescue Service – no objections.

Environmental Health – no objections.

Contaminated Land team leader – no objections.

Environment Agency – accept that development can come to within 6 metres of the top of 
Sandy Brook.

Drainage – no objection subject to condition.

United Utilities – no objection subject to conditions. 

West Lancashire Borough Council - raises no objections to the proposal providing it 
complies with Sefton Council's relevant Local Plan Policies and the relevant parts of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

Police Architectural Liaison Officer – boundaries between properties at the rear should be 
1.8m for the full length. 

Highways Development Design
No objections subject to conditions.
Local Plans team

Page 135

Agenda Item 5d



The site is in a Primarily Residential Area (UDP and emerging Local Plan) and so the proposal 
is acceptable in principle under policy HC3 “Residential development and development in 
Primarily Residential Areas”, subject to it meeting other Local Plan policies including the nature 
policy NH2 “Protection and enhancement of nature sites, priority habitats and species”. Other 
nearby sites on the eastern edge of Southport have been ‘screened in’ under the Habitats 
Regulations as potential supporting habitat for pink-footed geese and whooper swans and thus 
to which policy NH2 applies. Hence it is important to seek the advice of the Merseyside 
Environmental Advisory Service regarding Habitats Regulations Assessment issues or 
mitigation measures for this application site, and in relation to any other ecological issues.

Although bounded on the east by Sandy Brook which is a main river, the site is in Flood Zone 
1 (lowest risk) of river or tidal flooding, and surface water flood risk affects a relatively small 
part of the site. It is considered that the principles of surface water management for this site 
comply with the relevant parts of policy EQ8 Managing flood risk and surface water. However, 
it is noted from the Proposed Site Plan (L03, June 2016) that 10 or so homes would be within 
8 metres of Sandy Brook, together with a greater number of block paving areas, other 
structures and, potentially, landscaping. 

Affordable housing:
The proposal is entirely for affordable housing and so it is considered that it complies with 
policy HC1 “Affordable and special needs housing” and policy HC2 “Housing type, mix and 
choice” where relevant.

Landscaping, open space and trees:
Under policy EQ9 “Provision of public open space, strategic paths and trees in development”, 
replacement trees for those lost during development must be provided on a 1:1 basis. There 
are no requirements for new open space or strategic paths on this site. This site is not 
considered to be open space under policy NH5 “Protection of open space”. It is considered 
that the structural planting within the development complies with the principles of part 4 of 
policy DQ2 “Design” which relate to urban edge sites, and are compatible with the urban edge 
elsewhere in this part of Birkdale.

Tree Officer
The woodland area is a significant feature at this location along George Drive. 
 
It affords an important green link between residential area to north side of George Drive and 
rural / agricultural landscape beyond to the south.
 
The woodland unit makes up half of the proposed development site. The loss of such an area 
of wood would be significant and of detriment to the visual amenities of the area.
 
The first amended layout scheme (drwg L03D) brings housing (plots 9 – 20) forward, removing 
earlier hammer head access drive. However tree / wooded retention behind the development 
would result in potential severe overshadowing and shade to the backs of those properties – 
would likely result in substantial future pressure to allow further tree loss so people could have 
light.

Page 136

Agenda Item 5d



 
The tree retention on the revised layout plan is indicative as it does not accord with 
arboricultural survey plan.
 
The Tree Officer does not support the current proposal. He considers it is contrary to emerging 
Local Plan policy EQ9 – “Trees and Landscaping”. Section 6a states that development 
proposals must not result in unacceptable loss of, or damage to, existing trees or woodlands or 
significant landscaping during or as a result of development.
 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
As evidence of water vole has been recorded, plans must be amended to show a layout to 
include a ‘no development’ buffer within 5m of the brook bank.

Lancashire Wildlife Trust
The Extended Phase One Habitat Survey makes a number of recommendations for further 
surveys (relating to bats, water voles and breeding birds) and it is important that such surveys 
are carried out, their findings agreed by the local planning authority, and any mitigation 
measures approved before any development is commenced on the site.

The Extended Phase One Habitat Survey makes no mention of red squirrels. The site is within 
the designated North Merseyside and West Lancashire Red Squirrel Stronghold and red 
squirrels are regularly sighted in the vicinity, for example throughout Ainsdale, at Hillside Golf 
Course and even Birkdale High School. The Trust notes from the application that there are 
plans for the replanting of trees to compensate for those to be removed as part of the 
proposed development. It is important that any replanting is with tree species beneficial to red 
squirrels and that species that favour grey squirrels are avoided.

Neighbour Representations
22 letters of objection have been received from residents on George Drive, Sandbrook Road, 
Mary Avenue & Elm Park Drive.

A petition signed by 423 people has been submitted opposing the loss of the woodland to 
development.

Councillor Lynne Thompson has called the application in and requested the site by visited by 
Planning Committee.

The grounds of objection include:

Loss of trees
 “Kitts Wood” well loved by local people
 mature woodland site
 contravenes the Council’s greenspace strategy and its commitment to protecting small 

areas of greenspace

Page 137

Agenda Item 5d



Impact on wildlife and on nature 
 hedgehogs, owls & many other birds, foxes, bats, water voles in Sandy Brook, evidence 

of natterjack toad
 loss of native species such as bluebells and other wild flowers

Loss of safe area for children to play
 this is the only play area local children have to enjoy
 safe space for generations of local children to play, discover and learn in
 safe place for children to explore and learn to take risks

Type of development
 too dense and inappropriate layout
 out of character with the area
 inadequate and inappropriate landscaping

Narrow road, parked cars 
 the road is narrow and is easily congested – this would add to the problem

Loss of sunlight & outlook, and overshadowing
 houses are too close – loss of privacy
 loss of outlook
 will deprive existing houses of sunlight

Noise and disturbance during construction
 there will be noise, dust, pollution, fumes and vibration during construction which would 

be unacceptable
 piling will be required and this will cause major disruption especially for a number of 

people who work shifts and sleep during the day 
 road is too narrow to accommodate major construction vehicles
 lots of hardcore would have to be brought in meaning many large vehicle movements
 damage will be caused to existing services e.g. drains

Stability of land and flooding 
 removal of the trees and the construction of development would affect stability of the 

bank
 large amount of sand brought in to this area decades ago and construction could affect 

stability of this
 concern over possible flooding as area already prone to flooding

Page 138

Agenda Item 5d



Other
 this is already a very neglected area by the Council, and this seems to be yet one more 

example of that
 some dispute over ownership of land – do Sovini actually own it?
 concern over state of neighbouring houses built in concrete and their ability to withstand 

vibrations from construction of the new dwellings 
 concern measurements are not right in terms of how far away houses are from the 

existing 
 a local resident has used part of the land for 29 years for chopping and storing logs and 

a trailer and is claiming ownership of this part of the land 
 loss of value of existing properties
 who will new residents be?

Additional comments following consultation on revised plans:
Two further letters raising the following additional issues:

 small rear gardens would lead to children playing in street causing noise and 
disturbance to existing residents 

 lack of school places for children in new development  
 this site should not be classed as a ‘windfall’ site thereby allowing development
 there is a restrictive covenant which prevents building on this land.

Policy Context
The application site is situated in an area designated as Primarily Residential Area on the 
Council’s Adopted Unitary Development Plan.

The policies in the emerging Local Plan (June 2016) were subject to discussion at the recent 
Local Plan Examination and where appropriate have been given weight in coming to a 
recommendation on this application.

The policies may be regarded to carry significant weight. They will be referred to where 
appropriate in the assessment of this proposal.

Assessment of the Proposal
Amendments to the original scheme
The original proposal was for 21 dwellings.  An amended scheme was submitted for 20 
dwellings.  This revised the layout to remove the hammer head, and allowed the retention of 
the rear part of the copse of trees.

 A further amended scheme has been submitted for 18 dwellings – eight houses, two 
bungalows and eight apartments. 

Page 139

Agenda Item 5d



The reason for the amendment was to provide a 5 metre protection area from the top of the 
Sandy Brook bank for water voles. This has resulted in a couple of housing units being lost, 
rear gardens at the southern end of the scheme being significantly reduced and compensated 
for by extra garden space at the side. It has also meant that some of the dwellings have had to 
be brought forward slightly. 

The 5 metre water vole protection has also reduced the potential to plant trees (in 
compensation for those being lost) on the open area at the north (Elizabeth Avenue) end of the 
site.  

The main issues to consider include the principle of the development, the loss of trees and 
effect on wildlife, the effect on the living conditions of both existing and future residents, the 
design and appearance of the dwellings, the need for new homes and the impact on the 
highway network. 

Principle
The application site is designated as Primarily Residential Area in the adopted Unitary 
Development Plan (UDP) 2006 and in the emerging Local Plan. The principle of development 
on this site is acceptable.  

Loss of trees and effect on wildlife
The trees comprise approximately half of the proposed development site. They form a 
significant feature adjoining the borough boundary and, from the correspondence received 
from those living nearby, they are a much loved feature in this immediate area, providing a 
safe place to play for children for many many years.

The trees are mainly self-seeded and are not protected by a Tree Preservation Order.  
Individually the species are not of great value, but collectively they offer an attractive feature in 
the landscape and provide a significant wildlife habitat.

The revised proposals show that some of the trees are to be retained, at the Sandy Brook side 
of the copse.   

However, the Tree Officer notes that tree / wooded retention behind the development would 
result in potential severe overshadowing and shade to the backs of those properties, and this 
would be likely to result in pressure to allow further tree loss so that future residents could 
enjoy more light to their properties.

The Tree Officer opposes the development and notes that the proposal is contrary to emerging 
Local Plan policy EQ9 – “Trees and Landscaping” – which states that development proposals 
must not result in unacceptable loss of, or damage to, existing trees or woodlands or 
significant landscaping during or as a result of development. This is also reflected in Policy 
DQ3 of the Unitary Development Plan (UDP).

Page 140

Agenda Item 5d



Policy EQ9 of the emerging Plan also states that development proposals must replace any 
trees lost as a result of the development at a ratio of 1:1 within the site. 

It is proposed to plant new trees within the site if the development were to go ahead, but not at 
a ratio of 1:1.  It would also take a long time for these to mature and, even at maturity, they 
would not provide a suitable substitute for what would be lost.   

The requirement to keep open a strip of 5 metres from the top of the bank to Sandy Brook 
reduces the opportunity to plant trees.  In this instance it is considered the ecological benefit of 
protecting the water voles outweighs the requirement to plant replacement trees.

The trees undoubtedly provide a rich ecology, and it is understood that this is much prized by 
local residents. However, according to Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS) – 
the Council’s ecological advisors - adequate provision can be made for protected species. 
Water voles can be protected through a 5 metre safeguarded zone from the top of the Sandy 
Brook bank and MEAS also advise that roosting bats do not need to be considered further in 
relation to these proposals. 

Revised plans show that the scheme has been redesigned to accommodate a clear 5 metre 
strip – outside of any garden area - from the top of the Sandy Brook bank.  

Lancashire Wildlife Trust have requested that any proposed trees be species which favour  red 
squirrels which can be controlled by condition.

Effect on living conditions of occupiers of nearby properties
Effects on existing residents
Many local residents have lived on George Drive and in the immediate area for many years.  
Successive generations have enjoyed the wood both as a safe haven for children to play and 
as a refuge for wildlife.  Residents have also enjoyed the attractive outlook it provides and also 
the wide open views across the fields.

Even though this has been the reason why many people decided to live here, the planning 
system is not designed to protect a view or an attractive outlook.  

The direct distance between the existing properties on George Drive and Plots 3 & 4 of the 
proposed scheme is only 18 metres.  This is closer than the suggested minimum standard of 
21 metres between the windows of habitable rooms as set out in the ‘New Housing’ 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

However the main windows of both living room and bedroom have been designed as splayed 
bay windows so they will not look direct onto the houses opposite and in this way they do meet 
the recommended standards. 

Page 141

Agenda Item 5d



However, a secondary window to the front facing bedrooms of Plots 3 & 4 is 18 metres, and to 
Plots 5 & 6 is 20 metres. Given that these secondary windows are to the front elevation, which 
is overlooked by passers by, these reduced distances are considered to be acceptable. 

Overall it is not anticipated that the development will harm the privacy of existing residents.  

The George Drive properties enjoy a south eastern aspect with morning and afternoon sun so 
it is acknowledged they would lose some sunlight, particularly in the winter months when the 
sun is lower in the sky.  The distance between existing and new properties is sufficient for 
there to be little effect on general light levels. 

Effects on future residents
The distances between adjoining properties are acceptable.  The bedroom sizes have been 
redesigned so that they meet the Council’s minimum requirements.  The revised plans also 
show that while there is very limited rear garden space to some dwellings because of the need 
to provide the 5 metre protected area for water voles, the private outdoor amenity space meets 
or exceeds the minimum standards in all instances. 

Design and appearance of the dwellings 
The scheme has been amended so the layout and house designs complement the 
straightforward layout and simple, unfussy design of houses in the immediate area.  These 
aspects of the scheme are therefore now considered to be acceptable and in accordance with 
Policy DQ1 of the UDP and Policy EQ2 of the emerging Local Plan. 

Affordable housing and need for new homes
There is a significant need for new affordable homes in all parts of the Borough and 
particularly in the Southport area.  This development would provide 18 units of accommodation 
which help address that shortage.  

The Council has a shortfall in meeting its 5 year housing land supply and at December  2015 it 
only had a 3.1 years’ supply.  These units would make a modest contribution towards meeting 
that need. 

This is not just speculative housing.  Funding from the Homes and Communities Agency would 
be immediately available to help fund this scheme if it gets all the necessary approvals.  The 
provision of new homes, and in particular affordable homes, is a major factor in favour of the 
scheme and should be considered in the overall balance.

Highways
The Highways Manager has no objections in principle to the proposed development.  It is 
proposed to provide one parking space for each property, which is acceptable given the 
accessibility of the site to public transport. This complies with Policy AD2 of the UDP, and EQ3 
of the emerging Local Plan.

Page 142

Agenda Item 5d



Other matters
The Environment Agency normally ask for a standard easement of 8 metres without any 
buildings for a brook of this kind.  Here they have accepted a 6 metre easement, but part of 
this can be within the back gardens of properties and this has been achieved. 

Concern has been expressed about stability of the bank, land ownership, loss of property 
values, a restrictive covenant and who the future residents would be. These are not planning 
matters and cannot be taken account of in coming to a view on this application. 

There was an objection to this site being considered to be a ‘windfall site’ which in the view of 
the objector paved the way to this site being considered suitable for development.  ‘Windfall’ is 
not a land use designation and this is not a relevant factor in coming to a recommendation on 
this application. 

Some objected to noise and disturbance during construction.  If development is granted 
permission a certain amount of noise and disturbance is inevitable, but this is not uncommon 
in a residential area. This can be addressed though separate legislation.

Conclusions
The principle of the development is acceptable and detailed aspects such as the design and 
appearance, the impact on the living conditions of both existing and future residents, and on 
ecology and on highway safety, is also considered acceptable. 

The key issues to consider in coming to a decision on this application are the loss of the 
wooded area and the gain of affordable homes.

Despite the scheme having been modified to ensure that part of the wooded area will be 
retained, the majority of the trees will be lost and there may well be pressure for further trees 
to be removed to provide more light to the new properties. The lack of adequate replacement 
planting does not satisfy local planning policy, but there are ecological reasons why this cannot 
be achieved within the site. 

The development will meet local needs for affordable homes and will make a modest 
contribution to the Borough’s shortfall of housing when measured against the Government’s 
target.  

These factors are very finely balanced.  Overall, given the size of the local need for affordable 
homes, it is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to conditions.

Page 143

Agenda Item 5d



Recommendation - Approve with Conditions 
Conditions 

This application has been recommended for approval subject to the following conditions and 
associated reasons:

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Reason:  To comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

2) The development hereby granted shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
following details and plans:-

L03-E, L04-D, L06-C, L07-D, L09-C, L10-C, D5993.001A, D5993.002 and D5993.003A
   

Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory development.

3) Before any construction commences:- 

a) Samples of the facing and roofing materials to be used in the external construction of 
this development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

b) The materials approved under (a) above shall then be used in the construction of the 
development.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in the interests of 
visual amenity and to comply with policy DQ1 of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

4) a) A scheme of works for the proposed vehicular and/or pedestrian access shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

b) No part of the development shall be brought into use until a means of vehicular and/or 
pedestrian access to the site/development has been constructed. These works shall be in 
accordance with the scheme approved under (a) above.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and DQ1 of 
the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

5) a) Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the development 
shall not be commenced until a detailed scheme of highway improvement works for the 
provision of  together with a programme for the completion of the works has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 144

Agenda Item 5d



b)  No part of the development shall be brought into use until the required highway 
improvement works have been constructed in accordance with the details approved 
under (a) above.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3, DQ1 and 
AD2 of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan. 

 6) No part of the development shall be brought into use until space and facilities for cycle 
parking have been provided in accordance with the approved plan and these facilities 
shall be retained thereafter for that specific use.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and AD2 in 
the Sefton Unitary Development Plan 2006 

 7)   Prior to the commencement of any works on site a Construction Method Statement shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved 
Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period and shall provide 
details for construction traffic management and wheel washing facilities.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policies CS3 and AD2 in 
the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

 8)  a) Should any part of the development incorporate piling works or ground compaction, 
details of the works, proposed duration and hours of piling/ ground compaction and 
details of mitigation methods for the suppression of dust shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to work commencing on site. 

b) Piling/ ground compaction works shall then be carried out in accordance with the 
details approved under (a) above.

Reason: To ensure that the amenities of nearby residents are not unduly harmed by 
noise and dust from piling/ ground compaction works and to comply with policies CS3 
and EP6 of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan.

 9)  a) The hard and soft landscaping scheme hereby approved shall be carried out prior to 
the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a timetable to be 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

b) Any trees or plants that within a period of five years after planting, are removed, die or 
become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or defective 
shall be replaced with others of a species, size and number as originally approved in the 
first available planting season unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written 
consent to any variation.

Page 145

Agenda Item 5d



Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to comply with policy DQ3 of the Sefton 
Unitary Development Plan.

10) The landscaping scheme approved under condition 2 shall include native and small seed 
bearing species which encourage red squirrels and discourage grey squirrels.   

Reason: To safeguard conservation of species/habitats.

11)  Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 

Reason: To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution.

12)  Following our review of the submitted Drainage Strategy, we can confirm the proposals 
are acceptable in principle to United Utilities. 

The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in accordance 
with principles set out in the submitted Foul & Surface Water Drainage Design Drawing 
216-245 C-001, Rev P1 - Dated July 2016 which was prepared by AJP. For the 
avoidance of doubt and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, no surface water will be permitted to drain directly or indirectly into the public 
sewer. The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue increase 
in surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding. 

13)  No development shall commence until full details of a scheme for a sustainable drainage 
system to serve the site, and method of implementation including arrangements to 
secure funding and maintenance for the lifetime of the development through an 
appropriate legally binding agreement have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Lead Local Flood Authority. The 
approved scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and 
timetable. Thereafter the sustainable drainage system shall be managed and maintained 
in accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage facilities are provided to serve the site in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Paragraph 103.

 

Page 146

Agenda Item 5d



Informatives

Addresses
 1) The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of addresses. 

Contact the Highways Development Control Team on Tel: 0151 934 4175 to apply for a 
new street name/property number.

Highways Works
 2) The applicant is advised that all works to the adopted highway must be carried out by a 

Council approved contractor at the applicant's expense.  

There will be a requirement for the applicant to enter into a s38 Highways Act 1980 Legal 
Agreement to have the proposed new pedestrian footway on the south east side of 
George Drive and Elizabeth Avenue adopted by the Council. Please contact the 
Highways Development Control Team 0151 934 4175 for further information.

Sustainable Drainage
 3)  Details of a scheme for a sustainable drainage system should include: 

a) Information about the lifetime of the development and design of the sustainable 
drainage system design, including storm periods and intensity (1 in 30 & 1 in 100 year 
+30% allowance for climate change), discharge rates and volumes (both pre and post 
development), methods employed to delay and control surface water discharged from 
the site, and appropriate measures taken to prevent flooding and pollution of the 
receiving groundwater and/or surface waters, including watercourses;

b) development greenfield runoff rate for an existing greenfield site or show how surface 
water run-off would be reduced by at least 30% on previously developed sites;

c) Include details of a site investigation and test results to confirm infiltrations rates; 
d) Include details of how any flood water, including depths, will be safely managed in 

exceedance routes;
e) Secure arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 

undertaker or, management and maintenance by a Residents' Management Company 
through an appropriate legal agreement;

f) Secure arrangements, through an appropriate legal agreement for funding on-going 
maintenance of all elements of the sustainable drainage system including:

i mechanical components; 
ii. on-going inspections relating to performance and asset condition assessments 

and;
iii.  operation costs for regular maintenance, remedial works and irregular 

maintenance caused by less sustainable limited life assets or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the surface water drainage scheme 
throughout its lifetime.

g) Secure means of access for maintenance and easements, where applicable.
h) Include a timetable for implementing the scheme. 
i) The total discharge from the relocated pond must be restricted to the lower of 5l/s/ha 

or the Q100yr for Parcel A.

Page 147

Agenda Item 5d



The applicant must apply for an environmental permit for flood risk activities (Flood 
Defence Consent) before undertaking any works on-site. Failure to do so may result in 
enforcement action being undertaken by the Environment Agency.

The developer should inform the property owners that they will have riparian 
responsibilities including maintenance of the watercourse.

Managing Vegitation
 4) No hedgerow, tree or shrub shall be removed from the site between 1st March and 31st 

August inclusive without the prior submission of a report to the Local Planning Authority 
which sets out the results of a survey to assess the nesting bird activity on the site and 
describes a method of working to protect any nesting bird interest. Any hedgerow, tree or 
shrub removal shall then be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Waste
 5) A waste audit or similar mechanism (e.g. site waste management plan) provides a 

mechanism for managing and monitoring construction, demolition and excavation waste. 
This is a requirement of WLP policy WM8, and may also deliver cost savings and 
efficiencies for the applicant. The following information should be included within the 
waste audit or similar mechanism:

 Details of persons responsible;
 Process for update;
 Forecast waste types (European Waste Codes recommended) and waste arisings 

(tonnages);
 Facilities/carriers and proposed waste management option(s) chosen; 
 Actual waste arisings (tonnages), facilities/carriers and waste management option(s) 

chosen;
 Waste prevention, reduction and recycling actions; and
 Process to ensure contractors/staff are aware of requirements (e.g. toolbox talks).

Guidance and templates are provided at: http://www.meas.org.uk/media/5014/SWMP-
Audit_Checklist_Final.pdf http://www.wrap.org.uk/ and https://www.smartwaste.co.uk/ 

  
Guidance on design and access to accommodate sustainable waste management is 
available for Sefton Council in the following documents: 
 Sefton - Design SPD Part 2

Other useful sources of guidance include: 
 NHBC (2015) - Avoiding Rubbish Design 

http://www.nhbcfoundation.org/Publications/Guide/NF60-Avoiding-rubbish-design 
 Building for Life Partnership (2014) - The Sign of a Good Place to Live: Building for 

Life 12 
http://www.hbf.co.uk/?eID=dam_frontend_push&docID=24115&filename=BfL_REPRI
NT_2014_FINAL.pdf 

Page 148

Agenda Item 5d

http://www.meas.org.uk/media/5014/SWMP-Audit_Checklist_Final.pdf
http://www.meas.org.uk/media/5014/SWMP-Audit_Checklist_Final.pdf
http://www.wrap.org.uk/
https://www.smartwaste.co.uk/
http://www.nhbcfoundation.org/Publications/Guide/NF60-Avoiding-rubbish-design
http://www.hbf.co.uk/?eID=dam_frontend_push&docID=24115&filename=BfL_REPRINT_2014_FINAL.pdf
http://www.hbf.co.uk/?eID=dam_frontend_push&docID=24115&filename=BfL_REPRINT_2014_FINAL.pdf


Page 149

Agenda Item 5d



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 6

1

Committee: PLANNING

Date of Meeting: 29th March 2017

Title of Report: Planning Refusals

Report of: Stuart Barnes
Chief Planning Officer 

Contact Officer: Steve Matthews   Tel: 0345 140 0845 (Option 4)

This report contains Yes No

Confidential information 

Exempt information by virtue of paragraph(s) ……… of Part 1 of Schedule 12A 
to the Local Government Act 1972



Is the decision on this report DELEGATED? 

Purpose of Report

The items listed in this Appendix are recommended for refusal.

Recommendation

That the applications for planning permission, approval or consent set out in 
the following appendices be REFUSED for the reasons stated therein.  

Corporate Objective Monitoring

ImpactCorporate Objective
Positive Neutral Negative

1 Regenerating the Borough through Partnership 
2 Raising the standard of Education & Lifelong Learning 
3 Promoting Safer and More Secure Communities 
4 Creating a Healthier, Cleaner & Greener Environment 

through policies for Sustainable Development 
5 Strengthening Local Democracy through Community 

Participation 
6 Promoting Social Inclusion, Equality of Access and 

Opportunity 
7 Improving the Quality of Council Services 
8 Children and Young People 

Page 151

Agenda Item 6



APPENDIX 6

2

Financial Implications

None

Departments consulted in the preparation of this Report       

See individual items

List of Background Papers relied upon in the preparation of 
this report

The Background Papers for each item are neighbour representations and 
history referred to.  Any additional background papers will be listed in the item. 
Background Papers and Standard Conditions referred to in the items in this 
Appendix are available for public inspection at the Planning Office, Magdalen 
House, Trinity Road, Bootle, up until midday of the Committee Meeting.  

A copy of the standard conditions will be available for inspection at the 
Committee Meeting.

The Sefton Unitary Development Plan (adopted June 2006), the 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Notes and Documents, and the emerging 
Sefton Local Plan are material documents for the purpose of considering 
applications set out in this list.

Page 152

Agenda Item 6



APPENDIX 6

3

Refusals Index

A DC/2016/02463 16 Endbutt Lane
Crosby L23 0TR

Victoria Ward

 

Page 153

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 29th March 2017

Subject: DC/2016/02463
16 Endbutt Lane, Crosby L23 0TR
 

Proposal: Change of use of premises from A1 (sweet shop) to A5 (hot food 
takeaway) including installation of chimney/flue to the rear

Applicant: Mr David Miles Agent: Mr Philip Seddon
Philip Seddon Associates

Ward: Victoria Ward

Summary
The main issues to consider are the principle of the development and the impact on the 
living conditions of neighbouring residential properties. 

It is considered that the proposal would harm the living conditions of the occupiers of the 
nearby residential properties through noise and disturbance from customers visiting the 
premises particularly late in the evenings. It is also concluded that the opening hours do 
not comply with emerging Local Plan policy which requires later opening hours for 
proposed food and drink uses within 400 metres of a secondary school.

For these two reasons it is recommended that the proposal is refused

Recommendation: Refuse 

Case Officer Mrs Carol Gallagher

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Telephone 0345 140 0845 (option 4)

Application documents and plans are available at:
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=OIJGAQNWFGZ00

Page 155

Agenda Item 6a

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


Site Location Plan

Page 156

Agenda Item 6a



The Site
The application site is No 16 Endbutt Lane which is a single storey building within a 
terraced row of a commercial shopping parade.
 

History
16 Endbutt Lane (the application site)
97/0211/S:  Change of use of the premises to a hot food takeaway – Refused 17th April 
1997

97/0363/S:  Change of use of the premises to a hot food takeaway – Refused 13th June 
1997

10 Endbutt Lane
S/2004/0416:  Change of use from a dry cleaners to a fast food outlet.  Refused 3rd June 
2004 & appeal dismissed 30th March 2005.

14 Endbutt Lane
DC/2015/00510:  Variation of Condition 2 attached to planning permission S/2013/0331 
granted 13 May 2013 to extend the opening hours to 12.00 to 23.00 hours Monday to 
Sunday.  Refused 14th July 2015 & appeal dismissed 6th February 2016.

20 Endbutt Lane
93/0381/S:  Change of use of the premises to a hot food takeaway.   Refused 19th July 
1993 & appeal dismissed 21st October 1993.

Consultations
Environmental Health
No objection subject to the need for an odour risk assessment. Evidence is required to 
confirm the proposed odour control performance, further information relating to the 
specification of the components and the system operation, and calculations and 
assumptions relation to the stated 35dBA at 3m are also required.

Policy 
In order to comply with policy EQ10 a condition must be imposed restricting opening hours 
to after 17:00.

Page 157

Agenda Item 6a



Neighbour Representations
Response from employee of a local business that the proposal will take business from 
them.

Policy Context
The application site is situated in an area designated as resudential on the Council’s 
Adopted Unitary Development Plan.

The policies in the emerging Local Plan (June 2016) were subject to discussion at the 
recent Local Plan Examination and where appropriate have been given weight in coming to 
a recommendation on this application.

Those policies to which there was no objection or to which no modifications have been 
proposed may be regarded to carry significant weight. They will be referred to where 
appropriate in the assessment of this proposal.

Assessment of the Proposal
The application site is within a row of 9 units which are all single storey with storage space 
within the roof area. There are commercial properties to the west and on the opposite 
block towards Liverpool Road with residential properties opposite and to the north east of 
the site.

The main issues to consider are the principle of the development and the impact on the 
living conditions of neighbouring residential properties. 

Principle of the development 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) advocates a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development and seeks to support economic growth.  The NPPF also seeks to 
secure a good standard of amenity for all existing occupants of buildings.  

Non-residential development within Primarily Residential Areas
Policy H10 of the adopted Unitary Development Plan (UDP) sets out the Council’s 
approach to development in residential areas. This policy states that non–residential 
development will be permitted in Primary Residential Areas provided it can be 
demonstrated that the proposal: 
(a) will not have an unacceptable impact on residential amenity, and 
(b) is otherwise compatible with the residential character of the area. 

Page 158

Agenda Item 6a



Development that generates noise 
Policy EP6 of the adopted UDP states, among other things, that where development is 
likely to generate significant levels of noise it will only be permitted where the impact of the 
noise will not be significant or can be reduced to an acceptable level.

This requirement is carried through into Policy EQ4 of the emerging Local Plan.

Proposals for food and drink uses in the Primarily Residential Area
Policy MD6 of the adopted UDP notes that proposals for food and drink uses in or adjacent 
to the Primarily Residential Area will not be permitted unless they would not cause 
significant harm to residential amenity. 

Emerging Local Plan – requirements for food and drink uses    
Policy EQ10 of the emerging Local Plan requires food and drink uses (Use Classes A3 – 
A5) to meet various criteria, including that they ‘would not cause significant harm to local 
amenity’. In order to help address the problem of obesity amongst children, section 2 of the 
policy restricts takeaways (Use Class A5) within 400 metres of a secondary school or 
college unless hours are restricted until after 17:00 or the site is within a designated centre. 

The application site lies within this 400 metres’ threshold as there are secondary schools to 
the south (Sacred Heart), the west (Merchant Taylors) and the north of the site (St Mary’s 
College).

This site is not within a designated centre, but within an established local shopping parade 
of mainly retail (Class A1) uses.  At the junction of Endbutt Lane with Liverpool Road there 
is an established wine bar/restaurant and just along Endbutt Lane from the junction there is 
an established hot food takeaway.  The latter operates a voluntary opening time of 16:30 to 
22.30.

The applicant has requested opening times of 16:00 to midnight Monday to Friday, and 
16:00 to 00:30am on Saturdays with no details given for Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

The key issues of principle for the proposed development relate to:
 impact on residential amenity, in particular through noise
 the proposed opening hours given that secondary schools lie within 400 metres.  

The application proposes opening hours to be from 16:00 hours whereas the policy 
recommends these should not be until 17:00 hours in view of the proximity of the 
secondary schools. 

The second issue could be addressed through conditioning any approval to require a later 
opening time.

The most critical issue is noise and the likely impact of this on the occupiers of nearby 
residential properties.   

Impact on the living conditions of the occupiers of neighbouring residential 
properties

Page 159

Agenda Item 6a



Whilst the commercial premises do extend along Endbutt Lane for a short stretch, the 
highway here is much narrower and residential dwellings are close by.  This gives the area 
a much quieter, residential character while the Liverpool Road corridor has a much busier, 
more commercial character.

Customers visiting the existing shops will be likely to generate some degree of noise and 
disturbance during the day, particularly as there is parking on both sides of the highway 
immediately outside the shops. However, the majority of the commercial premises along 
Endbutt Lane do not open late into the evening, with the exception of the wine bar at the 
junction with Liverpool Road and the hot food takeaway very close to this junction, as 
highlighted in the previous section. 

The proposed use of the premises as a hot food takeaway will generate customers many 
of whom will arrive by car and will park on the street outside the premises. The slamming 
of car doors and revving of engines, and the general chatter of customers as they enter 
and leave the premises, will create additional noise and disturbance in the evening. 

This is at a time when the ambient background noise is less and sound travels further as a 
result.  It is also a time when local residents are more likely to be at home either relaxing or 
asleep, particularly those families with young children, and to expect a quieter 
environment.

Recent Appeal Decision
There has been a recent appeal to the Planning Inspectorate against the Council’s refusal 
to allow an extension to the opening hours of the Liverpool Pigeon pub next door at 14 
Endbutt Lane from between 12.00 and 21:00 Mondays to Saturdays and between 12:00 
and 17:00 on Sundays to trade between 12:00 and 23:00 seven days a week.  

The appeal was dismissed in February 2016 (Ref No APP/M4320/W/15/3134300). The 
Inspector recognised similar concerns to those which have been raised to this proposed 
hot food takeaway, in terms of noise and disturbance from comings and goings.  
  
Other matters
A local business has expressed concern that the proposal will take business from them, 
but loss of trade to a rival business is not a material planning consideration.

Conclusions
There are residential properties opposite to and to the north east of the application site.  As 
the proposal is located close to residential properties it is considered that it would harm the 
living conditions of the occupiers through the noise and disturbance created by the 
comings and goings of customers visiting the premises particularly late in the evenings.

The proposed opening hours are earlier than those allowed by Policy EQ10 of the 
emerging Local Plan given that the site lies within 400 metres of three secondary schools.

Page 160

Agenda Item 6a



The proposed development would be contrary to Sefton UDP Policies H10, EP6 and MD6 
and the emerging Local Plan Policies HC3, EQ4 and EQ10 and the provisions of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, and it is therefore recommended that it be refused.

Recommendation - Refuse 
Reasons for Refusal

This application has been recommended for refusal for the following reasons:

1) The provision of an A5 use (hot food takeaway) right next to a residential area would 
generate late evening noise and disturbance and would cause significant harm to the 
living conditions of local residents.  It would therefore be contrary to Policies CS3, 
H10, EP6 and MD6 of the Sefton UDP, and Policies SD2, HC3 of the emerging Local 
Plan, and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework.

2) Policy EQ10 of the emerging Local Plan requires food and drink uses (Classes A3 – 
A5) to restrict their opening times to not earlier than 17:00 hours when they are within 
400 meters of a secondary school.  The application proposal lies within 400 metres of 
three secondary schools and the proposed opening hours of 16:00 are therefore 
contrary to this policy.

Page 161

Agenda Item 6a



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee  

Visiting Panel Schedule 
Date Monday 27th March 2017

Start:  10:00 am at BOOTLE TOWN HALL

Agenda 
Item Time Application Details Ward

4B 10:15
DC/2016/02247

51 Brownmoor Lane, Crosby 
L23 0TD

Victoria Ward

6A 10:30
DC/2016/02463

16 Endbutt Lane, Crosby
L23 0TR

Victoria Ward

4A 10:50
DC/2017/00125

3 Merrilocks Green, Blundellsands
L23 6XR

Blundellsands Ward

5D 11:30

DC/2016/01935
Land Adjacent To 5 And Opposite 10-34

George Drive And 19-22 Elizabeth Avenue, Birkdale 
PR8 3EZ

Ainsdale Ward

5C 12:15
DC/2016/01922

Brooklands Farm Brewery Lane, Melling
L31 1EZ

Molyneux Ward

5A 12:55
DC/2016/02382

Lock Up Garages Opposite 259 And 261 Oriel Drive, Aintree
L10 9PR

Molyneux Ward

4D 13:10
DC/2016/02292

486 Hawthorne Road, Bootle
L20 9PR

Derby Ward

P
age 163

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report to:  Planning Committee Date of Meeting: 29th March 2017 
 
Subject: TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 APPEALS 
 
Report of: Stuart Barnes 
 (Chief Planning Officer) Wards Affected: All 
 
Is this a Key Decision?    No   Is it included in the Forward Plan? 

No 
 
Exempt/Confidential No  
 
 
Purpose/Summary 
To advise Members of the current situation with regard to appeals.  Attached is a list of 
new appeals, enforcement appeals, developments on existing appeals and copies of 
appeal decisions received from the Planning Inspectorate. 
 
 
Recommendation(s) 
 
That the contents of this report be noted for information since the appeal decisions 
contained herein are material to the planning process and should be taken into account 
in future, relevant decisions. 
 
 
 
How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives? 
 

 Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact 

Neutral 
Impact 

Negative 
Impact 

1 Creating a Learning Community    

2 Jobs and Prosperity    

3 Environmental Sustainability    

4 Health and Well-Being    

5 Children and Young People    

6 Creating Safe Communities    

7 Creating Inclusive Communities    

8 Improving the Quality of Council 
Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy 

   

 
  

Page 165

Agenda Item 8



Reasons for the Recommendation: 
 
 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs – N/A 
 
 
(B) Capital Costs – N/A 
 
 
Implications: 
 
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below: 
 
Legal 
 
Human Resources 
 
Equality 
1. No Equality Implication      

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated 

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains  

 
 
Impact on Service Delivery: 
 
None. 
 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD 4575/17) has been consulted, and notes that there 
are no financial implications for the Council as a result of this report 
 
The Head of Regulation and Compliance has been consulted and has no comments to 
make (LD 3858/17) 
 
Are there any other options available for consideration? 
 
No. 
 
  

 
 

 

Page 166

Agenda Item 8



Implementation Date for the Decision 
 
N/A 
 
 
Contact Officer: Debbie Robinson  
Tel:   0345 140 0845 (Option 4) 
Email:  monitoring@sefton.gov.uk 
 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Background documents can be viewed for each application 
at http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 167

Agenda Item 8

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/


Please note that copies of all appeal decisions are available on our website: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/

Contact Officer: Mr Steve Matthews 0345 140 0845 (Option 4)

Email: planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Appeals Received and Decisions Made

Appeals received and decisions made between 17 February 2017 and 12 March 2017

Appeal Decisions

DC/2016/00590 (APP/M4320/W/16/3162579)

St Matthews Parochial Hall Thornton Road Bootle  

Conversion of existing church hall into 13 self contained 

residential flats including external alterations, cycle store and 

bin storage
Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Written Representations

08/12/2016

23/02/2017

Dismissed

Reference:

New Appeals

DC/2016/00621 (APP/M4320/W/16/3154587)

Cafe D' Art 26B Chapel Lane Formby Liverpool L37 4DU 

Removal of Condition 2 of Application Reference Number 

N/2003/1180 restricting opening hours from between 9.00 am 

to 11.30 pm to allow unrestricted operating hours
Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Written Representations

24/02/2017

Reference:

DC/2016/01740 (APP/M4320/W/17/3167849)

Land To The South Of Andrews Lane Formby  

Outline planning application (with details of access) for 

residential development comprising of up to 95 dwellings and 

public open space
Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Public Inquiry

27/02/2017

Reference:

DC/2016/01250 (APP/M4320/Z/16/3164968)

Lidl Bridge Road Litherland Liverpool L21 6PA 

Advertisement consent for the display of  two 48 sheet 

billboards signs at the front and two 48 sheet billboards signs 

at the rear of the premises
Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Written Representations

20/02/2017

Reference:

DC/2016/01839 (APP/M4320/Z/16/3162177)

Wickes 75-91 Ormskirk Road Aintree Liverpool L9 5AE 

Advertisement Consent for 1 free standing pole mounted 

internally illuminated LED 48 sheet sign facing Ormskirk Road

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Householder Appeal

06/03/2017

Reference:

Page 168

Agenda Item 8



Appeals received and decisions made between 17 February 2017 and 12 March 2017

Page 169

Agenda Item 8



  

 

 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 31 January 2017 

by Andrew McGlone  BSc MCD MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 23 February 2017 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/M4320/W/16/3162579 
Parochial Hall, Thornton Road, Bootle, L20 5AE 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Mr Peter McGovern against the decision of Sefton Metropolitan 

Borough Council. 

 The application Ref DC/2016/00590, dated 23 March 2016, was refused by notice dated 

20 June 2016. 

 The development proposed is the conversion of existing church hall into 13 self 

contained residential flats with cycle store and bin storage. 
 

Decision 

1.  The appeal is dismissed.  

Main Issues 

2. The main issues are: (i) whether the future occupants of the proposed flats 
would be likely to experience acceptable living conditions in terms of amenity 
space provision; and (ii) the effect of the proposed parking arrangements on 

highway safety in the local area.  

Preliminary Matters 

3. An Accessibility Assessment (AA), Parking Assessment (PA) and Financial 
Appraisal (FA) were submitted by the appellant at the outset of the 
appeal.  While the Council has raised issue with these and referred me to the 

decision at Gordon Road1, as they do not change the appeal scheme, I have 
taken them into account in reaching my decision.  In the interests of fairness, I 

invited the Council to submit any comments, however none were received.    

4. The Council consider significant weight should be attached to policies in the 
emerging Local Plan for Sefton (Local Plan), but I am unclear if the policies that 

are before me have since been changed or if there are any unresolved 
objections.  Also as, the examining Inspector has not issued their findings, I 

attach the policies in the Local Plan a very limited weight, given their general 
consistency with the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework).  

Reasons 

Living Conditions 

5. The Council’s adopted Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) and Flats 

Supplementary Planning Document 2013 (HMOSPD) explains that “It is 

                                       
1 Appeal Decision Ref: APP/M4320/W/14/3001221 

Page 170

Agenda Item 8



Appeal Decision APP/M4320/W/16/3162579 
 

 
2 

important that some private outdoor space is provided for residents for outdoor 

activities where possible.  The current standard for new flats is 30m² per flat.”  
However I also appreciate that the more recent New Housing Supplementary 

Planning Document 2016 (NHSPD) seeks a provision of 20m2 of garden space 
for each flat.  Thus, at a minimum the proposed flats would need to provide 
260m2 to fully address the NHSPD.    

6. Regardless of the standard sought, the proposal would not provide any amenity 
space for the future occupants.  Instead, it has been put to me that there are 

publically accessible outdoor and indoor recreation facilities a short walk away 
from the site at North Park.  North Park offers a range of facilities which include 
Bootle Leisure Centre2, a children’s playground, playing fields, skateboard park, 

basketball court, community allotments and outdoor exercise equipment.  Due 
to the facilities on offer and their proximity to the site, future residents are 

likely to walk to and use North Park.  This would, to an extent offset the lack of 
on-site amenity space, as it does offer a mix of recreation facilities for the local 
community and there would be knock-on benefits in terms of the on-going 

vitality of Bootle Leisure Centre and North Park.   

7. Despite this, I am not satisfied that North Park would fully address future 

occupants’ needs or provide the same convenience or privacy that a garden or 
amenity space would offer, given that residents may only wish to be outside for 
a short period of time, have a barbeque at home or dry clothes outside, even if 

tumble dryers are installed.  Moreover, as only one of the flats to be rented out 
would be a one bedroom unit, they could well be occupied by families with 

children.  Although there are play facilities at North Park which occupants with 
children would in my view use, I do also consider that an amenity space at 
home in this Primary Residential Area is likely to be an attractive and 

convenient option compared to solely relying upon the facilities at North Park 
which does need to be accessed along the busy Stanley Road.  

8. I appreciate that flatted developments may not always provide areas of 
outdoor amenity space, whether this be communal or private and that over 
time it may not be well used.  Despite this, and even though future occupants 

renting the flats would be mindful of the facilities on offer and not everyone 
wishes to have an outdoor amenity space, the Framework does in one of the 

twelve core planning principles in paragraph 17 seek a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  In this 
respect, the appeal scheme would not, without some form of on-site amenity 

space, fulfil this as future occupants would be reliant upon the facilities and 
public space at North Park which are not private and may not always be 

convenient, attractive or suitable for future occupants to use.  Consequently 
their living conditions would be detrimentally affected.    

9. Even though the nature of terraced dwellings locally means that those 
occupants can only call on a rear yard, despite its size, it is a private amenity 
space which is specifically to be used by the occupants at that property.  While 

some properties may have extended their homes, permitted development 
rights do not enable the whole amenity space to be developed.  Thus, while I 

appreciate the site’s constraints, the proposal would not even reflect this 
relatively small amount of amenity space that is common place locally.    

                                       
2 Facilities include a fitness suite, swimming pool, leisure pool with flume, sports hall, activity studio, sauna and 

steam rooms.  

Page 171

Agenda Item 8



Appeal Decision APP/M4320/W/16/3162579 
 

 
3 

10. I therefore conclude, on this issue that the future occupants of the proposed 

development would experience detrimental living conditions in terms of 
amenity space provision.  The proposal would not accord with saved Policies 

CS3, DQ1 and H10 of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan (UDP), Policies HC3 
and HC4 of the emerging Local Plan, the HMOSPD and NHSPD and paragraph 
17 of the Framework.  Collectively these require, amongst other things, to 

ensure that all development proposals would not cause significant harm to 
future occupants living conditions.  

11. Although the Council refer to saved UDP Policy MD2, this policy is concerned 
with the living conditions of future occupants, in terms of overlooking, noise 
and disturbance.  Thus it is not relevant to the consideration of this issue.  

Highway Safety 

12. The appeal scheme does not propose to provide any off-street car parking 

provision and it would not therefore meet the requirements of saved UDP Policy 
AD2 1(d), even if it refers to maximum parking standards.  Still, it is the 
appellant’s view that the site fulfils the Council’s AA as set out in the Ensuring 

Choice of Travel Supplementary Planning Document (ECTSPD) and that there is 
sufficient on-street parking in the local area to accommodate the 13 vehicles 

that are sought by the Council3 on the basis of one space per flat.  

13. It is suggested by the appellant that the Minimum Accessibility Standard 
Assessment (MASA) submitted shows that the proposal meets or exceeds all of 

the criteria set out in the SPD.  The site is not in Bootle Town Centre, but this 
is a short walk or bus journey away.  Thus, together with the other factors set 

out in the MASA, I consider that the proposal meets the criteria in the SPD.    

14. I have also had regard to the appellant’s PA.  The PA was undertaken at 
different times of the day and on five different days of the week.  Having 

regard to the study area4, I consider, having walked the local area that this is a 
reasonable approach due to the distances involved and the presence of 

footways.  Turning now to the on-street parking on Thornton Road and Hornby 
Road.  This is except for a small section of Hornby Road next to St Matthew’s 
Church, limited to resident permit holders only (zone 405).  Even on the 

section of Hornby Road that is available, like others on Melling Road and 
Stanley Road, it is limited to two out of every three hours between the hours of 

09:00 and 18:00 Monday to Saturday.  The PA supports my own observations 
which indicate that residents in the area are heavily dependent upon on-street 
parking, which is a result of the terraced properties which populate the local 

area which do not offer potential for off-street parking.     

15. The PA indicates that there are a considerable number of spaces available 

across the various roads within the study area throughout the day.  It is typical 
that the demand for on-street parking spaces would increase once residents 

have returned home from work.  However, the PA does not suggest that this 
seems to affect the availability of on-street parking.  While, one single road in 
the study area may not be able to accommodate the 13 spaces at any one 

time, I consider that they could be accommodated across the study area as a 
whole.  I appreciate that this may result in inconvenience to existing residents 

whom may be used to parking outside of their homes.  However there is no 

                                       
3 Ensuring Choice of Travel Supplementary Planning Document, Appendix B 
4 Parking Assessment, Appendix A 

Page 172

Agenda Item 8



Appeal Decision APP/M4320/W/16/3162579 
 

 
4 

need for residents to be able to do so.  Also, I am not certain that the future 

occupants’ of the flats would not be able to secure a resident’s parking permit.   

16. On-street parking near to the site takes place on the sides of local highways.  

Parked vehicles, do not, as far as I could see, even with the areas around local 
highway junctions being protected, prevent the safe movement of vehicles or 
pedestrians.  I am also mindful that the Council has not shown in evidence how 

the proposal would be detrimental to highway safety given the appellant has 
shown that sufficient on-street parking is available locally.  Furthermore I note 

the leisure use of the building could attract a parking requirement of up to 38 
vehicles.  Thus, despite the previous apartment scheme5, I consider that there 
would not be a detrimental effect on highway safety, as future occupants’ 

would be able to park in the on-street resident permit holders only (zone 405) 
areas near to the site.  

17. For these reasons, on this issue, despite the conflict that I have identified with 
saved UDP Policy AD2.1.d, I conclude that the proposed parking arrangements 
would not affect highway safety in the local area and as such outweigh the 

harm that I found.  Thus, the proposal would comply with the remaining parts 
of saved Policy AD2 of the UDP, emerging Local Plan Policy EQ3, the ECTSPD 

and paragraphs 32 and 39 of the Framework.  Mutually, they seek accessible 
development that provides a realistic choice of means of travel for occupants to 
use, whilst having regard to the Council’s parking standards, so that a safe and 

suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people.   

Other Matters 

18. In refusing planning permission, the Council referred to a commuted sum for 
off-site greenspace under saved UDP Policy DQ4.  However, the Council now 
consider it to be no longer a requirement under Policy EQ9 of the Local Plan.  

Also, given the appellant’s subsequent FA I concur with the Council that a 
commuted sum is not necessary in this instance.   

19. The appellant has advanced other points in favour of the appeal scheme, which 
include; the re-use of the whole building which is in a distressed condition, 
preservation of a building that has played an important social, cultural and 

religious role in the community and avoiding the demolition of the building in 
order to bring forward an alternative development proposal.  I recognise that 

these matters do lend positive weight in the appeal scheme’s favour and I also 
note the contribution that the flats would make to the borough’s housing 
supply.  However, these matters together with my findings in relation to 

highway safety do not outweigh my findings in respect of the effect of the 
proposal on the living conditions of the future occupants of the flats.   

Conclusion 

20. For the reasons set out above, I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.  

Andrew McGlone 

INSPECTOR 

                                       
5 Council Application Ref: S/2007/1129 

Page 173

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 8 March, 2017
	4 Applications for Planning Permission - Petitions
	4a Application No. DC/2017/00125 - 3 Merrilocks Green, Blundellsands, L23 6XR
	4b Application No. DC/2016/02247 - 51 Brownmoor Lane, Crosby, L23 OTD
	4c Application No. DC/2016/02292 - 486 Hawthorne Road, Bootle, L20 9PR
	4d Application No. DC/2016/02344 - Elm Farm, Rothwells Lane, Thornton, L23 1TN
	5 Applications for Planning Permission - Approvals
	5a Application No. DC/2016/02382 - Lockup Garages Opposite 259 and 261 Oriel Drive, Aintree
	5b Application No. DC/2016/02152 - Land Adjacent to 5 Chapelhouse Walk, Formby, L37 8BD
	5c Application No. DC/2016/01922 - Brooklands Farm, Brewery Lane, Melling, L31 1EZ
	5d Application No. DC/2016/01935 - Land Adjacent to 5 and Opposite 10-34 George Drive and 19-22 Elizabeth Avenue, Birkdale
	6 Applications for Planning Permission - Refusals
	6a Application No. DC/2016/02463 - 16 Endbutt Lane, Crosby, L23 0TR
	7 Sites Visited by the Visiting Panel
	8 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 - Appeals
	FD 4575 - Appeals Report Front Sheet (3) - l-f
	Appeals report - merged
	appeals report - committee
	DECISION St Matthews Parochial Hall



